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Cautionary statement about forward-looking statements This document contains certain forward-looking statements with
respect to the financial condition, results of operations and business of the Palabora Group.
Examples of forward-looking statements in this integrated annual report include those regarding estimated ore reserves, anticipated production
data, costs, outputs and productive life of assets or similar factors. Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties,
assumptions and other factors set forth in this document that are beyond the Group’s control. For example, future ore reserves will be based in part
on market prices that may vary significantly from current levels. These may materially affect the timing and feasibility of particular developments.
Other factors include the ability to produce and transport products profitably, demand for our products, the effect of foreign currency exchange
rates on market prices and operating costs, and activities by governmental authorities, such as changes in taxation or regulations, and political
uncertainty.
In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, actual results could be materially different from projected future results expressed or implied
by these forward-looking statements which speak only as to the date of this document. Except as required by applicable regulations or by law, the
Group does not undertake any obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information or
future events. The Group cannot guarantee that its forward-looking statements will not differ materially from actual results.
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About this

report

We are pleased to present to stakeholders our integrated annual report for the year ended 31 December 2012.
Our integrated annual report is consistent with the recommendations in the King Code on Corporate Governance
Principles for South Africa (King III). This report covers our financial and operational performance for the year
under review, as well as other non-financial indicators and information which will give our stakeholders a more
comprehensive picture of our business in one document.
A list of abbreviations has been supplied on the inside back cover for ease of reference.
This report is also available at www.palabora.com

Design of the report
The layout and design of this report, is inspired by our
main product we have mined in the Ba-Phalaborwa
area for decades and that’s copper, which has
sustained our business for years and contributed to
socio-economic development of the area.
Scope of the report
This integrated report covers the financial year
1 January 2012 to 31 December 2012 and is released
within three months of the end of the financial year.
Reporting principles
Palabora Mining Company Limited (“Palabora”) is a
company incorporated in the Republic of South Africa
in accordance with the provisions of the Companies
Act and complies with the principles of King III, unless
otherwise stated, the Companies Act and the JSE
Limited Listings Requirements and other legislative
requirements. Palabora subscribes to high ethical

standards and principles of corporate governance.
In addition, the Company also adheres to International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) in compiling its
annual financial statements.
Board assurance
Palabora’s Board of directors acknowledges its
responsibility to ensure the integrity of the integrated
annual report. The Board has accordingly applied
its mind to the integrated annual report and, in its
opinion, the report presents fairly the integrated
performance of the Company and its impacts.
Annual financial statements 2012
The annual financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2012 were approved by the Board of
directors on 14 March 2013. PricewaterhouseCoopers
Inc., independent auditors, have audited the annual
financial statements as disclosed in their unqualified
audit report on page 97.

Vision
– A leader in the mining industry
through our performance

Mission
– To safely and profitably extract
and convert minerals and metal
from the Palabora ore body

Key facts
– Incorporated in the Republic of South
Africa in 1956, located in the Limpopo
Province and listed on the JSE Limited
– The Company extracts and
beneficiates copper, vermiculite
and magnetite
– South Africa’s major producer
of refined copper
– Produces refined copper mainly
for the South African market
– The refinery produces continuous
cast rod for the domestic market
and cathodes for export
– Palabora has a 230 mt magnetite
stockpile which is a joint-product
of the copper process
– Palabora also owns a vermiculite
deposit which is mined and processed
for sale world-wide

1

COMPANY

OVERVIEW
We have identified four
strategic objectives as
key drivers towards the
achievements of our vision.
Objectives
 reate a strong
C
enterprise

Resource for
success

Optimise
operations

Sustainable
long life

n High performance culture

n Develop future leaders

n Be a production benchmark

n Make the right

n Profitable long-term plan

n Attract and retain the best

n Be a third quartile

talent at all levels
n Ensure zero harm

cost producer

strategic choices
n Drive life of mine extension

n Plan and execute the plan
n Improve continuously

projects (Lift II, magnetite)
n Earn the support of
the community
n Preserve the environment

Values
Integrity

Courage

Accountability

Caring

Teamwork

n Be who you say

n Choosing to

n Assume responsibility

n Treat others as

n Working with

you are
n Be honest
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confront fear, risk

for actions, decisions

you would like to

others towards a

and uncertainty

and outcomes

be treated

common goal

PALABORA AT A

3

GLANCE

Palabora Mining Company Limited (“Palabora”) is a major producer of refined copper
and operates an underground block cave mine, smelter and refinery complex. Palabora
is based in Phalaborwa in the Limpopo Province of South Africa and is a member of the
world-wide Rio Tinto Group of companies.

PRODUCT REVENUE
CONTRIBUTION (%)
5

Products

37

The primary product of the Group is copper with magnetite being classified as a jointproduct due to its significant contribution to revenue and operating profit. By-products
include nickel sulphate, anode slimes and sulphuric acid. The Industrial Minerals
division produces and markets vermiculite.
56

Operations

2

The copper operation comprises an underground mine, a concentrator, a copper smelter
with anode casting facilities and an associated acid plant, an electrolytic refinery tank
house, a rod casting plant, a magnetite separation plant and by-product recovery plants.

PRODUCT OPERATING PROFIT
CONTRIBUTION (%)
-4

Magnetite consists of two ore streams, one being the magnetite mined as part of the
copper-bearing ore and the other a historic stockpile accumulated during the open cast
copper period. Magnetite is mostly processed through the magnetite separation plant
to increase the grade to approximately 65 per cent Fe content.
The vermiculite division comprises an open pit mining operation and a recovery plant.
Foreign subsidiaries in the United States of America, the United Kingdom and Singapore
are responsible for the sale and marketing of vermiculite.

-145
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COPPER PRODUCTION PERSPECTIVE
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group

HIGHLIGHTS

for the year ended 31 December 2012

2012

2011

Per cent
change

Financial (R million)
Turnover (pre-hedge)
Net (loss)/profit after tax
EBITDA
Headline (loss)/earnings
Cash and cash equivalents
Total production costs (excluding product purchases)
Net foreign exchange gain
Exploration, development and growth costs

9 741
(97)
413
(82)
1 980
2 460
94
684

9 092
1 464
2 432
1 468
2 210
2 393
341
196

7
(107)
(83)
(106)
(11)
3
(73)
249

More information on our
annual financial statements
from page 89

Production (kt)
Dry ore hoisted
Total ore treated
Copper in concentrate produced
Cathode produced
Magnetite produced
Vermiculite produced

8 626
9 225
49
41
5 280
133

10 743
11 787
69
59
3 429
165

(20)
(22)
(29)
(31)
54
(20)

More information on our
summary of production data
from page 146

24
1
14
9
0.49

24
–
15
9
0.51

–
(100)
7
–
4

641 770
5 441
831 281
612

728 486
5 590
929 506
445

(12)
(3)
(11)
38

2 617
29
14
Level 6

2 259
27
8
Level 8

16
7
75
–

1 124
100
356
2 280

1 002
799
838
2 321

11
(88)
(58)
(2)

16 385
7 250
10 264

14 700
9 550
13 850

(11)
(24)
(26)

Safety
All injuries
Fatalities
Lost time injuries
Medical treatment cases
Average injury frequency rate
Environmental
Energy usage (MWh)
Water usage (Ml)
Carbon emissions (tonnes)
Rehabilitation and closure funding (R million)
Social
Procurement on BBBEE suppliers (R million)
Enterprise development (R million)
Socio-economic development (R million)
BBBEE scorecard
Value-added performance
Total payments to employees (R million)
Dividends paid to shareholders (R million)
Payments to Government (tax and royalties) (R million)
Number of employees (headcount)
Share price performance
High of the year (cents)
Low of the year (cents)
Closing share price (cents)

4

More information on our
safety performance from
pages 46 and 47

More information
on environment from
pages 58 to 68

More information on our
socio-economic contribution
to the community from
pages 59 to 78
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BOARD OF

Directors

independent non-executive directors

Board committee membership

Clifford N Zungu
(57)

Chairman of the Board

Remuneration and Nomination Committee

Moegamat R Abrahams
(44)

Appointed: 11 January 2010

Chairman of the Social, Ethics
and Technical Committee
Board Audit and Risk Committee
(Acting Chairman from 30 June 2012
to 18 December 2012)

Francine A du Plessis
(58)

Appointed: 11 January 2010

Member and Chairperson of the Board Audit
and Risk Committee (Resigned as member and
Chairperson of the committee on 30 June 2012)

Nhlanhla A Hlubi
(39)

Appointed: 1 February 2011

Chairman of the Remuneration
and Nomination Committee
Board Audit and Risk Committee

Appointed: April 2002 as an
independent non-executive
director and March 2009 as
Chairman

skills and experience

Qualifications

Clifford’s career has been in marketing and servicedriven corporations. He has held various positions with
Zurich Insurance SA, BP Southern Africa, CG Smith Sugar,
Engen Petroleum and Avis Rent a Car.

Clifford has a BCom degree (University of Zululand)
and attended the Graduate Advancement Programme
(Wits Business School) in 1982, the Industrial Relations
Development Programme (Stellenbosch School of Business
Leadership) in 1991 and the Advanced Executive Programme
(Unisa School of Business Leadership) in 1997. He is a
member of the Institute of Directors.

Ray is currently General Manager: Wire and Strand for
Scaw Metal Group. He is a mechanical engineer with
experience in operations, design, construction,
asset management and projects within the mining,
petrochemical, utilities and heavy
manufacturing industries.

Ray holds a BSc (MechEng) (University of the Witwatersrand)
and is a registered professional engineer. He also holds
Government Certificates of Competency in Mining and
Factories (Departments of Labour and Mineral Resources,
respectively). He is a member of several professional
organisations including the Institute of Directors of South
Africa, Engineering Council of South Africa, South African
Asset Management Association, Black Management Forum
and the Future Leaders Forum.

Francine has held several positions as director as well as
serving on board committees in many listed and non-listed
companies including SAA (Pty) Ltd, KWV Limited, Sanlam
Limited and Naspers Limited. She was admitted as an
Advocate of the High Court of South Africa (Cape Town)
in 1994 and was a Senior Lecturer at the University
of Stellenbosch, Department of Accounting, Faculty
of Commerce and Department of Commercial Law,
Faculty of Law from 1985 to 1993.

Francine is a qualified Chartered Accountant and holds BCom
(Hons) (Taxation), LLB and BCom (Law) degrees (University
of Stellenbosch). She is a member of the Institute of Directors
and South African Institute of Chartered Accountants.

Nhlanhla is an admitted Attorney with over 10 years’
post-admission experience in financial planning, legal and
regulatory compliance and risk management. He has held
numerous positions in the financial services industry as a
financial consultant and regional legal adviser.

Nhlanhla holds BJuris (University of Zululand) and LLB
(University of Natal) degrees; a Postgraduate Certificate
in Compliance Management (University of Cape Town),
a Postgraduate Diploma in Financial Planning (University
of the Free State), completed a Management Advancement
Programme (Wits Business School) and he is currently
studying for an MBA (Henley Business School). In addition
to this, he is a member of several professional organisations
including the Institute of Directors, Financial Planning
Institute of Southern Africa, Compliance Institute of
South Africa and the Law Society of Northern Province.

Palabora Mining Company Limited
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independent non-executive directors

Board committee membership

Peter K Ward
(60)

Chairman of the Board Audit and Risk
Committee (appointed on 18 December 2012)

Appointed: 18 December 2012

non-executive directors

8

Board committee membership

Craig Kinnell
(49)

Appointed: 4 February 2011

Social, Ethics and Technical Committee

Jean-Sebastien Jacques
(41)

Appointed: 1 December 2011

Remuneration and Nomination Committee

Hendrik J Faul
(50)

Appointed: 2 January 2012

Social, Ethics and Technical Committee

Company overview (continued)

skills and experience

Qualifications

Peter joins the company with extensive experience as a
director. He has held several positions as a director as well
as serving on board committees in many listed and unlisted
companies including, inter alia, Adcorp Holdings Limited,
Aveng Limited, Hollard Holdings (Pty) Ltd and Imperial
Bank Limited.

Peter is a qualified Chartered Accountant and holds
a BCom (Rhodes University), Certificate in Theory of
Accounting (University of the Witwatersrand), Diploma
in Alternate Dispute Resolution (Arbitration Foundation
of Southern Africa) and Executive Development Programme
(Columbia Business School). He is a member of the Institute
of Directors South Africa and the South African Institute
of Chartered Accountants.

skills and experience

Qualifications

Craig is currently employed as a Chief Marketing Officer
within Rio Tinto Copper Group. He joined Rio Tinto in 1985
as a graduate trainee, after successfully completing a degree
in Marketing and Economics. He subsequently completed a
Rio Tinto-sponsored MBA in 1992 and has acquired extensive
international knowledge and experience within minerals
marketing and the commercial mining environment. He has
held several board positions within Rio Tinto in South Africa,
Namibia, China, Singapore, Canada, USA, UK and Germany
and fulfilled a number of senior management positions,
including Managing Director of Rio Tinto Uranium and Senior
Vice President Rio Tinto Iron & Titanium.

Craig holds a degree in Marketing and Economics and a
Masters in Business Administration. He is a member
of the Institute of Directors.

Jean-Sebastien was appointed on 14 February 2013 as
Rio Tinto Copper Group chief executive. He joined Rio Tinto
on October 2011 as Copper president, International
Operations. He will also join the Executive Committee
of Rio Tinto Group. Jean-Sebastien joined Rio Tinto from
Tata Steel Group, where he was group director, Strategy.
There he reported to the chief executive of Tata Steel and
was a member of the company’s Executive Committee.
Prior to that he spent four years as corporate development
and strategy director at steelmaker Corus, and has worked
for aluminium company Pechiney.

Jean-Sebastien holds a Masters of Science with honours
(École Centrale, Paris). He is a member of the Institute
of Directors.

Hendrik is currently Group Head of Mining at
Anglo American and has extensive experience in the
minerals and resources industry, both in surface and
underground mining, processing, logistics and marketing.
He has held several senior positions including Chief
Executive Officer for Anglo Zinc and General Manager
for various mining companies.

Hendrik holds a BEng Mining Engineer qualification
(University of Pretoria). He also holds a South African
Mine Manager’s Certificate for metalliferous mines and is
registered with the South African Council for Project and
Construction Management Professionals as a professional
construction project manager. He is also a member
of the Institute of Directors.

Palabora Mining Company Limited
Integrated annual report 2012
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alternate DIRECTOR

Eric Yan
(39)

Committee membership
Appointed: 1 December 2012
Alternate director for
Jean-Sebastien Jacques

executive DIRECTORS

Committee membership

Anthony W Lennox
(53)

Managing director

Dikeledi L Nakene
(37)

Chief financial officer

10

Social, Ethics and Technical Committee

Appointed: 12 July 2010

Appointed: 18 April 2011

Director who left the Group during 2012

Coen H Louwarts
(40)

Remuneration and Nomination Committee

Appointed as an alternate director
on April 2009 and resigned
from the board with effect
from 12 October 2012.

Standing invitee to the Board Audit and
Risk and the Social, Ethics and
Technical Committees

Company overview (continued)

Skills and experience

Education

Eric is currently Business Development Manager at Rio Tinto
Copper Group. He has extensive experience in defining
corporate and marketing strategies, identifying growth
opportunities, competitive benchmarking and improving
and managing business performance.

Eric holds a Bachelor of Engineering (First Class Hons)
degree (University of Cape Town) and a Masters in Business
Administration (Insead, France).

Skills and experience

Education

Tony is a mining engineer and has been with Rio Tinto
for six years. He headed Rio Tinto Energy’s Kestrel coal
mine in Australia prior to joining Palabora. Tony held
senior management roles within BHP Billiton, including
Corporate Vice President Health Safety & Environmental
and President of the Cannington mining operation.
He has an extensive career in the mining industry.
He is also a non-executive director of Palabora Holdings
Limited, Rio Tinto South Africa Limited and
Palabora Copper (Pty) Ltd.

Tony holds a Bachelor of Engineering (Hons) degree
(University of New South Wales). He also holds both coal
and metalliferous Australian mining managers certificate
of competency.

Dikeledi has a broad experience in finance, management,
internal and external auditing. She has held numerous senior
positions including executive general manager, audit partner,
chief financial officer for the Department of Sport, Arts and
Culture as well as chairperson of the Audit Committee for the
Food and Beverage SETA.

Dikeledi holds a BCom Accounting cum laude degree
(University of the North), BCompt (Hons) degree (University
of South Africa) and a higher diploma in Taxation law
(University of the Witwatersrand). She is also a qualified
Chartered Accountant, Certified Internal Auditor and a
member of the Institute of Directors.

Palabora Mining Company Limited
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executive

management
skills, expertise
and experience

Executive management

Willem J van Rooyen
(56)

Project
director
Appointed:
January 2011
Resigned:
31 December 2012

Nick Fouche
(46)

General
Manager –
Growth
Appointed:
March 2011

Maboko John Mahlaole
(55)

General
Manager –
Human
Resources
Appointed:
September 2010

Johan van Dyk
(53)

General
Manager –
Mining
Appointed:
March 2011

12

qualifications

Willem joined Palabora as
chief operating officer in 2011
and was appointed as Project
Director during 2012. Prior to
joining Palabora, Willem worked
for Rössing Uranium for
a number of years across
the operation.

Willem holds a National
Diploma in Education
(University of Namibia) and
an MBA degree in General
and Strategic Management
(University of Maastricht,
the Netherlands).

Nick joined Palabora from
Rio Tinto where he has
had a range of commercial,
operational and project
development leadership roles
in a number of international
locations. Prior to this role he
was the General Manager of the
Rio Tinto Project Management
office based out of Salt Lake
City, USA. Nick is responsible
for the ongoing study and
development of the Lift II copper
mine extension; magnetite
growth and development,
smelter feasibility studies and
vermiculite expansion studies.

Nick has an MBA (University
of Stellenbosch) and a Masters
in Environmental Science and
Management (University of
KwaZulu-Natal).

Before joining Rio Tinto,
Maboko worked over a period
of 10 years for the De Beers
Family of Companies in senior
HR positions. He was also
assigned to Debswana Diamond
Mining Company in Botswana
where he worked in the area of
Organisational Effectiveness
and led the Group-wide
transformation process.

Maboko holds several
HR qualifications and an
MBA degree (Bond University,
Australia).

Prior to this appointment, Johan
held the position of General
Manager – SHEQ and Auxiliary
services from December
2007. Johan has been with
the Rio Tinto Group for more
than 10 years. Before he joined
Palabora in 1999, he previously
worked for Sasol Coal and was
Group Safety Manager.

Johan holds a Government
Competency Certificate
in Mining.

Executive management

Patrick Boitumelo
(40)

General
Manager –
Processing
Appointed:
November 2011

Kobie Naude
(58)

General
Manager –
Asset
Management
Appointed:
November 2011

Keith Ngoako Mathole
(37)

General
Manager –
Corporate
Affairs
Appointed:
October 2010

Herbert Hanke
(61)

General
Manager –
Marketing,
Sales and
Logistics
Appointed:
November 2008
Deceased:
1 January 2013

Palabora Mining Company Limited
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skills, expertise and
experience

qualifications

Patrick is responsible for the
Concentrator, Magnetite,
Smelter and Refinery operations.
He previously held the position of
Programme Manager – Corporate
Strategy for Debswana Diamond
Mine in Botswana.

Patrick holds a BEng Mineral
Processing Degree (Leeds
University), Master of
Business Leadership Degree
(University of South Africa)
and Balanced Scorecard
Diploma (Palladium Group).

Kobie has more than 20 years of
service with Palabora where he
has worked for a number of years
across the operation. He has held
the position of Engineer Services
Manager where he was responsible
for all utilities, infrastructure,
planning, workshops and E&I
projects on surface. He carries
the legal appointment as the
2.13.1 engineer responsibilities
for the whole mine.

Kobie holds a National
Diploma in Electrical
Engineering (Pretoria
Technikon) and a Government
Certificate of Competency as
Responsible Engineer.

Keith joined Palabora as company
secretary in August 2004, having
previously held the role of
assistant company secretary at
the State Information Technology
Agency from 2002 to 2004. Keith
was senior consultant, Corporate
Actions, at Georgeson Shareholder
Communications from 2000 to
2002 and prior to that held a
position of audit consultant at
Seroto Consulting from 1999 to
2000. He is currently responsible
for Transformation, Communities,
Stakeholder Engagement, Pension
Fund, Communication and
Company Secretarial. He also
serves as principal officer of
The Palabora Pension Fund.

Keith is a Chartered
Secretary and an
Associate of the Institute
of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators
(ACIS) and a Fellow of
the Chartered Institute
of Business Management
(FCIBM). He also served as
a non‑executive director
of ACIS until mid-2012.

The late Herbert was with the
Rio Tinto Group for over 30 years
and with Palabora since November
1999 where he previously held
the manager roles in Smelter,
Refinery, Engineering and
Marketing. He was previously
employed at Rössing Uranium,
where he held the positions of
Senior Manager Mining and Senior
Manager Processing.

Herbert held a BSc (Eng)
Electrical degree (University
of Pretoria). He also held a
MDP diploma (University
of Cape Town Business
School). He was a member
of South African Council
for Professional Engineers
(SACPE) and the South
African Institute of Electrical
Engineers (SAIEE).
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Leadership
statements

We have a great asset, committed people,
supportive host communities and,
above all, a solid business case and a strategy
to drive this business to 2030.

Palabora Mining Company Limited
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REPORT FROM THE

Chairman

The recent global slowdown in the advanced economies of

others, obtaining regulatory approvals from both the South

Europe and North America has negatively impacted many

African and Chinese authorities, and complying with the

economies across the globe, and South Africa has not been

Company’s BBBEE Policy.

spared. Despite this challenging environment, South Africa’s
economy has managed to hold its head above water, supported
by its sound monetary and fiscal policies that are grounded

Shareholders will be apprised of developments in this regard as
we look to the future with confidence.

in a stable institutional framework. According to the National

Looking beyond this change, we remain convinced that Palabora

Treasury’s Medium-Term Expenditure Framework for 2012, the

is well-placed to create and sustain value for all its stakeholders.

country will continue to face a confluence of difficult global

The Board will focus on continued implementation of significant

and domestic challenges over the immediate and latter periods

projects that fall under our 2011 growth strategy programme,

ahead, influenced by the stage of development at which we

designed to move the Company forward for the next 20 years,

find ourselves. Our success on the global market will depend

called the ‘Four Pillars of Growth’. The major elements of the

on how we continuously improve in the areas of technology,

programme include the expansion of magnetite operations to

competitiveness, labour and skills development.

10Mt per annum, driving Lift II, finding sustainable solutions

Coming back home, the recent Marikana tragedy followed by
wildcat strikes and the downgrading of the country’s sovereign

for the smelter and increasing the vermiculite production and
market share.

credit rating have also imposed additional challenges on the

Magnetite shipments have continued to be pleasing during the

South African economy, especially the mining industry.

year under review and discussions with State-owned ports and

Moving forward in this uncertain environment, it can no longer
be business as usual for all of us.

New phase for Palabora

rail company, Transnet, have been positive and fruitful and we
look forward to a strong Magnetite output for 2013.
During 2012, the Rio Tinto Investment Committee and the
Palabora Board of Directors reviewed the pre-feasibility work

The year 2012 will be entrenched in the history of Palabora as

that has been completed on Lift II and endorsed the continuation

the beginning of a new chapter for the Company as Rio Tinto

of critical work to the underground development activities and

and Anglo American, our major shareholders, are in the process

studies that will allow progression to determine approval to full

of finalising their divestment in the business.

feasibility of Lift II.

By the end of the year under review, Rio Tinto and Anglo

Palabora continues to look for mechanisms that will improve the

American had announced that they have entered into a binding

smelter’s contributions, given its age, technology and capacity.

agreement to sell their respective shareholding in Palabora to a

The smelter is more than 40 years old and has presented various

consortium comprising South African and Chinese entities led

operational challenges over the past several years. Investigations

by the Industrial Development Corporation of South Africa (IDC)

are ongoing into how we deal with these operational challenges

and China’s Hebei Iron & Steel Group Co. Ltd. The consortium

and new environmental emissions legislation. The Lift II,

also consists of a privately-owned Chinese trading company

magnetite uplift and smelter investigations have improved the

– General Nice Development Limited, and Tewoo Group Co.

clarity on the pathway to 2030. In association with this clarity,

Limited – a major diversified group wholly-owned by the

Palabora’s management, unions, contractors and all employees

Chinese Government. The Company’s two major shareholders

are the cornerstone that has allowed the Company to deal with

have agreed to sell their combined 74.5 per cent effective

the challenges of the year and have been outstanding in the

interests in Palabora at R110.00 per share, valuing Palabora (on

manner with which they have addressed the challenges.

a 100 per cent basis) at R5.31 billion.

Vermiculite has come under market-share pressure from the

The completion of the above sale is dependent on the fulfilment

South American and other producers and has seen mothballing

of all sale conditions by 30 June 2013. These include, amongst

of mining and the drawing down of inventory to manage this
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execution of our strategy – in pursuit of our commitment to
guide Palabora in focusing on growth options that will positively
impact all our stakeholders, including our employees and the
broader Ba-Phalaborwa region in which the mine operates.

Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment
(BBBEE)
Palabora continues to make significant progress towards the
implementation of the BBBEE Transaction. We look forward
to being in a position to enact our BBBEE Transaction upon
fulfilment of all the suspensive conditions in the near future.
Substantial progress has been made in executing seven of
the eight converted mining rights through a joint-and-align
approach, with our unions. The implementation of this
transaction will greatly assist Palabora in achieving its stated
objectives of transformation.
In 2012, Palabora injected R43 million in Enterprise and SocioEconomic Development projects to benefit the indigenous
situation. Going forward, we will re-establish our market
position through intense, agile and a customer-focused
marketing strategy.

communities around Ba-Phalaborwa. Our strategic intention
is to support local economic development in order to reduce
the economic dependence of Ba-Phalaborwa communities
on mining. It is our mission to create and support alternative

The Board and the executive management team, under the

industries in order to boost and enhance the local economic

leadership of the Managing Director, Tony Lennox, will foster

activity base.

an environment that is conducive and supportive of change.
The Board will continue to drive the strategy for the business
and work closely with management in ensuring the successful

Through the 30TEN+5 phase II programme, the additional
15 (on top of the 45 selected in 2011) local entrepreneurs will
receive the necessary training, operational and/or financial
support to their existing enterprises. This will accelerate these
enterprises and assist them to grow and benefit from the
investment. The beneficiaries of the programme come from

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Rm)

the local communities of Makhushane, Mashishimale, Selwane,
Maseke and Majeje plus the townships of Namakgale, Lulekane
and the town of Phalaborwa.

2 500

1 395

1 500
1 000

1 641

2 000

Palabora embraces sustainable development as a formula to
1 980

2 210

Sustainability
create business value that integrates evolving financial, social
and environmental needs and expectations. Sustainability forms
the cornerstone of our values and is part of the architecture of
our business.

500

747

We have an extensive alien plant eradication programme which
has been implemented for over 20 years, and the maintenance
programme is effective in keeping the spread of alien plants
in check. The need for sustainable control of invasive alien
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2012

2011

2010

2009

2008

0

plants is a legislative requirement, with multiple benefits for
sustainability beyond environmental protection. The control

Leadership statements (continued)

of invasive alien plants provides a unique opportunity for

it remains focused on the risks most relevant to delivering on

enabling employment and business development opportunities

our business strategy. We have come a long way, but still have a

to previously disadvantaged communities.

long journey ahead of us.

Corporate Governance

Acknowledgement

In line with the principles of the King III Report, Palabora

I would like to thank all our loyal stakeholders for their support

endeavours to maintain its position as an upstanding corporate

and confidence in the Company, particularly as we continue

citizen through sound ethical values, transparency, fairness, and

to position the organisation for the future. Without the efforts

accountability of the Board.

and dedication of each and every employee of Palabora,

During the year under review, we reviewed and updated
our Business Risk Strategy, which was later cascaded to
the risk structures and a detailed business risk register for the
organisation was finalised.

the continuing success and growth of the Company could
not be achieved and it is therefore with deep gratitude and
appreciation that I thank all our workers, including contractors.
Our employees have demonstrated continued belief in our
strategy and have shown commitment to, and pride in, their

A project risk register was also put in place for our magnetite
operations. Twenty-three top risks have been identified and
require ongoing strategic attention.

work, embracing the ethics and values of our Company.
We look forward to a productive and successful year ahead.

The Board is satisfied that it has conducted itself in a
transparent, ethical and compliant manner and will continue
to review our approach to sustainable development to ensure

C N Zungu
Chairman
14 March 2013
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managing director’s

report

The 2012 financial year was one of growth and challenge for

workers’ industrial action and the fatality. Vermiculite

Palabora against a setting of challenging industry and macro-

market share was reduced due to competitor activity.

economic conditions.

Magnetite volumes grew significantly although earnings were

Our financial result was influenced by two factors in our
copper business:
n	the R711 million financial impact of the guide rope failure
in the hoisting shaft; and
n	national industrial disruption which delayed the restart
of smelting operations by three weeks.
I am pleased to report that, despite the exceptional effects of the
copper production disruptions, we have dealt with these in
a manner that has positioned us to keep moving strongly and
in accord with our strategy.

marginally reduced due to sales mix during the period when
copper production ceased.
All products delivered diminished earnings when compared to
2011 due to lower commodity prices from the uncertainty and
volatility generated by the European debt crisis and its effect
on global economic growth. Stronger producer currencies and
input cost pressures also challenged performance.

People
People will always be fundamental to our success and form
the foundation of our business. Our ability to successfully
deal with the challenging situations that confronted us during

We continue to focus on safety, health and the environment

the year was the result of the commitment and hard work of

and are committed to best practice. The tragic loss of one of

employees and contractors. This is a very busy time for us as

our colleagues during the year is a stark reminder of the risks

Rio Tinto and Anglo American progress with the sale of their

in our industry and it points to the discipline required to safely

shareholding and our ongoing success will rely on the dedication

deliver our products. The loss of a life is felt by everyone and

of our people.

we will never take the safety of our people for granted. In this
regard, safety discipline is improving and our injury rate is at
its lowest level on record as we unyieldingly work to eliminate

Diversity has increased during the year as we continue to develop
our people and ensure they are our delineating attribute.

injuries in our workplace.

Operations

Our success is dependent on securing and maintaining the

Copper sales were 7 per cent lower at 65.4 kt when compared

support of our people and communities with whom we deal.

to 2011. The reduction was primarily caused by the failure

We have actively worked on securing our licence to operate

of a guide rope clamp whilst installing a new guide rope and

and mining rights through the ethical conduct of our people and

the subsequent two months of recovery and restoration work

determination to improve the quality of life of the communities

which prevented the production of copper ore from the mine.

we touch. In meeting the demand for our products, we must

Immediately following the guide rope repairs the collateral

have a positive impact on those we encounter.

effects of the national transport workers’ industrial action

The Enterprise

delayed restarting the smelter and, thereafter, the fatality and its
investigation in the mine resulted in a combined loss of another

Financial performance was significantly affected by three

month. I am pleased to report that during the guide rope failure

months of lost copper production and loss of vermiculite market

the smelter took the opportunity to rebuild the reverbatory

share to competitors when compared to 2011. Gross revenue

furnace, an every five-year activity, and did so without incident.

came in at R9.7 billion and was 7 per cent higher than 2011;

Copper output was marginally reduced during the first quarter

loss after tax was R97 million and was 107 per cent lower than

from lower recoveries in the concentrator, operational control

last year’s profit of R1.46 billion. Copper production was ceased

difficulties in the rod plant and the ongoing copper head grade

for two months due to the hoisting shaft guide rope failure

decline associated with Lift I. It is satisfying to report that

and a further month from the collateral effects of the transport
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improved day-to-day control in smelting and refinery continues

The Palabora Foundation continues to provide outstanding

and is delivering in accord with the plan.

support for the citizens of Ba-Phalaborwa and this was enhanced

Magnetite sales were at 4.9 Mt and 54 per cent higher when
compared to 2011. Trucking of magnetite grew significantly

during the year with the deployment of the 30 Ten +5 programme
for the development of small business in the community.

during the year and continues strongly. The Company

The pre-feasibility assessment of Lift II was completed and ramp

commenced and is finalising construction of a new magnetite

development down to the lower level has progressed according

drying plant that will lift magnetite production capacity to 6 Mt

to plan. The ongoing planning, assessment and approval process

per annum. Vermiculite sales volumes at 115 kt were 30 per cent

for Lift II will continue during the coming year. Study work

lower when compared to 2011 and are due to market constraints

continues on improving smelter emissions and operational

and competitor action.

performance. In addition to the Company’s activity, Iron

The sale of Rio Tinto and Anglo American shareholding
continued during 2012 and the announcement in quarter four
of a conditional binding agreement with a Chinese and South

Minerals Beneficiation Services has commenced construction of
their new technology plant designed to convert magnetite into
pig iron.

African Consortium was a significant milestone. The Consortium

We remain confident regarding the long-term outlook and

comprises Hebei Iron and Steel, General Nice Development

future demand for our products. The business strategy that

and Tewoo Group from China and the Industrial Development

was formulated in 2011 is serving us well and is providing

Corporation of South Africa. We look forward to the coming

decisive progress.

year and the activity around finalising the transaction and
welcoming the new shareholders.

I want to recognise the efforts of our people and the communities
that support our activities. They have been integral in assisting

The initiation of business improvement last year has allowed

us with the challenges of 2012 and I wish to thank them for their

R136 million in savings to be achieved and this activity is

dedication.

generating additional projects that is the platform for further
and expanded cost reductions.

Long Life
During 2012 the Company worked with the DMR to address
the outstanding conditions precedent for enactment of its
BBBEE transaction and this has now been completed and we are
working through the associated administrative requirements.

Anthony Lennox
Managing Director
14 March 2013

The outstanding mining right is still being finalised.

TURNOVER (PRE-HEDGE) (Rm)

NET PROFIT (Rm)
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chief financial officer’s

report

Going concern
Palabora was not geared as at 31 December 2012 and the

July, several safety-related stoppages including the

Company will continue operating for the foreseeable future.

unfortunate fatal incident; above inflation electricity tariff

The Company has sufficient cash reserves to sustain planned

increases as well as depressed commodity prices, especially

magnetite growth opportunities as well as the development of

iron ore. In addition Lift II exploration and early development

Lift II once approved by the Board.

works increased 249 per cent to R684 million compared to
R196 million in 2011. As a consequence EBITDA decreased

The going concern assessment was based on future forecasts

to R413 million compared to R2.4 billion in 2011 and posting an

including production, sales and economic assumptions.

after-tax loss of R97 million compared to a profit of R1.46 billion

Treasury report
Palabora’s cash position decreased by R230 million to
R1,98 billion compared to R2,21 billion in 2011. The cash
generated from operations was R514 million, a decrease of
R1,8 billion from 2011. This was mainly due to the guide rope
failure and no copper production for 67 days. The magnetite
business was also affected as Palabora had to sell the less
profitable oxide during that period. The Group’s balance sheet

for the previous year.
Product purchases increased 51 per cent to R1.3 billion
compared to R671 million in 2011 to meet customer contractual
commitments following the guide rope failure. This included
6.7 kt of copper rod (2011: nil) and 12.6 kt of copper cathode
(2011: 10.2 kt). The opportunity cost associated with increased
working capital commitments on product purchases arising
from the incident is not covered by insurance.

is still strong, despite a challenging financial year with weaker

The commodity swap hedge will continue to dilute our earnings

headline earnings. The commodity swap hedge expires in

and a total of R1,025 billion was paid during the year compared

September 2013.

to R1,038 billion in 2011. The hedge facility is based on
notional quantities, in spite of the significant decrease of copper

Taxation

production.

The taxation income was R13 million compared to R712 million

Magnetite contributed 56 per cent of the turnover and we will

expense in 2011. Notwithstanding the overall loss position, the

continue to pursue growth opportunities to take advantage

effective tax rate was 11,8 per cent compared to 32,7 per cent

of the increased demand from China. Magnetite sales volume

in 2011 due to subsidiaries’ tax expenses as well as the impact

increased 54 per cent to 4.9 Mt compared to 3.2 Mt in 2011 due

of secondary tax on dividends paid. The corporate tax rate

to increased trucking during the year. The guide rope incident

remained the same for the year but the secondary tax on

resulted in significantly reduced magnetite production of the

dividends was replaced by a withholding tax which shifts the

higher grade and higher margin-earning 65 per cent material

tax obligation on dividend distribution from the Company to

which was replaced by the lower grade and lower margin iron

the shareholders.

oxide. The magnetite production and sales mix impacted

At 2012 year-end the Group had a current tax asset of

realised margins.

R164 million arising from provisional tax payments at half-

Vermiculite sales volumes decreased 29 per cent mainly due

year. Whilst the Group posted a profit for the half-year, this

to weak demand and increased competition in key markets in

was reversed during the second half and the tax pre-payment

America and Europe.

will be offset against future tax obligations.

Commentary on the annual financial statements
The 2012 financial year was challenging for the mining sector
in general and Palabora in particular. The main contributory
factors include the production shaft guide rope failure in

22

Exchange gains on foreign currency-denominated balances and
realised exchange gains on exports decreased 73 per cent to
R94 million from R341 million in 2011 mainly due to subdued
exports. The average exchange rate for the year remained
constant compared to the closing rate in 2011 and impacted
exchange gains on export receipts.

Impairment losses
The business assesses impairment losses on a regular basis and
treats the whole Company as a single cash-generating unit in
line with the Rio Tinto policy. This policy may be reviewed to
align with business-specific circumstances once the divestment
by Rio Tinto and Anglo American is finalised. Possible options
include treating copper and its by-products including magnetite
current arisings, vermiculite and magnetite historical stock piles
as separate cash-generating units. The impact on impairment
assessment on this option may be significant on the copper
stream business depending on price assumptions and the
decision on Lift II.
The Board has taken the decision to discontinue the western
extension project, given the timing and technical constraints
around it. Western extension assets amounting to R38 million
were re-allocated to exploration costs as it is being used for the
Lift II project and a further R22 million impairment loss was
realised. As at 31 December 2012, the carrying value of western
extension assets benefiting the current Lift I operations was
R3,5 million and these have not been impaired.

Information Technology is controlled by the IT governance
framework COBIT, ISO 38500 and the Rio Tinto IT Charter
Policies and is audited annually by internal auditors on regular
bases.
A smooth transitional plan is in place to move from the
Rio Tinto support on a phased approach once the divestment
is finalised.

Internal financial controls
Internal audits were carried out during the year and no material
breaches of the financial controls were detected. The control
environment is the responsibility of management and
discipline in enforcing related controls is paramount. There is
an executable strategy in place to follow up and rectify issues
identified by audit across the business. Follow up audits are
performed to ensure that this is complied with.

Capital expenditure

There were no changes to the accounting policies during
the financial year. The adoption of various amendments to
the accounting standards and interpretations had no significant
impact on the Company results.

As the end of life of Lift I draws to an end in 2015, Palabora has
adopted a deliberate strategy to slow down on sustaining capex
unless it benefits Lift II once approved. Sustaining capex was
contained at R243 million compared to R442 million in 2011.
Development expenditure mainly on the belt filter press was
R111 million (2011: nil). A project ranking and prioritisation
process is performed on capital projects to ensure that capital
funding requirements are aligned with the Company’s strategy.

Lift II status

Dividend declaration

Growth-related costs increased by R488 million to R684 million
mainly associated with the Lift II pre-feasibility studies and
early development work. The project was reviewed during
the year and further studies were considered necessary with
the Board set to review the project during the first half of 2013.

Ordinary dividends are declared and paid out of cash generated
from operations after consideration of the Company’s current
and future funding requirements, prevailing and forecasted
economic conditions. After consideration of the Company’s
working capital requirements and projected funding for the
Lift II project, the Company decided not to declare a dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2012. Palabora Mining Company
will continue to monitor its capital environment and will
consider future dividend payments as the situation allows.

Accounting policy changes

Business claim update
The insurance claim for the guide rope failure is still in progress.
The independent assessors were on site in January 2013.
In terms of the business interruption policy, any losses during
the first 30 days are excluded from the loss assessment and
in addition $10 million is deductible.

IT systems update
Rio Tinto Information Services and Technology is responsible
for Information Technology support and service delivery to
Palabora Mining Company. Palabora has a stable network

Dikeledi Nakene
Chief Financial Officer
14 March 2013

infrastructure as well as a Wide Area Network (WAN).
This complex environment requires security frameworks,
preventative maintenance, disaster recovery plans, software
licence monitoring and capacity planning.

Palabora Mining Company Limited
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Palabora is satisfied that it has conducted
itself in a transparent, ethical and compliant
manner and will continue to strive to conduct
its business in a sustainable and responsible
manner going forward.

CORPORATE

GOVERNANCE
STATEMENTS
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corporate

governance

Introduction
Palabora and its subsidiaries are committed to sound corporate
governance and recognised best practise codes. Palabora believes
that sound corporate governance ensures that the business
operations and conduct of the Company on economic, social
and environmental well-being are transparent, and makes the
Company accountable to all stakeholders. King III is recognised
as the definitive code for listed and unlisted companies in South
Africa and is, therefore, the main code of conduct to which
Palabora and its subsidiaries subscribe.
Below are some highlights of some of the major corporate

In keeping with King III, Companies Act, 71 of 2008 (the new
Companies Act), JSE Listings Requirements and other governance
legislative requirements, the focus in 2013 and ahead will be on
the following initiatives:
nnImplementation of the Company’s compliance policy
and comply with regulatory and other governance codes;
nnRigorous engagement with all Company stakeholders; and
nnContinue to review regulatory and legislative developments
to ensure that the Company is able to respond
appropriately.

governance improvements undertaken during 2012:
nnThe Board and sub-committee charters have been
reviewed – and will be reviewed on an annual basis –

Directors are appointed in terms of the constitution of the

to enhance compliance with King III, the new

Company and in terms of the Companies Act. The Board

Companies Act and JSE Listings Requirements;

retains full and effective control over the Group and monitors

nnNew Memorandum of Incorporation has been drafted
to ensure compliance with the Companies Act and
JSE Schedule 10;
nnAn independent service provider was engaged to assist

the executive management. The Board is responsible for the
adoption of strategic plans, monitoring of operational and
financial performance and management, approving capital
expenditure, succession planning as well as the determination
of policies and processes to ensure the integrity of the

with compiling the compliance register for other best

Group’s risk management systems among other duties. These

practice and standards;

responsibilities are set out in the approved Board charter,

nnThe directors and the Company Secretarial attended
numerous courses on the governance instruments;
nnImplementation of the 2011 Board Evaluation
action items;
nnConducted Board Evaluation for 2012; and
nnAn Ernst & Young partner is fulfilling the role
of Chief Audit Executive.
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Palabora Board of Directors

which is reviewed annually. The directors believe that they have
adhered to the terms of reference as articulated in the Board
charter for the financial year under review.
The roles and duties of the independent Chairman of the
Board and the Managing Director are kept separate and clearly
defined. This division of responsibilities ensures a balance of
authority and power, with no individual having unrestricted
decision-making powers.

Composition of the Board
The Company has a unitary Board structure comprising majority
of independent directors. The Board meets on a quarterly
basis, retains effective control over the Company and monitors
executive management. The Board comprises of 10 directors,
two executive, three non-executives and five independent nonexecutive directors.
At 31 December 2012 the Palabora Board was constituted
as follows:
Alternate
director

directors
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

CN Zungu (Chairman)
AW Lennox (Managing Director)*^
DL Nakene (Chief Financial Officer)*
FA du Plessis
NA Hlubi
MR Abrahams
PK Ward
HJ Faul
C Kinnell+
JS Jacques+

*Executive

^

Australian

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
E Yan+

For more details on the Board of Directors, refer to pages 6 to 11.
Full details regarding changes in the Company’s directorate and
emoluments paid to directors are disclosed in the Directors’
report on pages 93 to 96. There are no contracts of service
between any directors and the Company or any of its subsidiaries
that are terminable at periods of notice exceeding one year and
requiring payment of compensation. No director holds any
shares beneficially or non-beneficially, directly or indirectly, in
the Company and there are no share option schemes.

British

+

Details of attendance by directors at Board meetings during the financial year ended 31 December 2012 are set out below:
02 February
2012

Name of director
CN Zungu
FA du Plessis
MR Abrahams
NA Hlubi
PK Ward
AW Lennox
DL Nakene
C Kinnell
JS Jacques
CH Louwarts
E Yan

10 May
2012

31 July
2012

P
P
P
P
P
P
A
P
P
P
P
P
NAD
NAD
NAD
P
P
P
P
P
P
P
P
P
P
P
P
P (was an alternate) P (was an alternate) P (was an alternate)
NAD
NAD
NAD

Special Board
29 September
2012

29 November
2012

P
P
P
P
NAD
P
P
A
P
A
NAD

P
A
P
P
NAD
P
P
P
A
NAD
NAD (attended by
invitation)

A = Absent with apologies P = Present NAD = Not a director at the time

The Board teleconference calls were as follows:
Name of director
CN Zungu
FA du Plessis
MR Abrahams
NA Hlubi
PK Ward
AW Lennox
DL Nakene
HJ Faul
C Kinnell
JS Jacques
CH Louwarts
E Yan (Alternate)

16 MARCH
2012

19 OCTOBER
2012

06 DECEMBER
2012

15 DECember
2012

24 DECember
2012

P
P
P
P
NAD
P
P
P
A
P
P
NAD

P
P
A
P
NAD
P
P
P
P
P
NAD
NAD

P
P
P
P
NAD
P
P
P
P
P
NAD
P

P
P
P
P
NAD
P
A
P
A
P
NAD
P

P
A
P
P
P
P
P
P
P
A
NAD
P

A = Absent with apologies P = Present NAD = Not a director at the time
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Rotation and retirement from the Board

Company Secretary

A third of the directors are subject to retirement by rotation

The Company Secretary plays a pivotal role in the corporate

and re-election by shareholders each year in accordance with

governance of the Company, providing a central source of

the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation. In addition,

guidance and advice to the Board and within the Company

all directors are subject to re-election by shareholders at the

on matters of good governance and changes in legislation.

first annual general meeting following their appointment.

All directors have access to the advice and services of the

The appointment of new directors is approved by the Board as a

Company Secretary, who is responsible to the Board for ensuring

whole. The names of the directors submitted for re-election are

that Board procedures are followed and for ensuring compliance

accompanied by sufficient biographical details in the notice of

with procedures and regulations of a statutory nature. Directors

the annual general meetings to enable shareholders to make an

are entitled to seek independent professional advice concerning

informed decision in respect of their re-election.

the affairs of the Group at the Group’s expense, should they
believe that course of action would be in the best interest of

Director development

the Group. The Company Secretary ensures that the Board and

Palabora recognises that the induction of, and ongoing training

committee charters are kept up to date.

and development for directors, is critical to ensure that directors
are kept up to date with new developments, and that they

Board and committee evaluation

are able to effectively discharge their responsibilities within

During the year under review, the Board and each sub-

the Company’s governance structure as well as legislative

committee underwent an effective and meaningful evaluation

framework under which it operates. The new directors undergo

by the Institute of Directors South Africa. Questionnaires were

an induction to familiarise themselves with the Company’s

used as basis for assessing the performance and governance

operations, its business environment and the sustainability

practises followed by the Board using best practice as espoused

issues relevant to its business. They are also introduced to the

by King III. The main categories of the Board analysis dealt

members of senior management. During the year, the directors

with Board composition, responsibilities, corporate culture,

and Company Secretariat attended numerous courses on the

committees of the Board, relationship of the Board with

Companies Act and other governance instruments. Whenever

management, Board meetings and key corporate governance

there are new legislative/corporate governance changes,

role players. In addition Board members were requested to add

directors are informed accordingly.

general comments relating to the questions answered.
The overall outcome of the evaluation was acceptable. The areas
of improvements are being addressed by the Chairman of the
Board, Company Secretary and respective committee chairmen.
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Corporate governance statements (continued)

Board evaluation material areas of improvements in 2012
ITEM
RISK
GOVERNANCE

ACTIONS
nn
To monitor and oversee the risk
processes that has been put in place
and evaluate whether it meets new
requirements as put forward by King III.

nn
To fully consider and understand any
changes to the risks that may flow
from the divestment processes.
COMPLIANCE
nnTo formalise compliance processes
WITH LAWS,
with a deliverable of prioritisation
RULES, CODES
of risks that needs to be focused on
and STANDARDS
management and reported to the Board.
IT GOVERNANCE nnTo monitor and oversee IT governance.

SUCCESSION
PLANNING
STAKEHOLDER
RELATIONSHIP

nn
To standardise succession planning
on the Remuneration and Nomination
Committee agenda.
nn
To provide a formal feedback to the
Board on stakeholder relationships.

OTHER
nnTo ensure that the sale process does
COMMENTS (A)
not create any distrust between
(areas that concern shareholder directors and independent
Board members)
directors. To ensure that directors fully
understand the dynamics and changed
responsibilities that this processes of
sale could result in.
OTHER
nn
To monitor strategy implementation.
COMMENTS (B)

PERSON
RESPONSIBLE
Board Audit
and Risk
Committee

Board

STATUS REPORT
The BARC is currently monitoring and
overseeing the risk processes. Enterprise
Risk Management is a standing agenda
item at BARC meetings to ensure that risk
processes are implemented properly.
Divestment is an agenda item at Board
meetings.

Board Audit and On 2 February 2012 the Board approved
Risk Committee the compliance strategy and policy.
Compliance is a standing agenda item at
the BARC meetings.
Board Audit and IT governance was presented to BARC in
Risk Committee February 2013. The BARC charter was
revised to include IT responsibilities.
Remuneration
Succession planning is a standard agenda
and Nomination item at RNC meetings.
Committee
Social, Ethics
The Social, Ethics and Technical
and Technical
Committee reviewed its scope to ensure
Committee
that it meets its mandate in terms of the
Companies Act and King III. Stakeholder
Engagement will be discussed in detail
at this committee.
Board
Divestment is a standing agenda item
at the Board meetings.

Board

The Board Strategy Session was held on
8 May 2012. The Board Strategy outcomes
were tabled at the meeting in July 2012 for
approval by the Board. The Board Strategy
session was also held on 19 February 2013.

Memorandum of Incorporation and Board charter
The general powers of the directors are set out in the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation. The Board charter regulates how
the Board and individual members of the Board discharge their responsibilities according to the principles of good governance.
The charter aims to ensure that all Board members understand their duties and responsibilities as well as the laws, regulations and
best practices governing their conduct.
The Company is accountable to its shareowners and stakeholders by setting a charter for the Board, and is able to regulate how
business is conducted while adhering to best practice and the highest standard of business conduct.
The objectives of the charter are to ensure that all Board members acting on behalf of the Company are aware of their duties and
responsibilities as Board members and the various legislation and regulations affecting their conduct, and to ensure that the principles
of good corporate governance are applied in all their dealings in respect, and on behalf, of the Company. In pursuit of the ideals in the
charter, the intention is to exceed “minimum requirements” with due consideration to recognised standards of best practice locally
and internationally.
The Board charter details the following key matters:
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nnMission of the Board

Independence of directors

nnComposition of the Board

The Board considers five of its non-executive directors

nnFiduciary responsibilities

independence in character, judgement and action in fulfilling

nnRoles and responsibilities of the Board
nnDelegation of authority
nnDirector orientation and development
nnConflict of interest
nnMeetings and proceedings
nnBoard committees

independent.

These

directors

demonstrate

complete

their duties. During the year the Board assessed the status of
independence of Mr Abrahams, given his appointment as a
general manager at Scaw Metals, an Anglo subsidiary. The Board
satisfied itself that he met the criteria of independent director in
terms of King III and the Companies Act.

Succession planning
Succession planning is ultimately the responsibility of the
Board, but is being addressed through the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee. The Board must determine in

nnBoard effectiveness assessment and evaluation

consultation with the Managing Director, a succession plan

nnSuccession and emergency planning

for the Managing Director, executive management and any

nnBoard relationship to staff and external advisers

standing agenda item for the Nomination and Remuneration

nnCompany Secretarial role
nnCode of Ethics

specialist skills. During 2012, succession planning has been a
Committee.

In-camera meetings
During the year under review, there were no in-camera meetings.

Board committees
The Board has established the following standing committees:
nnBoard Audit and Risk Committee (BARC);
nnRemuneration and Nomination Committee (RNC); and
nnSocial, Ethics and Technical Committee (SETC).
These committees have delegated authority from the Board and
the Board has not abdicated its legal responsibilities to them.
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Board Audit and Risk Committee

During the 2012 financial year, the Chief Financial Officer and

The legal responsibilities of the Board Audit and Risk Committee
(BARC) are set out in section 94 of the Companies Act. These
responsibilities, together with the requirements of the JSE and
compliance with appropriate governance and international best
practice, are incorporated in the committee’s charter, which
is reviewed annually and approved by the Board. The BARC
has regulated its affairs in compliance with this mandate, and
has discharged all of the responsibilities set out therein for the
year ended 31 December 2012.

Manager Treasury, Risk and Assurance were invited to attend all
BARC meetings. The Managing Director attended the November
2012 meeting and will be a standing invitee going forward.
The external auditors also attend all BARC meetings and separate
meetings are held to afford them the opportunity to meet with
the committee without the presence of management or internal
auditors. The internal auditors attend all BARC meetings and are
similarly afforded separate meetings with the committee.

INTERNAL AUDIT AND CONTROL
The internal audit function is comprised of and led by the

COMPOSITION OF THE COMMITTEE
The BARC consisted of three independent, non-executive
directors as recommended by King III. A quorum for any meeting
is two members present and voting on the matter for decision.
The chairman of the Board is not a member of the BARC.
The committee is appointed annually by the shareholders.
Members of the BARC as at 31 December 2012 comprised
the following three independent non-executive directors:
Mr PK Ward (Chairman) – (appointed 18 December 2012)

Business Risk Services division of Ernst & Young. Internal
audits are performed throughout the Group, according to an
annual audit plan, in order to assist the BARC to discharge its
responsibilities successfully.
The Board is ultimately responsible for overseeing the
establishment of effective systems of internal control in order
to provide reasonable assurance that the Group’s financial and
non-financial objectives are achieved. This system of control is
designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to

Mr MR Abrahams (Acting Chairman from 30 June 2012 to

achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable, but

18 December 2012)

not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Mr NA Hlubi

Executing this responsibility has been delegated to the Group

The biographical details of the committee members are set out
on pages 6 to 11 and the members’ fees are included in the table
of directors’ remuneration on page 95.
Mrs F du Plessis resigned as chairperson from the BARC on
30 June 2012.

Internal Audit, which is overseen by the barc and is guided in
discharging its functions set out in the Internal Audit Charter,
which is approved by the barc on an annual basis.
The main function of Internal Audit is to review and provide
assurance on the effectiveness of the Group’s systems of
internal control, including internal financial control and risk

The Board is of the opinion that the members of the BARC,

management, and to ensure that effective internal control

collectively, possess the knowledge and experience to oversee

systems are maintained.

and assess the performance of management and auditors, the
quality of the Group’s disclosure controls, the preparation
of the financial statements and financial reporting. The
Board is also of the opinion that the members of the BARC,
collectively, possess the understanding of the functions of the

Internal Audit has developed an audit planning methodology that
utilises a risk universe which formally demonstrates processes
which ensure the application of King III recommendations with
regard to risk-based internal audit.

committee necessary to execute their responsibilities expertly

The annual audit coverage plan is reviewed and approved by

and diligently.

the barc on an annual basis. Each internal audit conducted

Details of attendance of members of the BARC during the
financial year ended 31 December 2012 are set out below:
Name of
director
FA du Plessis
MR Abrahams
NA Hlubi
PK Ward

is followed by a detailed report to management, including
recommendations on aspects requiring improvement. Internal
Audit is responsible for reporting significant findings and the

01
February
2012

09
May
2012

31
July
2012

29
November
2012

performance against the agreed internal audit plan to the barc.

P
A
P
NAM

P
P
P
NAM

NAM
P
P
NAM

NAM
P
P
NAM

function is independent and has the necessary resources,

P = Present
NAM = Not a member at the time
A = Absent with apologies
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The Internal Audit Charter ensures that the internal audit
standing and authority within the organisation to enable it to
discharge its duties. The Chief Audit Executive has direct access
to the chairman of the barc and reports operationally to the
Chief Financial Officer. Internal Audit has a standing invitation
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to attend the Executive Committee meetings and also attends

the auditor’s provision of non-audit services is compatible

all barc meetings as an invitee and submits a report on each

with the auditor’s independence;

barc meeting.

EXTERNAL AUDIT
The external auditors for the Group are PricewaterhouseCoopers. The BARC considered the matters set out in
sections 94(7)(a – i) of the Companies Act and:
nnis satisfied with the independence and objectivity
of the external auditors;
nndetermined and approved the external auditors’ fees
for 2012;
nnensured that the appointment of the external auditors
complied with the provisions of the Companies Act;
nnrecommended the re-appointment of the external auditors
at the next annual general meeting;
nnreviewed the reports prepared by the external auditors; and

nnmonitoring the integrity of the financial statements of
the Group, including its annual and half-yearly financial
statements, preliminary results announcements and
any other formal announcement relating to its financial
performance, reviewing significant financial reporting
issues and judgements which they contain;
nnreview summary financial statements, significant
financial returns to regulators and any financial
information contained in certain other documents, such as
announcements of a price-sensitive nature, provided that
such monitoring and review is not inconsistent with any
requirement for prompt reporting under the JSE Listings
Requirements;
nncarefully review forward-looking statements of financial or
sustainability information to ensure that the information
provides a proper appreciation of the key drivers that
will enable Palabora to meet these forward-looking goals;

nnpre-approved all significant, permitted non-audit services
by the external auditors. During the year under review,

nnensure that there is a process in place to be informed of

fees for non-audit services amounted to R890 857

any reportable irregularities (as identified in the Auditing

(2011: R669 000).

Profession Act, 2005) identified and reported by the
external auditor;

Key functions and responsibilities
of the committee
The BARC discharges all its functions and responsibilities
in accordance with the terms of reference. The BARC terms
of reference include, inter alia:
nnconsidering and making recommendations to the
Board, to be put to shareholders for approval at
the Annual General Meetings of Palabora, in relation
to the appointment, re-appointment and removal
of the Company’s external auditors;
nnoverseeing the selection process for new auditors and if an
auditor resigns the committee must investigate the issues
leading to this and decide whether any action is required;
nnapprove the person proposed as the designated auditor
and ensure that the name of the designated auditor
and date of appointment are recorded;
nnoversee the relationship with the external auditors;
nnreview and approve the annual audit plan and ensure that
it is consistent with the scope of the audit engagement;
nnpre-approve the contracts for non-audit services to be
performed by the external auditors and consider whether

32

nnreview the Group’s procedures for detecting
and preventing fraud and bribery and receiving
reports on non-compliance;
nnmonitor and review the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal audit function in the context of the Group’s overall
internal controls and risk management systems, including
giving consideration to periodic independent quality
review of the function, as deemed appropriate;
nnapprove the appointment and removal of the Chief Audit
Executive or outsourced internal audit service provider;
nnconsider and approve the remit of the internal audit
function and ensure it has adequate resources, skills,
qualifications and appropriate access to information
to enable it to perform its function effectively and in
accordance with the relevant professional standards; and
nnevaluate the formal review of financial controls conducted
annually by the internal audit function on behalf of
the Board and report to the Board and shareholders on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal financial controls.

Corporate governance statements (continued)

RISK MANAGEMENT

to zero harm and it is up to each and every employee to take

The barc is also responsible for assisting the Board in

personal accountability for safety. We must always remember

discharging its responsibilities for the governance of risk
through a formal process and a system of risk management.

that safety is not a goal or a programme, but a personal
commitment and a way of doing business. Safety initiatives and

The risk management responsibilities include, inter alia:

performance are discussed in detail on pages 46 to 47.

nnreviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s

STATEMENT ON INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROLS

internal controls and risk management systems, including

Based on information from and discussions with management

all key financial, operational, compliance and IT controls

and the external and internal audit providers, the barc

as they relate to financial reporting;

confirms that it has no reason to believe that there were any

nnoverseeing the development and annual review of a risk
management policy and plan for recommendation to the
Board, including consideration of acceptable risk tolerance
and appetite levels for the Group;
nnmonitoring implementation of the policy and plan for risk
management through the risk management systems and
processes and ensure that these are embedded in the dayto-day activities of the Group;
nnmonitoring to ensure that risks are managed within the
risk appetite and tolerance levels of the Group;
nnensuring that risk assessments are performed on a
continuous basis at a strategic, operational and process
level, and that frameworks and methodologies are
implemented to increase the possibility of anticipating
unpredictable risks;
nnensuring that management considers and implements
appropriate risk responses;
nnensuring that continuous risk monitoring by management
takes place;
nnexpressing the committee’s formal opinion to the Board

material breakdowns in the design and operating effectiveness
of internal financial controls during this financial year which
have not been addressed or are in a process of being addressed.
The financial records can thus be relied on for preparing
financial statements.
To the best of their knowledge and on the basis of the information
and explanations given by management and the internal audit
function as well as discussions with the independent external
auditors on the results of their audits, the BARC is satisfied that
there was no material breakdown in the internal accounting
controls during the financial year under review. The Chief Audit
Executive and external auditors have unlimited access to the
chairman of the BARC.

STATEMENT ON INTERNAL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The risk management and internal audit functions monitor
the effectiveness of internal control systems and make
recommendations to management and the barc. Based on
this information and from information and discussions with
management, the barc on behalf of the Board confirms that it
has no reason to believe that there were any material internal
control or risk management shortcomings during this financial
year which have not been addressed or are in a process of

on the effectiveness of the system of internal controls and

being addressed. The Board has thus concluded based on

the process of risk management; and

recommendation of the barc and their own understanding

nnreviewing and recommend to the Board for approval
any reporting concerning risk management that is to be
included in the integrated annual report to ensure it is
timely, comprehensive and relevant.
Going forward, the barc will continue to focus on the

that there is no reason to believe that there were any material
internal control or risk management shortcomings during this
financial year that have not been addressed or are in the process
of being addressed.

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT

implementation and value add of the risk framework,

The barc has evaluated the consolidated financial statements

the knowledge base development, the continual review of the

of Palabora Mining Company Limited for the year ended

strategic risks, the opportunities that could impact/benefit

31 December 2012 and, based on the information provided to

the Group and any areas that will improve the focus on risk

the BARC, considers that the Group complies, in all material

management and the risk culture within the Group.

respects, with the requirements of the Companies Act,
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the JSE

Safety
Safety is an inherent risk in our mining operations demanding
discipline to safely deliver our products. Palabora is committed
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Listings Requirements.
The BARC recommended the financial statements to the
Board for approval. The Board subsequently approved
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the financial statements which will be open for discussion at
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. The chairman of
the BARC attends annual general meetings and is available to
answer any questions.

In compliance with paragraph 3.84(h) of the JSE Listings
the

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee (“RNC”) was
established in April 2011 and its members are appointed by
the Board. The RNC consisted of three directors appointed

APPROPRIATENESS OF THE EXPERTISE
AND EXPERIENCE OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL
OFFICER and finance function
Requirements,

Remuneration and Nomination Committee

barc

reviewed

the

performance,

appropriateness and expertise of the Chief Financial Officer,

by the Board, two of whom are independent non-executive
directors and one non-executive director. A quorum for any
meeting is two members present and voting on the matter for
decision, of whom at least one shall be an independent nonexecutive director. The chairman of the Board is a member of
the committee.

Dikeledi Nakene. The committee is satisfied that she has

The RNC has been constituted to assist the Board in discharging

the appropriate expertise and experience to fulfil the role of the

its duties to ensure that:

Chief Financial Officer and has performed appropriately during
the year under review, and that the resources and expertise of
the finance function are appropriate and adequate.

APPROPRIATENESS OF THE EXPERTISE
AND EXPERIENCE OF THE COMPANY SECRETARY
In accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements, the Audit
and Risk Committee is required to consider the appropriateness
of the expertise and experience of the Company Secretary.
In respect of this requirement and for the year under review,
the committee is satisfied that Mr Keith Mathole possesses the
appropriate expertise and experience to fulfil his responsibilities
in that position.

nnthe Board has the appropriate composition for it to execute
its duties effectively;
nndirectors are appointed through a formal, rigorous
and transparent process;
nninduction and ongoing training and development
of directors takes place;
nnformal succession plans for the Board, Managing Director
and senior management appointments are in place;
nnthe Company remunerates directors and executives fairly
and responsibly;
nnthe disclosure of directors’ remuneration is accurate,
complete and transparent.
The committee’s charter, which is reviewed annually by the

PK Ward

Board, defines its key responsibilities, as follows:

Chairman of the Board Audit and Risk Committee
14 March 2013

Nomination duties
nnRegularly review the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge, experience and diversity)
of the Board and make recommendations to the Board with
regard to any changes that are appropriate;
nnWhere Board vacancies arise, identify and nominate
competent candidates to fill the position taking into
consideration:
(a) knowledge and experience to fill the gap on the Board;
(b) integrity of the individual; and
(c)	the skills and capacity of the candidate to discharge
their duties to the Board;
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nnBefore nominating a candidate, evaluate the balance
of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity on the
Board and, in the light of this evaluation, prepare a
description of the role and capabilities required for
the particular appointment;
nnBefore recommending an appointment to the Board,
ensure that the candidate has no conflict of interest with
Palabora, or whether, despite any such conflict, there are
nevertheless grounds for recommending the candidate;

nnEnsure that no directors or managers are involved in any
decisions determining their own remuneration; and
nnEnsure that, in periods of severe skills shortage,
remuneration policies focus on retention of key employees
as well as performance. Incentive schemes to encourage
retention should be clearly distinguished from those
relating to reward or performance.

nnConduct all selection processes in a formal and transparent
manner designed to ensure that the best candidate is
chosen, subject to shareholder approval, where necessary.

In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, the chairman of the
Nominations Committee should be the chairman of the Board,
and membership of the committee must consist of only nonexecutive directors of whom a majority shall be independent.
Palabora has combined the Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee under one committee called the
Remuneration and Nomination Committee. The chairman of
the Board is, however, a member of the RNC and thus able to
influence the nomination processes sufficiently. The details
regarding directors’ remuneration and the Group remuneration
philosophy are set out on page 39. The committee chairman
reports formally to the Board on its proceedings after each
meeting on all matters within its duties and responsibilities.
The Board performs an evaluation of the effectiveness of this
committee every year. The committee reviews the scope of these
terms of reference and recommends any changes necessary to
the Board on annual basis.

Remuneration duties

Details of attendance by members of the RNC during the
financial year ended 31 December 2012 are set out below:

nnAs part of any proposal to the Board for appointment of
the relevant candidate explain any conflicts and make
recommendations as to the terms and conditions on
which any authorisation of the conflict should be given
by the Board;
nnPrior to their appointment, ensure that reference
and background checks are performed on nominated
candidates. It is important that the committee satisfies
itself that new directors have not been declared delinquent
nor are they serving probation in terms of section 162
of the Companies Act; and

nnReview and recommend, to the Board, Palabora’s
remuneration policy and the framework for all employees,
taking into account the Rio Tinto remuneration policy
and methodology;
nnIn reviewing such policy, take into account all factors
which it deems necessary, including remuneration
and employment policies and conditions that create
long-term value for Palabora. The objective of such
policy must be to ensure that individuals are provided
with appropriate incentives to encourage performance
and are rewarded for their individual contributions in
a fair and responsible manner;
nnContinually review the Company’s remuneration policy
for appropriateness and relevance;
nnEnsure that non-executive directors’ fees recognise the
responsibility borne by directors throughout the year and
not only during meetings. Fees should comprise a base fee,
which may vary depending on certain factors including
level of expertise, as well as an attendance fee per meeting;
nnWithin the terms of the agreed policy, determine the
remuneration package of the chairman of the Board;

Name of
director
NA Hlubi
CN Zungu
JS Jacques
CH Louwarts
(JS Jacques
alternate)
E Yan
(JS Jacques
alternate)

01
february 9 MAy
2012
2012

29
30 JULY November
2012
2012

P
P
A

P
P
P

P
P
P

P
P
A

P

A

A

NAM

NAM

NAM

NAM

P

P = Present
NAM = Not a member at the time
A =Absent with apologies

The members of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee
as at 31 December 2012 were as follows:
Mr NA Hlubi * (Chairman)
Mr CN Zungu *
Mr JS Jacques
Mr E Yan (alternate to Mr JS Jacques)
Mr D Modise (Secretary)
* Independent non-executive

nnEnsure that non-executive directors’ fees are approved by
shareholders in advance;

Palabora Mining Company Limited
Integrated annual report 2012

35

Social, Ethics and Technical Committee

nnAssess, monitor, report and disclose the Company’s ethics

The establishment of a Social, Ethics and Technical Committee

performance. Assessment should be by internal and

(“SETC”) is in terms of the Companies Act. The SETC consists of

external assurance providers;

four directors appointed by the Board of whom the chairman
is an independent non-executive director, two non-executive

nnMonitor good corporate citizenship, including the

directors and one executive director. The three non-executive

Company’s promotion of equality, prevention of unfair

directors of the committee are not involved in the day-to-day

discrimination, reduction of corruption, contribution to

management of the Company’s business and have not been so

development of the communities in which its activities are

involved within the previous three financial years.

predominantly conducted or within which its products or
services are predominantly marketed, and ensure record-

The SETC terms of reference include, inter alia:

Social and ethics duties
nnTake responsibility and implement a sustainable ethical
corporate culture in the Company. This implementation
is reflected in the Company’s vision, mission, strategies

nnMonitor consumer relationships, including the Company’s
advertising, public relations and compliance with
consumer protection laws;
nnMonitor labour and employment practices of Palabora

and operations, decisions and conduct; and the manner in

and ensure that these are in line with good corporate

which it treats its internal and external stakeholders;

citizenship principles; and

nnEnsure that the Company’s ethics risks profile is developed
and that the risks are assessed and reported on;
nnContinuously identify and review of ethical standards
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keeping of sponsorships, donations and charitable giving;

nnMonitor social and economic developmental policies,
practices and decisions; including the impact that these
have on Palabora’s reputation.

(code of conduct) guiding the Company’s relationships

Palabora

with internal and external stakeholders, and any ethics-

company’s activities with regards to the five areas of social

related policies that provide guidelines for dealing

responsibility outlined in the mandate of the Social, Ethics and

with specific situations;

Technical Committee:

has

the

following

policies

to

monitor

the

Corporate govenance statements (continued)

Policy

Department

Auditors and Assurance providers

Alcoholism
Absenteeism
Blacklisting
Code of Conduct
Code of Practise
Conflict of Interest
Communities

Human Resources
Human Resources
Human Resources
Human Resources
Production Areas
Finance
Corporate Affairs

No Assurance Provider
No Assurance Provider
No Assurance Provider
Ernst & Young and Rio Tinto Compliance
Department of Mineral Resources
Ernst & Young and Rio Tinto Audit Forum
SMA

Detention Without Trial
Employment of Relatives
Employment Equity

Human Resources No Assurance Provider
Human Resources No Assurance Provider
Human Resources Department of Labour and
Moloto (BBBEE verification)
Human Resources Ernst & Young
Human Resources Ernst & Young
Human Resources Ernst & Young

Fixed Term Employment
Holiday Bonus
Housing Rental
and Maintenance
Health, Safety, Environment
and Quality
Intoxication

Health Safety,
Department of Mineral Resources
Environment and Ernst & Young,
Quality
Rio Tinto and DNV (Det Norske Veritas)
Human Resources No Assurance Provider

Labour and Employment
Labour and Employment
Labour and Employment
Good Corporate Citizenship
Good Corporate Citizenship
Good Corporate Citizenship
Social and Economic
Development
Good Corporate Citizenship
Labour and Employment
Labour and Employment
Labour and Employment
Labour and Employment
Labour and Employment
Social and Economic
Development
Labour and Employment
The Environment, Health
and Public Safety
The Environment, Health
and Public Safety
Good Corporate Citizenship
Social and Economic
Development

Integrated Communication
Strategy

Corporate Affairs

Overtime
Paid Mine Holiday

Human Resources Ernst & Young and PricewaterhouseCoopers
Human Resources Ernst & Young and PricewaterhouseCoopers

Labour and Employment
Social and Economic
Development

Preferential Procurement

Finance

Moloto (BBBEE verification)

Procurement

Finance

Ernst & Young and PricewaterhouseCoopers

Prohibition of Smoking

Human Resources No Assurance Provider

Railway Safety

Logistics

Skills Development

Social and Economic
Development
Social and Economic
Development
The Environment, Health
and Public Safety
Customer relations
The Environment, Health
and Public Safety
Social and Economic
Development and Labour
and Employment

Human Resources Mining Qualification Authority, Department
of Higher Education, Umalusi, Transport
Education and Training Authority,
Manufacturing SETA, Energy SETA, Moloto
(BBBEE Verification) and Department of Labour
Human Resources No Assurance Provider
Labour and Employment
Corporate Affairs Department of Mineral Resources and Moloto Social and Economic
(BBBEE verification)
Development
Good Corporate Citizenship
Human Resources PMC and Rio Tinto Audit Forums
Good Corporate Citizenship
Human Resources Ernst & Young
Labour and Employment

Trading on Company Premises
Transformation

The Way We Work
Vacation Employment

Palabora Mining Company Limited
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Ernst & Young

Area of Social
Responsibility

Department of Transport
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Policy

Department

Auditors and Assurance providers

Area of Social
Responsibility

Investigation and Serious Wrong
Doing Standard
Fraud Standard
Compliance Standard
Business Integrity Guidance
Anti-Trust Guidance
Anti-Bribery Due Diligence

Finance

Copper Group Audit Forum

Good Corporate Citizenship

Finance
Finance
Finance
Finance
Finance

Copper Group Audit Forum
Copper Group Audit Forum
Copper Group Audit Forum
Copper Group Audit Forum
Copper Group Audit Forum

Good Corporate Citizenship
Good Corporate Citizenship
Good Corporate Citizenship
Good Corporate Citizenship
Good Corporate Citizenship

Please note that all of the above may be subjected to internal

actions. Consider the report on significant sustainability,

audit processes when required and therefore Internal Audit may

health, environment, community-related risks, and

be the Assurance Provider at such time.

ensure that management have mitigated existing risks
and considered new or emerging risks;

Technical duties
nnOversee the performance of the Company with regard
to sustainability, health, environment and community
matters, and the consequences/impact of decisions
and actions taken, on the environment, employees,
communities and the reputation of the Company;
nnMonitor sustainability, health, environment, community
and related legal risks, and highlight to operational
management any risks which the SETC believes have not
been appropriately considered or addressed;
nnMonitor and assess the effectiveness of the Company’s
sustainability policies, standards and systems for
identifying and managing the related risk; as well as the
policy against irresponsible behaviour and decisions

the committee’s mandate, consider the recommendations
made in such reports and in each case highlight any
perceived issues and provide advice/recommendations,
as appropriate;
nnOversee future and current project update reports,
expenditure proposals, performance against project plan
and performance against projected net present value
objectives; and
nnReview major operational improvement initiatives
and to comment on progress with improvement projects,
and on the effectiveness of the identified actions to
improve performance.

by executives, which may have a lasting, negative

The committee chairman reports formally to the Board on its

environmental, costly or health impact on generations

proceedings after each meeting on all matters within its duties

to come;

and responsibilities. The Board performs an evaluation of the

nnReview the high level management report on high priority
risk. Management to report on new high priority risk
matters and progress with high priority risk mitigation
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nnReview Serious Incident Reports relating to matters within

effectiveness of this committee every year. The committee
reviews the scope of these terms of reference and recommends
any changes necessary to the Board on an annual basis.

Corporate governance statements (continued)

Details of attendance by members of the SETC during the

All employees across Palabora are responsible for the

financial year ended 31 December 2012 are set out below:

management of risk in accordance with the Enterprise Risk
Management Standards. This responsibility includes ensuring

01
February
2012

09
May
2012

30
July
2012

28
November
2012

MR Abrahams

A

P

P

P

manage risk effectively, so that it can quickly and confidently

(chairman)
HJ Faul
AW Lennox
C Kinnell

P
P
P

P
P
P

P
P
P

P
P
P

further value and achieve sustained growth.

P = Present

A = Absent with apologies

Name of
director

The members of the Social, Ethics and Technical Committee
as at 31 December 2012 were as follows:
Mr MR Abrahams* (Chairman)

that the necessary controls are in place and effective at all times.
Control assurance will focus on improving Palabora’s ability to
act on opportunities to gain competitive advantage, create

Risk governance
The Board Audit and Risk Committee
The Board has delegated the quality, integrity and reliability
of the Palabora risk management to BARC. BARC, which is
currently made up of three members of the Board, provides
an independent and objective oversight of risk management

Mr C Kinnell

within the business. The committee is responsible for reviewing

Mr HJ Faul

and monitoring our risk management performance, in terms

Mr AW Lennox
* Independent non-executive

of written guidelines established by it, and for providing an
ongoing high level risk assessment to the Board.

Remuneration report

Risk Management Committee/
executive management

The remuneration of non-executive directors is recommended

The strategic operational focus on risk management is the

to the shareholders by the Board after receiving external advice.

responsibility of the Risk Management Committee. The convener

The directors’ fees are approved by the shareholders at the

of the committee is the Managing Director, giving appropriate

annual general meeting of the Company for the following year.

leadership and the necessary support required to drive the risk

Non-executive directors only receive remuneration that is due

management efforts.

to them as members of the Board. Directors serving as members
of the sub-committees only receive attendance fees for serving
on those committees.

Executive management monitors the strategy and overall risk
exposure of the Group on an ongoing basis and implements the
required actions as and when required.

Details on directors’ and management’s remuneration are
disclosed in the Directors’ report on pages 93 to 96.

Palabora Risk Management

Operations Risk and Compliance Committee
The committee works beneath the Risk Management Committee
and comprises nominated risk managers from each department

Effective Risk Management is essential to ensure the successful

of the business. The convener of the committee is the Chief

transformation of Palabora into a focused, high performance

Risk Officer.

mining business. Palabora recognises that risk is an integral and
unavoidable component of its business and is characterised by
both threat and opportunity.
By managing all the risks Palabora faces using a consistent
framework and methodology it will seek and exploit

All of our committees have charters/mandates providing the
necessary guidelines for effective management of risks.
Our core set of risk management processes are consistent with
ISO 31000 and are also in line with our Group standards.

opportunities to create benefits while managing the potential
downsides, therefore ensuring that shareholder value is created
and enhanced.
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Risk management processes

Risk Process
Initiation

Standard 1

Risk
Identification

Standard 2
Standard 3

Risk
Evaluation

Standard 4
Standard 5

Risk Analysis

Risk
Reporting

Risk
Updating

Standard 9
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Standard 6
Standard 7

Risk
Management

Standard 8

Corporate govenance statements (continued)

Top risks for Palabora
Threat

Control

Approach

1.

Lack of buy-in and support from
communities/ business.

Engagements of Chiefs and ad hoc
community interaction forums.

Community engagements/Enterprise
Development project/Business community
engagements.

2.

Non-viability of the smelter.

Pre-feasibility study into smelter viability.
Efficiently running the smelter.

Smelter pre-feasibility studies in progress.

3.

Possible loss of copper production Ensuring that customer share is not lost.
because the acid plant cannot
dispose of surplus acid.

4.

Accidents on the mine due to
equipment failure.

Process hazards and equipment maintenance Continuous review of process safety,
plans/schedules. Goal Zero programme to
equipment maintenance strategy and
ensure employees are always alert.
execute appropriately.

5.
6.

Risk that economic factors
affecting the supply, demand and
prices of Palabora’s products will
adversely affect profitability over
the longer term.

Palabora does not take speculative
positions in forward markets for
commodities or currencies.

Capital expenditure application for acid
load out facility.

The Group researches the world economies
and other supply/demand factors which
impact on the Group’s products.

Palabora receives regular reports from
Rio Tinto, which provide early warning
indicators of changes in economic trends.
The Board considers economic risks at its
annual strategy meeting that coincides
with the annual planning process.
The Executive Committee and the BARC
review results of the annual Internal Control
Questionnaire. BARC minutes are provided
to the Board.

7.

Loss of employee morale.

Effective communication/Employee
engagements (e.g. LeKgotla)

Continuous engagements with employees
(e.g. LeKgotla, Management briefs,
MD Quarterly address).

8.

Risk that political, economic or
social instability.

Continuous monitoring and assessment of
political, social and economic factors that
affect the business.

The Group commissions regular
assessments of the political and economic
situation in countries where there is
considered to be a greater degree of risk of
instability and some countries are deemed
unsuitable for investment due to their high
risk nature. Palabora pays attention to the
press, engage with government, external
relations personnel and have regular
strategic and information sharing meetings.

9.

Risks those major suppliers’
services are unavailable/
interrupted.

The continued supply of monopoly services
and supply (e.g. Power) are secured by way
of long term contracts or by sites becoming
self-sufficient.

Contracts should be flexible enough to
allow service continuation. Alternative
suppliers on procurement data base.
Business Continuity Plan.

Ongoing engagement.
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Threat

Control

Approach

10. Northern infrastructure and
Foskor conveyor may be adversely
impacted by subsidence.

Geo-tech monitoring, mine design, numeric
modelling and rock mass characterisation.

Geo-tech modelling and mine design
and plan.

11. Possible excessive production
of scrap (cropped bar).

Maintenance programme, operating and
maintenance philosophy.

Engage consultants to educate and re-skill
operators and maintainers.

12. System failure that ceases railing.

Maintenance where in control.

Transnet engagement.

13. Inability to produce sufficient
grade due to excessive dilution.

Cave management.

Monthly review of cave management
plan and ensure that it is strictly adhered
to. A weekly report is produced and
distributed to managers and EXCO.
Draw control protocol in place.

14. Risk that local communities
15. regard Rio Tinto, Anglo
and PMC as not providing
sufficient social upliftment.

The company is establishing programmes
directed at legal/regulatory obligations,
along with perceptions around social
Transformation strategy implementation.
upliftment. Compliance with BBBEE
Senior management receives and responds to legislation, Mining Charter and Social
representations during the course of each year and Labour Plan (SLP).
from local communities, their representatives
and other special interest groups.
PMC’s communities’ policy is included in
The Way We Work.

16. May not meet sales targets
Contract, regular stakeholders meetings.
because of outbound rail logistics.

Strengthen Transnet relationship.

17. May not meet sales targets
because of outbound
truck logistics.

Strengthen relationship with truck
providers.

Contract, regular stakeholders meetings.

Critical business interruption risk
performance summary
Palabora’s performance rating on the critical business
interruption risks is conducted by a team of independent
professionals and involves a site visit by the team, reviewing

Rating summary

Previous
survey rating

Current
survey rating

over six hundred touch points. Palabora continues to make

Average of all elements rated

81 per cent

83 per cent

improvements to its business interruption risks. The Group’s

General systems
Plant and equipment
Human element
Maintenance
Assets protection
Response programmes

90 per cent
81 per cent
90 per cent
83 per cent
64 per cent
82 per cent

90 per cent
81 per cent
92 per cent
84 per cent
70 per cent
83 per cent

performance continues to be on a high and is growing in some
areas. All efforts are put in place to improve areas where the
ratings are in the lower range.
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Corporate governance statements (continued)

Events during the year
During 2012, Palabora has seen some of its major threats
occurring. When risks occur, it tests the Group’s control
systems to the very limit and it is only through effective risk
management processes that Palabora are able to manage these
risks as they occur.
nn	With major industrial action by employees of one
of Palabora’s key partners, Palabora managed the risk
and minimised the impact to its operations effectively.
nn	With the Shaft Guide Rope incident, Palabora managed
to put systems back in less time than expected.
It is through these challenging events that Palabora learns more
about managing a particular risk and putting additional control
systems in place to prevent the events from occurring again in
the future.
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Operational

PERFORMANCE

Our focus areas: safety, growth, copper,
magnetite, vermiculite and ore reserves
and mineral resources.
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SAFETY

The Safety of our Employees
Employee safety and health has and always will remain
the number one priority of Palabora. The well-being of our

The operation wide All Injury Frequency Rate (AIFR) was
0.49 in 2012 compared to 0.51 in 2011. Excluding Growth
impact, the AIFR reduces to 0.40.

permanent and contractor work force is a core value and intrinsic

The Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR) was 0.31 compared

to the way we work. It remains a firm belief of management that

to 0.32 in 2011.

HSEQ-related incidences are preventable. Palabora continues
to equip our personnel with the best equipment and training to
prevent injuries from occurring and as part of the drive towards

Safety Initiatives

zero harm a greater emphasis is being placed on personal and

LeKgotla and Beyond

Group safety responsibility.

The current initiative commenced with the involvement

Despite the improved performance and continuous focus
on health and safety, a contractor tragically lost his life
in October, clearly showing that constant vigilance is a

in mass meetings of all employees, i.e. a LeKgotla, during 2011.
A number of suggestions and also concerns were raised during
the LeKgotla and included in these suggestions were:

pre‑requisite for Palabora.

nnImprove and simplify some of our safety systems.

Fatality

nnClarify HIRA.

On 14 October 2012, two contractor employees were conducting

nnSimplify Xiya-Xiya.

core drilling operations during scheduled rebuild activities in
the underground crusher 4 bin. Whilst drilling, standing on top
of levelled and compacted material, there was a sudden and
unexpected collapse of ground and two operators were drawn
into a cavity. Regrettably, one person passed away and another
person was injured.

Safety Performance
During 2012 there were 24 All Injuries (AI’s) reported in the
business compared to 24 AI’s in 2011. There were 14 lost time
injuries (LTI’s) (2011: 15), 9 medical treatment cases (MTC’s)
(2011: 9) and 1 fatality (2011: Nil). Of the 24 AI’s reported, 6 are
attributed to Growth.
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nnClarify what is expected of a Safety Interaction.
nnReduce the time spent on Permit to Work system.
nnHelp and skill up the supervisors to become more effective
in leading their teams in safety.
These suggestions and concerns were included in the Safety
Strategy for 2013, thus it can be said that safety is driven by all.

All Injury Frequency Rate per Department
Area of Responsibility

2012

2011

2010

0.50

0.56

0.28

–

0.76

0.12

Smelter Operations

0.60

0.30

0.93

Smelter Maintenance

0.73

1.36

3.04

–

–

0.46

0.77

–

0.86

–

0.48

–

0.49

0.51

0.48

Mining (Underground and Surface)
Processing (copper and vermiculite)

Asset Management
Refining
Sales and Logistics

Site Safety Acceleration Process (SSAP)

2013 and Beyond

In April 2012, a combined team of Environmental Resource
Management (ERM), employees, unions and employees who
were willing to work as Change Agents, undertook an intensive
Site Safety Acceleration Process. The process consisted of two
weeks of field observations, interviews and safety interactions
followed by reporting to the senior leadership team. This was
followed by two weeks of understanding and interpreting what
was seen in the field, the behaviours that are supportive of safe
work practices and also those behaviours that do not support
employees in working safely. As a final step, solutions were
then developed to ensure a positive step change in our safety
performance during the next 12 to 18 months.

The strategy for 2013 is a combination of the Rio Tinto overall

Goal Zero
During the year, the Goal Zero material was developed through
a consultative process and training commenced during the last
quarter of 2012. The focus is for all Managers, Superintendents
and Supervisors to complete the training by the end of the first
quarter of 2013. Goal Zero training is also mandatory for the
major contractors and seats have been made available to them.
A key aspect, and considered to be a ground-breaking project,
was the development of a “Hazard Park” to provide practical
hazard identification skills.

strategy and the site-specific aspects identified through the
various internal processes, including the input of the general
Workforce through the LeKgotla.
The above highlighted values will be addressed through,
amongst others, the following Primary Focus Areas:
nnLeadership and Culture.
nnEmbedding Health and Safety Standards.
nnInvestigation and Learning.
nnContractor Management.
nnRisk Management.
It is the belief though that 2013 performance will exceed the
standards set in 2012.

PALABORA’S SAFETY STRATEGY
Rio Tinto
Integrated Approach
Adviser
Recommendations
Goal Zero

2013 Goals
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copper

Underground and surface mining

The weighted average draw compliance for 2012 was 78 per cent

On 4 July 2012 a new ore-hoisting-shaft guide rope failed whilst

compared to 85 per cent in 2011.

being installed for operation and the failure resulted in damage

Slag mined decreased by 42 per cent to 659 kt compared to

to the skip loading station on the base of the shaft. Ore hoisting

1,2 Mt in 2011 although the copper grades of slag remained

recommenced on 9 September 2012.

at 1.51 per cent similar to 2011. The copper tap-off tonnage

The underground operation achieved an average production
output of 23 568 tonnes per day in 2012 compared to
29 353 tonnes in 2011. A total of 8.62 Mt were hoisted in 2012,
which is 30 per cent lower than the 10.7 Mt hoisted in 2011. The

increased by 891 per cent at 648 915t in 2012 compared to
65 463t in 2011 to offset the lower underground throughput to
ensure that more material was available for processing in 2012.

year peak tonnage hoisted of 1,051 Mt was realised in June 2012

Processing

at a daily rate of 35.0 kt per day.

Concentrator production

The lower output is attributed to the repairs on the south winder

Underground ore processed was 8 391 Mt at a head grade of

bearing that occurred in the second quarter, the guide rope

0.59 per cent and 21.3 per cent lower than 2011 at 10 666 Mt in

failure during the third quarter and low LHD availability which

line with underground ore hoisted. The portion of underground

occurred in the last quarter of 2012.

ore processed through the autogenous milling circuit improved
to 88 per cent compared to 78 per cent in 2011 mainly due to

Average daily hoisting rates during the first quarter were

implementation of continuous tap off project.

30.3 kt per day which continued steadily at 30.0 kt per day
in the second quarter following repairs on the south winder

The overall recovery and concentrate grade from the

bearing in May. Average daily hoisting rates decreased to 8.0 kt

underground ore, including tap-off material is currently at

per day in the third quarter, following the guide rope failure.

85.4 per cent at 27.8 per cent copper which was relatively the

The copper grade averaged 0.593 per cent in 2012 compared to

same as 2011 performance of 85.3 per cent at 29.2 per cent.

0.653 per cent in 2011.

The material reclaimed from the reverb slag dump contained
12 838 tonnes of copper, which was a decline of 24.8 per cent
of 2011. This is mainly due to the depletion of slag dump in

ORE HOISTED (Mt)

October 2012. The copper head grade remained relatively
unchanged at 1.53 per cent, compared to 1.51 per cent in 2011.
The metallurgical performance of the material improved to
72.8 per cent recovery and 28 per cent copper grade as compared
to 71 per cent and 30 per cent copper grade. The copper in
to 9 347 tonnes of copper in concentrate as compared to 2011.

10,7

11,0

concentrate output from slag material declined by 22.9 per cent
11,3

10,0

11,8

12,0

8,6

8,0
6,0

49 178 tonnes which reflected a 27.6 per cent decline relative to
2011 figure of 67 967 tonnes. The change was largely attributed
to the decline in underground head grade and hoisted tonnes

4,0

as well as depletion of reverb slag and the impact of lower

2,0

concentrator recoveries experienced during the first quarter
of the year.
2012

2011

2010

2009

2008

0
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Total copper in concentrate delivered to the smelter was

4 170 Mt of non-copper bearing Foskor material was processed

REFINED COPPER PRODUCTION (kt)

in 2012 a 5.4 per cent decrease as compared to 2011 mainly
attributed to low ore supply and LAC (crushing contractor) strike
80

60

58

decrease of 31.7 per cent compared to 59 438 tonnes in 2011.
The decrease in the new anodes production was due to low
40

41

firing rates at the reverb furnace as a result of low supply of

59

Production of new copper anode totalled 40 568 tonnes, a

76

Smelter production

69

in the second quarter.

concentrate, the guide rope failure and an industrial action by
truck drivers respectively.
20

Copper production during the first quarter of 2012 was affected
by low concentrate supply from concentrator resulting in low
2012

2011

2008

failure during acid plant re-start after mass 1 screening. Third

2010

0

to blockage of SO2 converter mass 1 catalysts and SO2 blower

2009

smelter efficiencies. Second quarter production dropped owing

and fourth quarter production was affected by the guide rope
failure and truck drivers’ industrial action respectively. During
2012, 2 596 tonnes of contained copper in reverts were sold.

COPPER ROD PRODUCTION (kt)

Sulphuric acid production decreased from 95 995 tonnes to

50

Rod production of 45 426 tonnes was 14 per cent lower than
the previous year of 52 573 tonnes mainly due to various
challenges such as taphole blockage, holding furnace endplate
failure and reduced cathode supply from the Tankhouse. During
2012 11.2 kt of purchased cathode was processed into the rod
plant compared to 8.8 kt in 2011. The average Good Work Rate

37

20
10
0

2012

1 per cent higher than 2011 average.

30

2011

The average current efficiency of 83 per cent achieved was

2010

anodes as a result of the low anode supply from the Smelter.

40

2009

the previous year of 63 105 tonnes due to the low availability of

2008

Cathode production of 40 856 tonnes was 35 per cent lower than

45

Refinery production

52

60

48

anode copper production.

51

67 216 tonnes (drop by 30.0 per cent) in line with decreased

of 78.5 per cent achieved for the year 2012 was 11.4 per cent
higher than the average of 67.1 per cent that was achieved for
the year 2011.
Anode slimes production of 121 tonnes was 35 per cent lower
than the previous year of 185 tonnes in line with the decreased
cathode production in the Tankhouse. Nickel metal production
of 32 tonnes was 64 per cent lower compared to the 89 tonnes
in 2011 due to the three liberators that are currently out of
commission and Tankhouse was switched off for approximately
two months due to the unavailability of anodes.
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growth

Palabora’s future will be determined by our ability to deliver on

The new plant will increase the production and drying capacity

the current growth strategy. Critical to the business strategy are

of magnetite in anticipation of continued trucking activities

our plans to:

and the easing of rail constraints.

nnextend the life of mine by studying a Lift II option and

Historically, we have taken magnetite from the existing

constructing decline ramps from Lift I to Lift II to meet

processing plant and dried it on the magnetite stockpile in

the future construction schedule; and

ponds through a process of evaporation. This gradual method,

nngrowing magnetite exports through ensuring that the
on-site production and logistics infrastructure is sized
appropriately to support greater export volumes of high
grade magnetite; and review future options for downstream
copper processing at Palabora.

which is inherently slow and subject to the forces of nature, has
limited the quantity of high-grade magnetite we can produce
and export. The new plant will enable us to force-dry 6 Mt per
annum to meet export needs. The belt-filter plant is due for
commissioning in the first quarter of 2013.
The Board approved a further R170 million to upgrade the

Lift II

Magnetite Separation Plant. The plant will process and upgrade

We accelerated and subsequently completed our pre-feasibility

the magnetite from a 58 per cent iron oxide grade to 65 per cent

study for Lift II to meet the June 2012 schedule. The study

magnetite grade. These projects combined form part of

has significantly enhanced our understanding of the optimal

Palabora’s strategic growth plan to meet our 6 Mt annual target.

business and technical options for completing Lift I and

Our support for iron beneficiation projects in Palabora continues

transitioning to Lift II. As part of the study we continued

and we are working closely with the IDC and IMBS Iron

targeted exploration drilling to further inform the block model,

technology company to see this become a reality. The third party

providing deeper knowledge of the ore body as well as the most

IMBS plant on our property is now well into the construction

appropriate mine design going forward. Engineering design was

phase and will initially take 80 kt of magnetite per annum

completed to the required Pre-feasibility study (PFS) level.

eventually ramping up to 800 kt. This project will significantly

Our twin heading decline development has progressed well and
we continue to work towards meeting our targeted completion
in Q2 2014. Associated airway development and infrastructure
work is also progressing on schedule. The organisation
associated with decline and infrastructure construction now

advance the beneficiation agenda and ultimately benefit the
communities of Ba-Phalaborwa.

Smelter
Considerable work has been undertaken to assess future

exceeds 250 project personnel.

technical options regarding copper processing at Palabora.

Keeping people safe each and every day is our key priority in

maintain its full compliance with the new South African Air

this project and it is especially pleasing to be able to report that

Quality Regulations (introduced in 2010), before the end of

the safety performance of this team is improving constantly.

2015. We have undertaken a comprehensive study in an attempt

The final quarter of 2012 was characterised by zero injuries and

to understand future options for copper processing at Palabora.

the overall annual performance was better than the benchmark
against similar projects.

The Smelter requires a targeted engineering solution to

We will continue to plan, assess and implement our growth
projects in the year ahead. The road ahead will undoubtedly

Magnetite

present challenges, expected and unexpected, but the strength

The business has been successfully pursuing magnetite

will ensure that we continue on the same successful path as 2012.

expansion in recent years to benefit from market prices and
export demand. In December 2011 the Palabora Board approved
R128 million in capital spend to install a belt filter plant.
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of our collective abilities, and our experience and determination

Sales, marketing and

51

logistics

Copper
Copper prices decreased during 2012, resulting in an average
LME price of USc360,7/lb (R65 943/t), 10 per cent below the
2011 average LME price of USc399,8/lb (R63 145/t). Average
realised copper prices for 2012 were USc365,2c/lb compared
to 2011 of USc394,6/lb.
The Rand depreciated averaging 8.19 to the US dollar compared
to R7.26 in 2011.
Sale of Palabora copper products decreased to 66.1 kt in 2012
from 70.1 kt in 2011, with the majority of the volumes sold into
the domestic market. The lower volumes arose from lower grade
feed from the underground and lower copper production due to
the guide rope failure. Sale of copper rod into the domestic
market stayed constant at 51.4 kt compared to 51.6 kt in 2011.

Magnetite sales are directly tied to the availability of trains from
Transnet Freight Rail and tonnage transported by road
(implemented in December 2011). Palabora continued with its
road transport of magnetite to ports for export, increased road
transport capacity and delivered 1.4 Mt to the Maputo port during
2012. Palabora and Transnet continue to work co-operatively to
expand rail capacity, and Transnet Freight Rail has formally
committed to expand rail capacity to transport magnetite.
Palabora has also embarked on a project with Transnet Freight
Rail to establish a second train loading area and dispatch station
at the disused Mica station approximately 45km from Palabora.
This loading station will have a dispatch capacity of up to 1.5 Mt
per annum. Once Mica is established Palabora will have 6 Mt per
annum rail capacity.

MAGNETITE SALES VOLUMES (kt)

Cathode sales stayed constant at 6.6 kt in 2012 (6.7 kt in 2011)
11.8 kt in 2011.
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COPPER SALES VOLUMES (kt)
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52

48

7

8
7

52

52

43

1 000

2 640

12
40

12

2010

18

2 569

24

2 000

2009

23

15

1 899

60

10

0

2008

80

3 000

2011

100

3 182

4 000

2012

Copper rod

4 892

while revert and other copper products decreased to 7.9 kt from

20

Vermiculite
2012

2011

2010

2009

2008

0

Magnetite
Magnetite prices continued to decrease during 2012 with
average realised prices achieved at R1 000/t, 19 per cent lower
than the average realised 2011 price of R1 233/t. The decrease is
largely attributed to the strong supply side.
Total magnetite sales volumes increased by 54 per cent to
4.9 Mt compared to the prior year with the majority of the
increase attributed to export magnetite, mostly to China and
the Far East. Demand for magnetite from domestic coal washing
plants increased by 8 per cent in 2012 due to lower supply from
alternative supply sources.
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Palabora sold 115 kt of vermiculite during 2012, 29.4 per cent
lower than the 163 kt sold in 2011 mainly due to competition
in the global vermiculite market and the reduced demand as
a result of the European debt crisis. Global demand for larger
grades continues to be strong although supply distribution on
grades is increasing on finer grades. Vermiculite prices have
been reduced to hold onto market share.
Palabora’s mix of vermiculite has continued to shift towards the
fine and superfine grades due to grade constraints and lower
recovery rates from the vermiculite ore body.
Vermiculite sales revenue reduced by 22 per cent to R405 million
in 2012 compared to R518 million in 2011. The decrease is
largely attributed to reduced demand. Vermiculite products are
sold in Europe and North America through two subsidiaries,
Palabora Europe and American Vermiculite.
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ore reserves and mineral
resources overview

Copper and Magnetite
Reserves
The South African Code for the Reporting of Exploration Results,
Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves (SAMREC Code) sets
out the internationally recognised procedures and standards
for reporting of mineral resources and reserves in South Africa.
This code was developed by the South African Institute of Mining
and Metallurgy and is the recommended guideline for reserves

Resources
The resource at Palabora include the Lift II underground mine
expansion resource. The inferred resource reported for Lift II
expands to 380m below the current Lift I. The diamond drilling of
the Lift II resource is now complete. The Lift II resource includes
135.76 Mt at 0.65 per cent Cu and 21.39 Mt of magnetite at
55.12 per cent Fe as an inferred resource. The Fe grades for the
underground magnetite were inferred from the HiTi stockpile.

and resource reporting for companies listed on the JSE Limited.

The magnetite stockpiles at Palabora are also included in the

The reserves and resources were calculated in compliance with

resources. An external consultant conducted an independent

the SAMREC code by the competent person.

evaluation of the stockpiles with regard to resource classification.

The major change to the ore reserve was due to normal reserves
depletion and reserve estimation model calibration which
was undertaken during the course of 2012. A total of 8.6 Mt
at a grade of 0.59 per cent copper were mined during 2012.

The magnetite is stockpiled on two stockpiles called the HiTi
and the LoTi stockpiles. The HiTi stockpiles is an indicated
resource with 192.63 Mt at 55.12 per cent Fe and the LoTi is an
inferred resource with 21.46 Mt at 55.12 per cent Fe.

All underground reserves have been classified as probable

The copper stockpiles were removed from the resource reporting

reserves in line with the current reporting codes.

and moved to mineral inventory due to insufficient data. Drilling

Applying a Cut-off grade of 0,44 per cent Cu resulted in a total
ore reserve as estimated using the Gemcom (PCBC) software was

is being conducted on the stockpiles to obtain more accurate
data; no mining occurred from the stockpiles during 2012.

35.46 Mt at 0.54 per cent of copper which is equivalent to three

The resources were compiled by Hans-Dieter Paetzold.

years Life of Mine.

Hans-Dieter holds an Honours degree in Geology from the

It is estimated that there is a total of 7.45 Mt of magnetite
reserves at grade of 55 per cent Fe, which will be mined in the
next three years.
The reserves were compiled by Nkosikhona Samuel Ngidi.
Sam holds a BSc Honours Degree in Mining Engineering from
the University of the Witwatersrand. He has over ten years’
experience in massive mining methods such as sub-level
caving, front caving and mechanised block caving. Sam is a
registered member of the South African Institute of Mining and
Metallurgy. The business address for Ngidi is: 1 Copper Road,
Phalaborwa, 1390.
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Rand Afrikaans (Johannesburg) University. He has over ten
years’ experience in mining and exploration as well as project
management. He has also worked on platinum, hydrothermal
gold and alluvial diamonds. The business address for Paetzold
is: 1 Copper Road, Phalaborwa, 1390.

Summary of reserves
Proved and probable ore reserves
Tonnes, Mt

Grade, per cent Cu

Recoverable metal, t

Location

Category

2010

2011

2012

2012

2011

2012

2011

2012

Copper
Underground

Proved
Probable

62.18
–

–
48.91

–
35.46

0.61
–

–
0.57

–
0.54

–
234 181

–
160 846

62.18

48.91

35.46

0.61

0.57

0.54

234 181

160 846

Total

Tonnes, Mt
Location

Category

2010

Magnetite

Proved

–

Underground

Probable

–
–

9.66

Total

2011

Marketable material,
Mt

Grade, per cent Fe
2012

2012

2011

2012

2011

2012

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

9.66

7.45

–
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55

9.66

7.45

7.45

–

55

55

9.66

7.45

Mineral resources
Tonnes, Mt

Grade, per cent Cu

Recovered metal, t

Location

Category

2009

2010

2011

2012

2009

2010

2011

2012

2011

2012

Copper
Mixed
Stockpiles

Measured
Indicated
Inferred

0.44
–
–

0.44
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

0.50
–
–

0.50
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

0.44

0.44

–

–

0.50

0.50

–

–

–

–

Total
Copper

Measured

2.23

2.23

–

–

0.61

0.61

–

–

–

–

Oxide

Indicated

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Stockpiles

Inferred

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

2.23

2.23

–

–

0.61

0.61

–

–

–

–

Total

Tonnes, Mt

Grade, per cent Cu

Recovered metal, t

Location

Category

2009

2010

2011

2012

2009

2010

2011

2012

2011

2012

Copper

Measured

3.70

3.70

–

–

0.10

0.10

–

–

–

–

Sulphide

Indicated

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Stockpiles

Inferred

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

3.70

3.70

–

–

0.10

0.10

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Total
Lift II

Measured

–

–

Copper

Indicated

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Underground Inferred

–

–

135.95

135.95

–

–

0.63

0.65 719 447 882 440

Total

–

–

135.95

135.76

–

–

0.63

0.65 719 447 882 440
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Tonnes, Mt

Marketable
product, Mt

Grade, per cent Fe

Location

Category

2009

2010

2011

2012

2009

2010

2011

2012

2011

2012

Magnetite

Measured

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Stockpiles

Indicated

–

–

197.39

192.63

–

–

55.12

55.12

197.39

192.63

Inferred

–

–

21.68

21.46

–

–

57.12

55.12

21.68

21.46

–

–

219.07

214.09

–

–

55.32

55.12

219.07

214.09
–

Total
Lift II

Measured

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Magnetite

Indicated

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Underground Inferred

–

–

21.89

21.39

–

–

55.12

–

21.89

21.39

Total

–

–

21.89

21.39

–

–

55.12

–

21.89

21.39

Notes:
1. The metal recovery factor for the ore reserve and resource is assumed to be 84 per cent
2. No metal recovery for magnetite as magnetite concentrate is being sold as a final product

Vermiculite LOM
The VOD and VODT Vermiculite Deposits

intervals, collected via a cyclone into sample bags, and then split
into approximately 3 kg samples, using a standard riffler.

During the last few years the VOD and VODT deposits were

The samples are sent to the V.O. Laboratory for analysis.

not mined due to priority mining of the PPV deposits. These

The drilling contract was awarded to Mabunda Blasting –

deposits are classified as mineral inventory Category II and

estimated completion date to be the end of 2013.

more knowledge is needed of all the areas. All tonnes and grades
are based on the historical data available.

Some additional work needs to be done on the VODT tailings
dump in order to classify it better. Once the PPV deposit is

Exploration work is currently in progress to determine the

mined out a bulk sample of the VODT will be processed to

volumes, tonnes and grades of the VOD deposit. A total of

better understand the grade, tonnes and density; unfortunately

7 125 metres were drilled for the first phase of the exploration

we cannot process the bulk sample at the current moment as

programme. This boils down to 185 holes at an average depth of

the two deposits differ in yield and the VODT deposit cannot

38 metres (drilling is stopped approximately 5 metres into the

be mixed with the current ROM tonnes. According to historical

phlogopite-zone.) Care is taken not to stop the hole too early,

data there is 9.4 years LOM left in the VOD and VODT areas,

especially in areas where phlogopite floaters are evident within

a better understanding of this deposit will be known once the

the vermiculite zone. The drilled samples will be split in 1-metre

exploration work is complete.

VOD and additional mining areas
Total Tons (Ore and Waste)
VRM Grade (+0.425mm)
Table 1: VOD/VODT
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VOD

VODT

Total

12 948 000

3 205 000

16 153 000

28.5

28.5

28.5

Operational performance (continued)

The PPV Vermiculite Deposit

within the material attribute where the per cent vermiculite

Phalaborwa Mining Company requested Golder Associates to do

for the fractions from 0.425mm were greater or equal than

some additional work on the PPV mining deposits. In order to

10 per cent and the per cent phlogopite for the fractions from

reclassify the deposit in regards to a resource. During this period

0.425mm were smaller or equal than 4 per cent. The rest of the
blocks were assigned as waste.

Golder created a regular block model within Surpac. The dyke
wireframes were assigned to the block model. Ordinary Kriging

Resource model validations were done by visual checking, by

(OK) was used for grade interpolation in the block model

average grade conformance and swath plot checking. With the

excluding the dyke material. The two per cent vermiculite

additional work done on the PPV Vermiculite deposit ore were

fractions, one from 0.180mm and one from 0.425mm and the

reclassified as measured, indicated and inferred. At the current

one per cent phlogopite fraction from 0.425mm were estimated

moment the PPV area is being mined. During 2013 a total of

with OK. A relative density of 2.20 was assigned to the block

1 171 860 tonnes were mined. Of these 674 940 were ore tonnes

model as the RD attribute. For the dyke material a RD of 2.80

and 496 920 were waste tonnes. Indicated in the table below is

was assigned. The ore definition is assigned to the block model

the current resource classification:

Res Class

Volume

Tonnes

% V 180

% V 425

% P 425

RD

Measured
Indicated
Inferred
Grand total

11 058 750
1 540 125
2 044 125
14 643 000

24 329 251
3 388 275
4 497 075
32 214 601

29.40
29.17
26.71
29.00

16.83
18.21
16.71
16.96

0.65
1.20
1.94
0.89

2.20
2.20
2.20
2.20

Table 2: PPV Resource

Dump 4 Vermiculite

Drilling, sampling and modelling needs to be done in order to

This vermiculite stockpile is classified as mineral inventory

reclassify this stockpile.

Category II and more knowledge is needed of all the areas. All
tonnes and grades are based on the historical data available.

At the current moment a blend of 10 per cent of the Dump 4
vermiculite is planned in to the daily ROM tonnes. Tonnes
mined during last year were 166 320.

DUMP 4 (Copper vermiculite dump)

Total Tons (Ore and Waste)
VRM Grade (+0.425mm)

Vol

Total Tonnes

2 492 760

5 484 072

Weighted average grade

28.35

Table 3: Dump 4 Vermiculite Tonnes
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Objective: Minimising the environmental impacts of
Palabora’s operations through optimal usage of resources.

SUSTAINABILITY
STATEMENTS
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ENVIRONMENT

Introduction

in how to manage and limit the impacts on the environment.
This ultimately contributes towards a sustainable approach to

Palabora is committed to reducing its impact on the

the way natural resources are used and undisturbed aspects are

environment in which it operates by managing its activities in an

conserved for future generations.

environmentally responsible manner. Palabora has incorporated
the Rio Tinto Environmental Policies and Standards into the

The following table is a summary of the objectives and targets

site Health, Safety, Environmental and Quality (HSEQ) policy

with actual performances of key indicators and the main

and the standards and procedures that guide the operations

impacts on the environment for 2012:

Objectives

Ceilings
2012

Actual
2012

Ceilings
2013

Air Quality: Reduce SO2 and Dust emissions to atmosphere
nnSO2 annual ground level concentrations at Station 2

15ppb

12.4ppb

<15ppb

nnSulphur Capture (overall)

>77 per cent

74 per cent

>77 per cent

nnKg SO2 emitted to atmosphere per tonne Cu anode
produced

294

477

294

26 460

16 951

24 500

nnTotal tons SO2 emitted to atmosphere during year

<75 µg/m3/day

3 exceedances

<75 µg/m3/day

nnDust level at Station 2 (PM10)

<75 µg/m3/year

34.63* µg/m3/yr

<40 µg/m3/year

*Six-month average

Water Management: Reduce fresh water intake and
increase recycle component

15 Ml/day

14.6 Ml/day

<15 Ml/day

nnFresh water consumption/intake (Ml) – excluding
rainfall impounded

5 475/year

5 441/year

5 475/year

nnRecycled water

30 300 Ml

28 762 Ml

30 300 Ml
Targets

Greenhouse Gas Emissions for Copper Operations;
Reduce GHG emissions per tonne of Cu

2013

nnElectricity consumption (MWh)

<767 481

641 770

<767 481

nnTotal greenhouse emissions (tonnes CO2-e)

<1 089 713

831 281

<965 106

nnTotal energy use (GJ)

<6 671 217

4 846 981

<5 835 855

nnEnergy Efficiency Value (GJ per kt new Cu cathode;
2008 is the baseline year)

<68.5

118.65

<82.6

Non-mineral Waste Management: reduce amount of waste
to be disposed and increase avoidance, reduction, re-use
and recycling strategies

See table 1

See table 1

See table 1

on page 64

on page 64

on page 64

Land Stewardship: Keep land disturbances to a minimum
and rehabilitate areas once available

Disturbed: 0 ha
Rehabilitated:
4 ha

Disturbed: 0 ha
Rehabilitated:
0 ha signed off

Disturb: 4 ha
Rehabilitate:
16 ha to sign off

Category III – 0
Category IV – 0

Category III – 1
Category IV – 0

Category III – 0
Category IV – 0

<15

13

<15

Retain ISO 9001
and ISO 14001
Certification

Retained ISO 9001
and ISO 14001
Certification

Retain ISO 9001
and ISO 14001
Certification

Others
nnNot to have significant environmental incidents
nnPublic complaints: Minimise impact on local community
nnISO 14001 certification: Ensure a credible operational
Environmental Management System is in place as part
of an Integrated SHEQ MS
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Air Quality
Sulphur Dioxide (SO2)
During the Copper smelting process, sulphur contained in
the Copper concentrate is transformed from a solid to the gas
Sulphur Dioxide (SO2).
Historically Palabora had been able to control its SO2 ground
level concentration and emissions, however, during 2008/2009
it became evident that maintaining this performance was
challenging for the ageing infrastructure, which required
above normal maintenance and replacement – see Figure 1.
2012 brought a significant, positive change in the SO2
performance compared to previous years. Legal limits were met
after many years of poor performance leading to the exceedances
previously incurred. The capturing of the waste product and offgases from the smelting process has stayed similar to the 2011
average, but was still an improvement on the 2008 and 2009
capture (see Figure 2).
Palabora’s main aim is to ensure that SO2 emissions to the
environment remain below the Department of Environmental
Affairs (DEA) annual ambient guideline limit of 19ppb.
An internal limit of 15ppb has been set by Palabora and there is
a contingency plan in place to ensure that the above DEA limit
is adhered to. Some of the measures include curtailing or even
halting production when conditions require it.

SO2 GLC
Station 2

Internal Ceiling

16

12

13

13
11
2006

6

5

11

10

2005

13

14

14

Mean (ppb)

15

15

16

20

2012

2011

2010

2009

2008

2007

2004

2003

2002

2001

0

Figure 1: Sulphur dioxide ground level concentrations at Station 2 on boundary fence
south of Phalaborwa town
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TOTAL SULPHUR CAPTURE
Actual

Target Sulphur Capture
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72
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56
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66

69
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72

68
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20
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2003

0

Figure 2: TOTAL SULPHUR CAPTURE
The 2012 average of 74 per cent (see Figure 2) was a slight

*

decrease on the 2011 performance. The focus in 2013 remains
to ensure better control on emissions. The three months of no
production due to the shaft rope failure and transporters strike
was reflected in the lower amount of 16 951 tonnes of SO2 that
was emitted to the atmosphere in comparison to 27 701 tonnes

and hence prolong ducting life.
*

Refurbished/Replaced sections of fibre glass ducting.

*

Replaced hammers in the reverb precipitator.

*

Replaced effluent tank and repair sump – removed
and replaced concrete floor and acid proofing.

emitted during 2011.
An unplanned shutdown took place in the Smelter together with
the planned annual acid plant shutdown shortly after the shaft
rope failure incident occurrence. Some planned shutdowns

*

Major repairs on wet mist precips.

*

Repaired blower motor casings.

*

Replaced blower motor vane controller, important for
drawing gas from converters to acid plant.

for 2013 were brought forward to make use of this stop of
production. Some of the activities that took place during the

Installed new bellows in ducts to allow movement

*

Dressed and balanced blower motor impeller,

shutdown included:

also important for drawing gas from converters to

nnThe length of the downtime in production allowed for the

acid plant.

major refurbishment of the reverberatory furnace hearth,
replacement of sections of the roof, the rebuild of the
burner wall and repair/replacement of burner tips. Other
aspects of the reverb furnace were dealt with that do not
have a direct bearing on SO2 emissions;

*

Replaced roof structure on SO2 converter.

The daily guideline limit of 48ppb was exceeded three times
between ambient monitoring Station 2 (Molengraaf Street south
of Phalaborwa town) and Station 6 (light industrial area in
Phalaborwa) during 2012. This is a substantial decrease when

nnBoth of the waste heat boilers (WHB) had the annual

compared to 2011, when 32 daily exceedances were recorded.

pressure tests and legal inspections were conducted;

Various factors contributed to this improvement, such as the

nnA number of generating bank tubes were replaced in both

replacement of equipment, doing routine and unscheduled

WHBs that were over 40 years old; and
nnIn the Gas Handling and Acid Plant the following
was done:
*

Replaced several sections of corroded steel ducting,
complete with lagging and cladding.

*
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Installed spade boxes at the plenum.

maintenance and improved operational control.

Sustainability statements (continued)

TONNES OF CO2 EMITTED PER TONNE OF Cu CATHODE PRODUCED
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Figure 3: Tonnes of Carbon Dioxide emitted per tonne of copper cathode produced
As Palabora continually strives to improve its impact on
ambient air quality by means of improved engineering
methods, maintenance and administration of its processes,
various improvements are planned for 2013. Improvements
include conducting opportunity maintenance when possible to
repair gas leaks. Some focus on the efficiency of the converter
precipitators will be given to improve on the dust removal in
this gas and dust stream. Operational controls will also continue
to be the focus to eliminate and minimise emissions, which
will continue to make a significant difference in decreasing the
number of exceedances of legal limits.

Climate Change and Greenhouse Gases
Adhering to Rio Tinto policies, Palabora is committed to reducing
its impact on climate change by assessing and reducing its
greenhouse gas emissions as opportunities arise.
A total of 831 281 tonnes of CO2 were released to atmosphere
in 2012, whilst 936 706 tonnes of CO2 were released into the
atmosphere during 2011. A decrease in Copper production
compared to 2011 resulted in poorer efficiencies in the fossil
fuels used in the smelting and refining processes. As in 2011,
south pyroxenite ore was treated for Foskor through crushing
and milling during the year. Less fossil fuel was used in the
smelting part of the Copper process, whilst more fuel was used
during Copper rod production. The desired efficiencies for the
fuels used (see Figure 3) were unfortunately not met.
As a result of the indirect purchase of electricity from our
electricity supplier Eskom (see Figure 4), 351 375 tonnes of
CO2 were released and a further 24 142 tonnes from electricity
generated and used on-site. The balance was due to the use of
various fossil fuels such as coal, diesel, LPG and heating fuels
used in the smelting and drying processes (see Figure 5).
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Figure 4: CO2 emitted as a result
of Electricity used
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Figure 5: CO2 emitted as a result
of fossil fuels used
Figure 6 shows the total energy use per tonne of Copper
produced and in particular the decline in efficiency of energy
use since 2007:
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ENERGY USE PER TON OF Cu PRODUCED
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Figure 6: Energy use per ton of copper produced

Ambient Dust
Dust is generated throughout the mining process. Several
programmes have been put in place to either prevent dust from
becoming airborne or to alleviate the environmental impact
of dust.

of the respirable component of ambient dust blown towards
the community. Palabora’s dust monitoring equipment suffered
a few failures and breakdowns during 2012 resulting in only
50 per cent data availability. The average levels recorded from
June to December 2012 was 34.63 µg/m3/day, which is below
the Ambient Air Quality Standard Annual Average of 50 µg/m3.

Vermiculite waste material has been proven to be an adequate

During this time three exceedances of the 24-hour Ambient Air

growth medium where topsoil is absent. Consequently, the

Quality Standard (120 µg/m3/day) occurred.

tailings dam walls have been capped with this material. Water
carts are used to spray gravel and haul roads on a daily basis so
as to reduce the dust from these roads whilst dust suppressant
is sprayed on inactive tailings dam areas prior the onset of the
August to October windy season. The growth in the magnetite
business involved the hauling of magnetite over a few kilometres
and dust control was very well managed on these haul roads.
The vermiculite mining haul road was applied with dust
suppressant which also proved to be successful in reducing the
amounts of dust normally generated from this source.
Dust control systems such as electrostatic precipitators,
extraction fans, bag houses and scrubbing towers are in place in

The community complaints received during 2012 were mostly
regarding dust or noise. One was specifically related to high dust
levels during starting, mainly in the third and fourth quarters of
2012. During the three months that production ceased after the
guide rope failure, no deposition took place at various locations
in the Tailings Dam Complex. This exacerbated the problem
by increasing the amount of dry tailings material that could
become airborne.
A dust fall-out monitoring programme commenced in June
2009. The objectives of the monitoring programme are:
nnto determine the exposure of populations in the

the process plants and the efficiency thereof is ensured through

residential, agricultural and industrial settings near

the regular maintenance and testing of system effectiveness.

Palabora’s operations;

The refurbishment of some of these systems at the Smelter
complex was started during 2011 and completed in 2012.

nnto identify threats to natural ecosystems;

Historically, the main dust source is the tailings dam complex.

nnto determine compliance with local, provincial and

After reviewing the Air Quality Dispersion Model results, haul
roads have also been identified as another very significant dust
source at Palabora. Ambient dust levels such as Particulate
Matter 10 micron (PM10) are monitored on a continuous basis at
Station 2, which is downwind of this source on the southern end
of the residential areas of Phalaborwa. This gives an indication
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national standards;
nnto provide objective inputs for air quality management,
both for the Company and Government;

Sustainability statements (continued)

nnto aid source apportionment; and for trend qualification, to
identify future problems or progress against management/
control targets.

Waste Management
At various stages in the mining and beneficiation process mineral
and non-mineral waste is generated. Palabora aims at managing

Several Stockholm gauges have been placed at various locations

waste generated in an environmentally responsible manner

within Palabora Mining Company and the Kruger National Park.

in order to prevent pollution, reduce the potential impact of

In addition to these gauges, results from another four gauges are

waste on the environment and follow the waste management

shared with Foskor. The stations are categorised as background,

hierarchy for wastes generated, in order to attain the maximum

residential, industrial and source stations. The areas of concern

revenue out of Palabora’s waste streams. The aim is to do this

are onsite, namely near the Smelter complex and the Vermiculite

at the lowest cost to the environment, while also capacitating

Plant, occasionally the Tailings Dam Complex. Magnetite also

people to benefit from waste-related projects. Mineral waste

had to be strictly controlled for the same reason of particles

volumes are directly linked to production rates; therefore no

becoming airborne and resulting in community complaints.

targets are set for this waste stream. Mineral waste is however

Additional gauges were erected mid-2012 to monitor Magnetite

managed according to Palabora’s policies and procedures which

source and receiving environment at Hans Merensky Estate

are, in turn, governed by national legislation and guided by

near the houses on the southern area of the estate closest

ISO 14001. Targets for recovery rates for respective minerals are

to the operations.

captured in other reports.
Waste has been classified in terms of type and risk, and an

Alien Plant Control

entrenched waste management programme resulted in the

Palabora has an extensive alien plant eradication programme

following waste streams being either reduced, recovered,

which has been implemented for over 20 years, and the

recycled or disposed during 2012:

maintenance programme has been effective in keeping
the spread of alien plants in check, although there has been
increased pressure on natural systems by alien invasive plants.
The need for sustainable control of invasive alien plants is a
legislative requirement with multiple benefits for sustainability
beyond environmental protection. The control of invasive alien
plants provides a unique opportunity for enabling employment
and

business

development

opportunities

to

previously

disadvantaged communities. Eleven species listed as Category 1

nnProcess waste such as tailings and waste rock is quantified
and deposited in designated areas in order to facilitate
possible future use.
nn837 000 tonnes of slag was reprocessed in 2012 which has
reduced the size of the slag dump. Only 164 000 tonnes of
‘new’ slag was produced during the same period.
nn255 540 litres of used oil was recovered from the operation

species in the Conservation of Agricultural Resources Act and

in 2012 and converted into a medium oil fuel which was

also the National Environmental Management Bio-diversity

used as poling fuel in the Smelter.

Act, are controlled on site. The eradication programme is
implemented according to management sectors focusing on the
water courses where higher levels of infestation are recorded.
The most prominent alien species that are currently being
eradicated on site is the smelter bush. Other invasive alien
plants have also been identified as serious threats for continued
availability of water resource and bio-diversity.

Alien Plant Committee, which is a collective forum, including
from

the

surrounding

industries,

registered contractor at a nationally approved H:H landfill
site. This waste stream mainly comprised used grease,
florescent tubes (now boxed rather than crushed), asbestos
and chemical waste from the laboratories on site.
nn3 079 tonnes of clean scrap metal was recovered for

Palabora continued to be an active member of the Phalaborwa
representatives

nnHazardous waste was drummed and disposed of by a

local

recycling in 2012. The increased volume was due to the
demolition of the ZBS Plant.
nnDomestic waste arising from the operation was disposed of

government, Provincial and National authorities, the Kruger

onto a registered GSB – landfill site (General Waste, Small

National Park as well as non-governmental organisations.

Landfill, no significant leachate produced). Waste reporting

A collective approach to alien plant eradication in the greater

to governmental authorities continued.

region and the sharing of information results on more effective
eradication methods of undesired plants is done at this forum.
Palabora chaired the Alien Plant Committee in 2012.
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nnWood waste was recovered for the purpose of further
beneficiation by means of charcoal making and the repair
of wooden pallets.
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nnSewage effluent is treated at three registered effluent
treatment plants situated on site and is recycled back to
the process via the return water tailings dam.

Mineral Waste

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Copper tailings (Mt)

13.40 11.10 11.40 11.57
237

164

Vermiculite waste rock (kt) 2 595 1 730 1 056 1 524

494

Slag (kt)

nnA soil remediation farm was constructed in 2012 to deal
with soil contaminated with hydrocarbons.
nnAn additional waste management facility was

9.19

213

205

190

Water Management

commissioned in order to deal with large scale

Palabora has a closed loop water circuit, i.e. all fresh and

operational wastes.

mine effluent water used is reused/recycled resulting in zero

nnPlastic recovered from the Palabora landfill site was

discharge from the mine. Five-point source discharges were

recycled. Satellite plastic and tin recycling stations were

reported during the year (18 January, 28 February, 30 March,

also set up on site to further boost recovery volumes.

11 June and 31 July). The January discharge was as a result of
flood conditions (189mm rain in two days) which could not be

nnBatteries and printer cartridges are collected from satellite

contained. All events were reported to the Department of Water

stations on site for recycling.

Affairs (DWA); 421mm of rainfall was recorded at Palabora

nnPaper and cardboard recycling continues.

during the 2012 calendar year.

nnWaste awareness training is ongoing with visible effects

Compliance reporting continues as per Palabora’s Water Use
Licence requirements. Palabora is currently operating the East

becoming evident in the operations.

Tailings Storage Facility, which is a buttress to support the

nn Various community projects were launched ranging from

Main Tailings facility. It was built as a matter of urgency since

clean-ups to bin donations to schools in order to help ensure

the risk was identified that the Main tailings facility could fail

a healthier environment in the Ba-Phalaborwa region.

due to a potential seismic event. This facility is in the process

Palabora compiled an Integrated Waste Management Plan for
its operations during 2012. This plan will be instrumental in
the acquisition of an integrated Waste Management Licence and
the further successful management of wastes on the Palabora

of obtaining a Water Use Licence. The new application for a
licence was submitted in December 2011. Palabora is awaiting
authorisation of the facility from the Department of Mineral
Resources so that this can be submitted to the DWA in order for

site during 2013.

them to complete the application process.

The plans for 2013 are waste tyre and conveyor belt management,

Palabora was able to maintain a reduced level of fresh water

e-waste management, management of contaminated sites,
further beneficiation of different waste types, i.e. ash from
the boilers. An extended community involvement programme
regarding responsible waste management will be one of
the focuses.

intake from the local water board in 2012 compared to 2011,
and was marginally below the 15 Ml target set for 2012.
14.6 Ml/day (see Figure 7) was used in 2012. This excludes
on average 2.57 Ml/day exported to the Hans Merensky
Estate for irrigation purposes. Additional water for the Foskor

Table 1: N
 on-mineral waste disposal and recycling
Non-mineral Waste

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012
actual*

2013
targets

287

210

223

292

255

325

Wood recycled (t)

48

36

34

61

53

60

Metal recycled (t)

2 673

2 245

2 722

4 774

3 079

2 700

Domestic waste (t)

565

439

370

331

327

300

Hazardous waste (t)

42

59

59

49

69

50

2 836

1 303

3 000

2 161

1 018

2 000

Oil recycled (kl)

Ash (t)

* Waste volumes for 2012 were affected in one way or the other by the 3-month down time of the production process at Palabora. Boiler ash volumes for
example were less as boilers were on idle for a long period, while less oil was recycled due to heavy machinery not running for the full production year.
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circuit was used to ensure water quality
requirements for the Foskor process were met.
The total fresh water import component for
2012 was 5 441 Ml with an additional 2 281.65 Ml
of impounded rainfall. An additional 4 640 Ml of
poor quality water from groundwater dewatering and
seepage capture was also used in the process. A total of
28 762 Ml was recycled from the main return water tailings dam
in the various processes that can use the poorer quality water,
below Palabora’s recycled water target for 2012 of 30 330 Ml as
seen in Figure 8.
The project of introducing chillers underground to provide
the required cooling commenced in 2011 and the first of two
chillers is expected to be complete by end quarter one 2013.
The underground re-use scheme consists of a 3.5MW(R) water

a class E by the end of 2013. The 2012 survey found Loole Creek

chillier and a 3MW Re-Use Bulk Air Cooler. The system operates

still to be a class F.

on a closed loop water circuit with only top up water required
to compensate for evaporation. Water top up will come from the
underground reclaim water circuit. This system will take return
air from the crushers and conveyors and cool the air as well as

Palabora has aimed to improve the water quality in Loole Creek
with the following projects:
nnThe 2010 and 2011 project to excavate contaminated

removing dust. This air will be re-introduced into sector 4 to

material along pre-determined sections of the Loole Creek

cool the mine, remove dust and diesel fumes. This will eliminate

stream system continued into 2012. The progress was

the need for extra raw water being fed to the underground

delayed by earlier than normal rains in summer and will

operations for cooling.

now most likely only be completed during the winter/drier

The development of a solute model was initiated late in 2012
and is planned to be complete in 2013.

months of 2013.
nnIn 2012 the first construction began on the Loole
Creek tie-in project. The aim of this project is to cut off

Palabora has a water-related ecological target of improving the

contaminated water inputs into Loole Creek, so as to

quality of the water in Loole Creek so as to improve the habitat

improve the quality of the water in the system. The bulk

and biotic integrity in the following manner: SASS 5 (Aquatic

of the work for this project will take place and be

Macro-invertebrate Assessment) to be improved from a class F to

completed in 2013.
Actual

Target
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0

FIGURE 7: THE HISTORICAL FRESH WATER INTAKE AT PALABORA
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FIGURE 8: THE HISTORICAL RECYCLED WATER AT PALABORA

Bio-diversity
Sound management of bio-diversity continues to be important
to corporate enterprises in general and to the mining industry
in particular. In recognition of this importance, Rio Tinto has
outlined a Bio-diversity Strategy (2008) which includes a goal
of having a net positive impact on bio-diversity and ensuring
sustainable development outcomes through the integration of
conservation considerations with social decision-making.

To assist Palabora with the ongoing improvement and integrity
of the specialist input into the BAP, collaboration with the
South African Environmental Observation Network (SAEON)
is ongoing. SAEON has a mandate to co-ordinate and support
long-term in-situ environmental observation systems to respond
to emerging environmental issues and therefore lends itself
to the long-term nature and scientific complexity required in
the management of bio-diversity at Palabora. Various baseline
studies have been completed in 2012 of which some of the new

Palabora Mining Company is committed to:

studies are listed here:

nnthe identification of bio-diversity values impacted by

nnDung beetle surveys on disturbed and undisturbed areas.

our activities;
nnthe prevention, minimisation, and mitigation of
bio-diversity risks throughout the business cycle;
nnresponsible stewardship of the land being managed;
nnthe identification and pursuit of bio-diversity
conservation opportunities;
nnthe involvement of communities and other constituencies
in our management of bio-diversity issues.
To this effect Palabora is currently reviewing the Bio-diversity
Action Plan (BAP) to provide an updated bio-diversity context.
This is to re-identify key bio-diversity features and assess
relevant threats/opportunities, as well as commitments to key
objectives and targets. The current action plan to address how
Palabora will mitigate these threats is part of this review. The
review process would strengthen the focus on priority areas and
activities which, in turn, would provide a new direction for biodiversity management at Palabora.
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nnSyenite koppie vegetation.
nnRiparian vegetation along the Olifants River.
nnWoody and herbaceous studies across the whole mining
lease area.
Palabora continues to be involved in the Ground-Hornbill project
where a nesting site has been successfully used by a family of
Southern Ground-Hornbills to encourage the population growth
of the red data species in the area. The Southern GroundHornbill family group returned to the nest again in 2012 and
is raising their seventh chick in consecutive years. Groundbreaking research was done in 2012 by the Endangered Wildlife
Trust (EWT) at Palabora by digitally recording the whole process
from nest establishment, laying of eggs, what happens to the
second chick that does not normally survive past a few days,
feeding by the extended family and the fledgling leaving the
nest. This research revealed some new information about this
species, in particular what is fed to the chick and how the food

Sustainability statements (continued)

is ‘prepared’ by the adult. This information is helping those
that hand rear the second chick that is recovered as an egg at
an early stage. The egg harvested from Palabora has hatched
and is successfully been hand reared at a centre where this is
regularly done. The current research is to be continued in 2013
by radio monitoring movements of a Southern Ground-Hornbill.
Previous years chicks, now sub-adults, continue to actively take
part in feeding the latest addition to the family.

Rehabilitation
6.75 hectares of land was rehabilitated and seeded in 2012. The
majority of this area was at the Main Tailings Storage Facility.

Environmental Management System
Palabora has a well-established Environmental Management
System (EMS) developed in line with the requirements of the
ISO 14001 standard. On an annual basis, the mine confirms
its certification status through independent external auditors.
The mine has since retained certification and continually
improving the systems by addressing areas of concern raised
by the auditors. The EMS forms the basis of implementing the
HSEQ Policy. Key to the success of implementation, effectiveness
and continual improvement of the systems are addressed in the
form of reviews conducted on an annual basis. Areas requiring
improvement are addressed in the form of corrective actions
included in the mine environmental management plans.

Environmental Training and Awareness
In terms of general awareness for employees and contractors,
ongoing induction programmes and awareness campaigns
were held at the mine. Palabora also revised its environmental
management training material which is included as part of the
mine induction programme for new employees and contractors.
Some of the key awareness campaigns conducted at Palabora

Incidents

and neighbouring communities include:

A total of 74 environmental incidents were reported during
2012, which compared to the previous year is similar. Three
of these incidents were related to high sulphur dioxide levels
(daily exceedances of the 48ppb guideline limit for ambient
conditions) in the community as measured by the strategically
positioned monitoring stations. The root causes to these
incidents are covered under the Air Quality – Sulphur Dioxide
section. The balance of the incidents reported in 2012 comprise
dirty water releases into the environment, tailings spills,
hydrocarbon, waste sorting and acid spills. These were all
promptly stopped and cleaned up, limiting the impact on the
environment. Water samples were taken to assess impacts of
dirty water on clean water streams.

nnWater Week – 2012 saw Water Week making a big splash

Most of the non-gas incidences were caused by mechanical
failure, valve failure, commencement of activities,
miscommunication between operational staff, changes in
planning that complicated gas strengths and flows, some poor
adherence to procedures that can be rectified with retraining
and lastly abnormal storm events.

nnRio Tinto Birding Event – Much the same spirit was shown

Palabora Mining Company Limited
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in terms of raising awareness with flyers and a water week
competition. One of the local schools won the competition
with their poster designed for water conservation and were
awarded a water tank and watering system for the school’s
existing vegetable garden.
nnArbour Week – Palabora planted trees at various divisions
across the operations during arbour week and also
introduced a tree planting competition by distributing
Sclerocarya birrea (Marula tree) seeds to employees to plant
at home and submit the successful saplings for planting in
the community.

as in previous years in the 13th Rio Tinto Birdwatching
event. The event took place on the mine lease of Palabora
in partnership with Rio Tinto. Due to budget constrains
local schools were not included in the 2012 birding day.
A total of 145 bird species were spotted on the day.
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Community Engagement

Closure Cost Estimate

Palabora engages with a number of external stakeholders

The Closure Cost Estimate component of the Closure

who are either interested or affected by Palabora’s activities.

Management Plan in 2012 and the estimated Present

Our stakeholders’ engagement process allows us to understand

Closure Obligation (PCO) cost for direct costs as at December

the concerns, needs and priorities of the communities associated

2012 was R686 million where the Total Projected Cost (TPC)

with the operations as well as regulators’ expectations. Palabora

estimate is R726 million. The revised Life of Mine plan which

is an active member of the Phalaborwa Environmental

projects the last quarter of 2015 as the date for the Copper stream

Community Forum, which is a collective forum, including

to cease operating was used for these calculations. Employee

Foskor and Bosveld Phosphate. The purpose of this forum is for

and social benefits are excluded from the DMR calculations.

community members to voice their concerns regarding mining’s
possible impact on the Environment and the community.
Two meetings were held during 2012 and minutes are available
of these meetings.

Closure Management Planning
Palabora’s aim is to prepare for closure in order to leave behind
a safe and environmentally acceptable site.
The 2012 document reports on the findings of the assessment of
the closure cost associated with the mining activities of Palabora.
This assessment has been conducted in accordance with the
“DMR (formerly the DME) Guideline” (Guideline Document for
the Evaluation of the Quantum of Closure-Related Financial
Provision Provided by a Mine).
The assessment is based on the closure management measures
as presented in the “Closure Management Plan for Palabora

Additional infrastructure constructed during 2012 was added
to the calculations summarised below. This included the new
ladies’ change houses, the magnetite belt filter plant, extended
magnetite roads and weigh-bridge and the new barge pumping
system. Other changes that reduced the liability included the
following:
nnthe demolition and preparation of the zbs plant area for
the new iron beneficiation plant; and
nnthe removal and reprocessing of 837 kt of slag reducing the
size of the slag dump significantly.
The financial asset in the Rehabilitation Fund as at
31 December 2012 was R612 million (current market value).
The PCO estimate was updated to reflect December 2012 money
terms and is as follows:
R’m

Mining Company (Palabora)” in 2012 (SRK Report 331465/10).
The volumes used in calculating the costs were obtained from

nnRehabilitation and infrastructure removal

the “Palabora Mining Company Closure Management Plan 2012

nnGeneral surface rehabilitation

69.4

Update” (SRK Report 331465/DMR/2012). It should be noted

nnPost-closure monitoring and maintenance

92.9

that some of the volumes have had to be re-calculated to fit the

nnSpecialist studies

41.6

“broad brush” rates used in the DMR method.

nnPreliminary and general

31.1

nnContingency

51.9

nnVAT (14 per cent)

84.3

Total
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314.7

685.9
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LOCAL ECONOMic DEVELOPMENT

projects

Local Economic Development Projects
Palabora through the Palabora Foundation (“Foundation”), is
responsible for the development of a model to support local

nnImplementing local economic development (LED)
projects as required by the mines Social and Labour
Plan commitments.

economic and supplier development in Ba-Phalaborwa and to

The Enterprise Development department has adopted an

adopt a proactive strategy of change to foster and encourage

integrated, multi-disciplinary approach to creating more

Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment (BBBEE) and

equitable economic growth in Ba-Phalaborwa and the Limpopo

transformation at the tiers of ownership, management, skills

Province, aimed at poverty alleviation through pro-poor

development, employment equity, procurement and rural

economic growth. It involves supporting sustainable economic

development in line with the requirements of the relevant

activities in our municipality and integrating the second

legislation.

economy into the first economy.

Objectives for local economic development:

The Foundation is also charged with enhancing local economic

nnSupport and enable advancement of youth, women and
disabled people to actively participate in local economic
development programmes;
nnCreate long-term jobs;
nnStimulate sector-focused economic growth;
nnStrengthen the cohesion between small enterprises; and
nnParticipate in strategic discussions with the Ba-Phalaborwa
Municipality on the formulation of local economic
development programmes and plans.
This entails continuous interaction and evaluation of progress
made in enabling and initiating tangible economic development
projects together with Ba-Phalaborwa Municipality and local
communities. The following programmes have been implemented
to meet the abovementioned strategic objectives:

development enabling environment and is assisting the
municipality to develop Ba-Phalaborwa to achieve the vision of
it becoming the “The best tourism destination in Limpopo by
2020”. This, in turn, will assist and support the broad economic
development initiatives of the municipality and capacitate
historically disadvantaged women and youth through skills
development programmes.
Enterprise Development achieved the following objectives:
nnPromoting local and regional economic development goals;
nnAlleviating poverty and assisting those who are
disadvantaged; and
nnPromoting democracy and development of civil society.
Small businesses still struggle to grow in local economies.
This poses many challenges for local economic development in
municipalities.

a) Enterprise development and tourism

The Foundation has also assisted the municipality in identifying

The Foundation works with Palabora to implement the

various community projects and assisted with implementing

requirements of the BBBEE scorecard. The Foundation also

the integrated development plan (IDP) and LED projects in the

assists the mine to meet the requirements of the Social and

area. Some of the projects were identified in the 2011/2012 IDP

Labour Plan and its Palabora Closure Statement, in line with

document and the Foundation provided them with support.

the Minerals and Municipal Legislation to stimulate local
economic development in the Ba-Phalaborwa municipality
(“municipality”).
Enterprise Development is accountable for:
nnEco-tourism projects;

Ba-Phalaborwa Municipality IDP
and LED meetings
The Foundation’s Enterprise Development (ED) department
works very closely with both the LED and IDP departments
within the municipality.

nn30TEN+5 Community projects (see page 77 for details); and
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The Foundation’s ED department follows the policy of the

The risk of developing tuberculosis (TB) is estimated to be

Provincial Growth and Development Strategy, and the LED

between 20 to 37 times greater in people living with HIV among

business plan that it follows is the official IDP of the municipality.

the non-HIV infected group. The World Health Organisation

LED is a concept that comprises a series of programmes such as

(WHO) recommended 12 TB/HIV collaborative activities,

tourism, infrastructure, sanitation, housing and water.

including the “Three Is” (Intensified case finding, Isoniazid

The strategic objectives of the Foundation’s work in this area are:
nnTo add value to the activities of the Ba-Phalaborwa LED

Preventive Therapy and Infection Control) for HIV/TB. WHO has
also developed and promoted tools and guidelines to support
countries in improving their TB/HIV collaborative action in

Forum and other subsidiary LED fund-raising initiatives,

order to achieve universal access to HIV and TB prevention, care

to promote BEE businesses and to integrate them into the

and treatment services for all people in need.

mainstream economy; and
nnTo assist the municipality to draft business plans for LED

Create passionate performance and driven winning
teams

projects to attract LED funding and Limpopo Province local

We have developed an Employee Assistance Programme (EAP)

government funding.

policy for the organisation and have communicated this

The IDP is a planning tool through which the municipality
is able to commit resources and measure its performance
in line with constitutional requirements and the relevant
legislative framework. The adoption of the 2011/2012 IDP
is an undertaking by the municipality to:
nnImplement the IDP as the principal strategic planning
instrument; and
nnAdhere to the vision, mission, values and objectives of the
municipality.

b) Community Health
Ba-Phalaborwa HIV and TB Comprehensive Care: Management,
Treatment and Support Programme
The purpose of the programme is to use an effective management
system to minimise the impact of HIV, TB and Sexually
Transmitted Infections (STIs) in the community. This is achieved
by educating communities to modify their social behaviour, and
monitor incidences and trends in order to measure the impact
of the programme.
There is a wide variation in HIV and TB prevalence across
age, gender, socio-economic status and geographical location.
Whilst STIs such as syphilis have decreased, the prevalence of

service effectively to employees. It has been well-utilised by
employees with fifty-nine employees receiving relevant services
during the year.
Partners
We have signed Memorandums of Agreement with Family and
Marriage Association of SA (FAMSA) and South African National
Parks for sharing of knowledge, human and material resources.
We have received a contribution of R5 000 from Cleanco
Company (local) for World AIDS Day as part of their social labour
responsibility.
Northlite donated chairs and a colour printer to Lesedi
Drop in Centre.
The Department of Health – Maphutha L. Malatji Hospital –
provides medicinal supplies and related services to all needy
clients and continues to meet this high demand.

Programme implementing partners
nnBa-Phalaborwa Traditional Authorities and communities
nnDepartment of Health and Social Development
nnDepartment of Agriculture

herpes simplex, which is a co-factor in the acquisition for HIV, is

nnDepartment of Home Affairs

still evident in many sectors of the population.

nnDepartment of Education
nnDepartment of Safety and Security
nnDepartment of Defence
nnLepelle Northern Water
nnLocal and District municipalities
nnCommunity-based organisations
nnSABC Thobela FM radio station
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nnPhalaborwa Community Radio Station

Highlights

nnANOVA Health Institute

nnOne local church committed itself to campaign for

nnCleanco Company
nnFAMSA
nnSouth African National Parks
The Ba-Phalaborwa Comprehensive HIV and AIDS Programme
are funded by the following donors:
nnPalabora Mining Company Ltd
nnFoskor (Pty) Ltd
nnOxfam Australia
nnDepartment of Health & Social Development
nnPalabora Foundation

HCT to its congregation; 15 members tested (8 males
and 7 females).
nnIncreased number of attendees in AIDS Candlelight
memorial and the public pledge made by SABC Thobela
FM radio station to partner with Palabora Foundation
in stigma reduction of HIV and related activities.
nnFour banners for Information, Education and
Communication (IEC) were purchased, for branding
of Palabora Foundation and key partners.
nnAdequate medicinal and related services supplied by
the department of health –Maphutha L. Malatji Hospital.
nnFoskor (Pty) Ltd donated school starter packs to
200 children around the Ba-Phalaborwa Municipality
who are starting Grade 1 in 2013.

Challenges
nnIncreased service demand with a current monthly
treatment follow-up of 680 clients.
nnSome of the clients about to start ARV treatment,
are discovered to be TB co-infected, delaying their

nnNational Rotary Club donated school shoes to Orphans and
Vulnerable Children around Ba-Phalaborwa Municipality.
nnActive participation of communities during World AIDS
Day and utilisation of available resources.

initiation programme.
nnLoss of follow-up clients, due to these clients returning
to their original homes.
nnCultural practice – communal garden for Orphans and
Vulnerable Children at Maseke Village will not be utilised
for a period of twelve months as part of the rituals in
respecting the late honourable Kgoshi Maseke.

Solutions
nnClients advised to request a transfer letter when leaving
the local area for continuity of care.
nnReinforce treatment literacy and marketing
of HCT services.
nnPromote educational awareness on the importance
of disclosure and the risk related to re-infection.
nnIntensive and continuous educational awareness on
antiretroviral therapy and TB treatment adherence,
to improve knowledge.
nnAdditional staff to meet the service demands as per
community needs.
nnThe communal garden at Matikoxikaya will share
the harvested crops with Maseke during their
mourning period.
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c) Learner support
The purpose of the learner support programmes is to provide
a pool of high capability learners who can go on to further
their studies in scientific and technological careers at tertiary
institutions.
South Africa has a dire shortage of school leavers with
appropriate higher grade symbols in mathematics and science
necessary for those careers where the country is experiencing
skills shortages, such as engineering, science, technology
and accountancy. Until 2004 there was a gradual decline in
the higher grade pass rate at national level in mathematics and
science, but various initiatives by the provincial and national
education departments, and the private sector are gradually
improving this scenario. This is a significant advantage for
many companies not being able to achieve their employment
equity targets in areas where there are skills shortages, with the
availability of technically qualified school leavers from formerly
disadvantage communities.
The Palabora Foundation’s learner support programmes are
aimed at increasing the skills base in mathematics, science and
language in the area. Prior to the programmes’ launch by the
Foundation, only a handful of learners from the Ba-Phalaborwa
district used to obtain the necessary symbols annually to
proceed to tertiary education in order to pursue scientific and
engineering careers.

Programme for Technological Careers (PROTEC)
The Phalaborwa PROTEC branch (which is managed by the
Palabora Foundation) was established on 17 March 1998 by
the three main companies in Phalaborwa: Palabora, Foskor
Limited and Sasol Nitro. Palabora and Foskor remain the major
funders of the PROTEC programme. The board members come
from the Limpopo Provincial Department of Education, Lepelle
Northern Water, Mopani SE FET College, the Ba-Phalaborwa
Municipality, Standard Bank, the Greater Phalaborwa Principals
Association and Professional Career Consultants. The parents
association from Leboneng and Rixile Education Centres also
serve on the PROTEC board.
The PROTEC programme completed its 14th year of operation in
2012, aiming to provide a source of high capability students for
Palabora, other local companies and industries, and the province
as a whole. Learners who complete Grade 9 from the Technokidz
programme move to PROTEC in Grade 10 and spend three years
on the programme.
The learners who are selected to join this programme attend extra
lessons in the afternoons and during school vacations to prepare
them for mainly scientific, engineering, technological and
accounting careers. Site visits are organised to local industries
and Grade 11 learners attend a one-week residential leadership
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course in July at the Schoemansdal Environmental Education
Centre. For most of these formerly disadvantaged students this is
the first time that they have had exposure to such extra-curricular
activities. The course provides training on various activities,
for example public speaking, interviewing, communication,
problem solving, and how to conduct a meeting. The report from
the principal of the Schoemansdal Environmental Education
Centre on the 2012 learners’ achievements was once again most
complimentary and encouraging.

d) Skills development
Skills development training provides short job-related skills
training courses to unemployed youth in community house
building (construction masonry, construction carpentry),
clothing production and food preparation and cooking, to
enable trainees to seek employment in the formal and informal
sector or to start their own businesses, or further their studies
with Further Education and Training institutions (FETs).
The training aims to assist provincial government with their
implementation of education and skills training programmes in
the Ba-Phalaborwa area to improve education and skills base
within surrounding communities.
The Foundation heavily subsidises the courses with trainees
paying a nominal fee making it very affordable for them.
Trainees are subjected to training for a period of six months.
Accreditation for Food Preparation and Cooking will be
completed as soon as the development of learner material is
completed by the contractor. There have been an improvement
in the quality of training in Food Preparation and Cooking,
and negotiations are underway with two external qualified
and experienced people to come and assist our facilitators in
improving the training of our students, specifically with the
practical component.
A total of 324 trainees registered for full time courses and
104 registered for part-time courses while six registered for
short courses in Skills in 2012.

Number of trainees (2008 – 2012)

Year
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012

Clothing
Production
(Sewing)
Leboneng
Centre

Clothing
Production
(Sewing)
Rixile
Centre

42
27
35
29
38

20
20
17
12
19

Food
Prepara- Construc- Construction AND
tion
tion
Cooking Masonry Carpentry
90
96
86
96
86

27
54
31
31
26

59
121
144
121
97
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Number of PROTEC and Master Maths
Learners as at November 2012

Master Maths (M2)

Leboneng Education Centre

with potential to take pure mathematics. Approximately

Grade

The Foundation’s Master Maths programme encourages learners

PROTEC

Master Maths

10

32

20

11

36

24

12

21

21

Total

89
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600 high school learners attend extra mathematics lessons in
the afternoons and during school holidays at three interactive
computerised Master Maths centres. The Master Maths
programmes are designed to follow the South African core
mathematics curriculum, and the OBE lessons are competency
based, allowing learners to study at their own pace. Three
qualified tutors work in each of the centres in the afternoons

Number of PROTEC and Master Maths
Learners as at November 2012

to assist learners with and to help them with homework
and tutorials. The performance of many of the learners has

Rixile Education Centre

increased dramatically over the years and many have gone to
PROTEC

Master Maths

study technical subjects at tertiary institutions. During the past

10

43

21

eight years the Grade 12 pass rate has been well above the

11

29

07

Grade

12

20

05

Total

92

33

national average.

Technokidz
A junior PROTEC programme by the name of Technokidz was
launched in May 2008 with the purpose of extending the

PROTEC matric results 2012

duration of the Learner Support Programme from three years

It was yet another good year for PROTEC and Master Maths

to five years so that the Foundation’s learners can achieve even

matric class of 2012. The 41 PROTEC and Master Maths students

better Grade 12 results. The Technokidz programme focuses on

achieved 23 distinctions, mostly in Mathematics and Physical

three significant learning areas: Mathematics, Natural Science

Sciences, with some in English. The overall percentage pass was

and English.

98 per cent. The group of 41 learners secured 76 per cent.
Bachelor pass rate, 17 per cent Diploma pass rate, 5 per cent.

The Palabora Foundation developed the infrastructure at

Higher Certificate pass, and only one learner failed.

both Rixile and Leboneng Centres in 2008 to accommodate
30 learners each in Grade 8 and 9 classes with a total

PROTEC MATRIC RESULTS (2008 - 2012)
2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

120
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40
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0

Bachelor Pass (%)
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Diploma Pass (%)

H.Certificate Pass
(%)

Fail (%)

Pass (%)
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of 20 learners. Due to the high demand of the programme in

Eskom Expo for Young Scientists

the area a decision was taken to increase the number to about

The Department of Science and Technology aims to increase the

50 learners each in Grade 8 and 9. We now have two groups in
each grade with a maximum of 25 learners per group. A state
of the art computer laboratory with 30 modern computers was
installed at both centres. The Mathematics programme uses
software franchised by Master Maths in Cape Town.

participation of our youth in the fields of science, technology,
engineering and mathematics (STEM) through local, regional
and national expositions. Eskom Expo for Young Scientists is
an exposition, or a science fair where learners in Grades 5 to 12
have a chance to submit projects about their own scientific

The programme has been so successful that learners who
completed their first or second year were evaluated by external

investigations. The science Expo is conducted at three levels;
local, regional and national, and is managed by a committee of

examiners and found to be way ahead of their counterparts

dedicated teachers.

at school. Their communication abilities have also increased

The Palabora Foundation is the sponsor of local science Expo

so that they can continue with their studies in the PROTEC
programme with more zeal and enthusiasm, having obtained a
solid foundation in mathematics and natural science.

of learners following the science, technology, engineering
and accountancy streams. This is proven by the database of
learners who have been through the PROTEC and Master Maths

Leboneng Education Centre

programmes sponsored by the Foundation.
Technokidz

Master Maths

08

45

0

09

45

05

Total

90

06

e) Teacher development
Intermediate and Senior phase Maths and Science
The purpose of INSET is to improve the quality of curriculum
practice and delivery through effective teachers of maths and

Number of Technokidz and Master Maths
Learners as at November 2012

science to impact significantly on learner achievement at
school level.

Rixile Education Centre
Grade

expo in Mopani District. It is through Palabora Foundation
sponsorship that we have seen an increase in the number

Number of Technokidz and Master Maths
Learners as at November 2012
Grade

in the Ba-Phalaborwa municipal area and the regional science

During the 2012, the Foundation INSET section working in

Technokidz

Master Maths

08

44

00

09

53

00

national Curriculum and Assessment Policy Statement (CAPS)

Total

97

00

workshops in the Mopani district. CAPS will be implemented in

collaboration with the Department of Education conducted three
Mathematics and Science content workshops and a series of the

the Intermediate Phase (Grades 4 to 6) by 2013.

Palabora bursaries
Three learners were awarded PMC for 2012 academic year,
they are:
nnMdlui Keith
nnMaboya Peter
nnModyela Tshepo

Sixty-six days were spent on school support visits. The main
purpose of the school visits is to assist and provide support to the
educators to ensure quality teaching and learning is practiced.
One hundred and thirty-eight lessons were observed by the
Foundation’s maths and science coordinators in the 35 project
schools. The Palabora Foundation INSET Programme has
been supporting mathematics and science teachers for the
past 10 years. Two evaluations have been conducted and
the programme was tweaked each time to try and implement
the findings in order to improve the programme. It was decided
that an empirical impact evaluation of the programme was
overdue. The University of Johannesburg was given the task to
undertake this evaluation.
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Sustainability statements (continued)

The empirical impact evaluation of the teacher INSET

Waterbok farm project (Selwana)

programme was conducted from 26 to 28 March 2012

The Selwana village community successfully claimed land

by the University of Johannesburg (UJ) in collaboration with
the Foundation Monitoring & Evaluation section. Ten schools
from Namakgale circuit (5) and Thabina circuit (5) were used
as experimental and control schools, respectively, during the
research period. Questionnaires, interviews and tests were
selected tools used for collecting information in deferent levels
and grades. The findings of the impact assessment process
were that the teacher INSET programme had little or no
effect on performance results of the learners particularly in
the foundation phase. The overall performance of the control
schools in the March 2012 mathematics test, were much better
than that of the project schools.
After consultation with management and presentation to the
board of trustees, it was agreed that the INSET programme

known as the Waterbok farm in Selwana. The key business
objective of the project is to develop a sustainable farming
enterprise that will address job creation and poverty alleviation
at a grass roots level. The beneficiaries intend to continue using
the land efficiently and effectively.
Key objectives:
nnDevelop long-term farming enterprise;
nnCreate full-time jobs for community;
nnProduce agriculture products for specific markets;
nnIncrease efficiency of total farming system;
nnProvide job skills transfer and training; and

in its present form be discontinued. The resources were
then redirected to a flagship programme that produces high

nnGenerate sustainable farming operations.

quality results in Grade 12. The learners in this programme
are incubated for a period of five years, starting from Grade 8
exiting at Grade 12, focusing on maths, science and English.
The programme has been extended to reach children in rural
parts of Ba-Phalaborwa, thus expanding the current reach of the
student focussed programme. Three maths and science centres
have been set up in three of the five traditional royal councils.

f) Social and labour plan projects
The following projects were identified in the finalisation
of the Social and Labour Plan (SLP) requirement with the
Ba‑Phalaborwa Municipality for continuation during 2012:

Marula beneficiation (all areas)
The comprehensive business plan on marula beneficiation
was done by Zwino Consulting on behalf of Palabora. After
meetings with Zwino Consulting, the municipality and Palabora
Foundation, the Marula Oil extraction project was approved
and the various Marula Fruit storage depots, processing
and extraction facilities were built in the five Royal Council
communities within Ba-Phalaborwa during 2012.
The objective is to launch a full scale Marula oil beneficiation
project in 2013.
To date 115 rural woman are members of the Marula
Co-operative and this number is expected to grow to 250 during
the 2013 marula season.
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The farm currently employs 60 people (16 males and 44 females).
During peak production at the farm this will increase to
120 employees with temporary seasonal workers.
The farm currently has 45 hectares under centre pivots (three
sections of 15.4 hectares), and 40 hectares of drip-pipe irrigation.
The plan is to develop the farm to irrigate 100 hectares at any one
time and to ensure that the farm irrigation is fully automated.
This farming project is a public-private partnership with the
Selwane CPA, Department of Agriculture and Palabora in partial
fulfilment of Palabora’s Social Labour Plan commitment to
the Selwane community.
In August 2010, Palabora formally handed over the completed
R3.5 million electrical infrastructure project to the Mayor
of Ba-Phalaborwa Honourable Councillor GD Mudunungu.
This electrical infrastructure project was completed in
Extension 1 of Ba-Phalaborwa at a cost of R3.5 million.
This project saw the installation and commissioning of four
new mini-sub-stations and sixteen metering kiosks. The new
equipment addressed the power interruptions that were
common in the area as well as addressed the environmental
challenges of leaking transformer oil. In addition to being more
environmentally sustainable, all the meter kiosks have been
changed from analogue to digital as part of the upgrade.

76

77

Enterprise development

Projects

30TEN+5
Palabora has recognised and proactively embraced the need
for their contribution towards Enterprise Development (ED)
programmes within Ba‑Phalaborwa. Palabora has developed an
ED policy and strategy that contributes directly towards overall
economic growth and transformation of black entrepreneurs
within the Ba‑Phalaborwa region.
A key initiative started in 2011 in this regard is the 30TEN+5
programme, in which Palabora has appointed the Foundation to
implement the 30TEN+5 programme. The 30TEN+5 programme
is a multi-year programme designed as an effective way to assist
black entrepreneurs with both market access and supportive

nnPromotion of joint ventures, partnerships and/or
co‑operatives which could result in substantive skills
transfer, cost savings and/or revenue generation amongst
the beneficiaries.

Programme phases, deliverables
and stage gates
The 30TEN+5 Programme is structured to guide beneficiaries to
successful business operations and the figure on page 78 shows
the progress to date. With the signing of all Beneficiary Service
Level Agreements, the current location is Phase 3; i.e. the crucial
Implementation Phase.

training, operational and/or financial backing to grow their

Forty-four contracted beneficiaries are currently busy with

businesses.

Phase 3 which includes a focus on: Business Skills Training,

More specifically 30TEN+5 aims to:
nnDevelop and grow an economic base and to cultivate an

Operations

and

Administration

Support,

Infrastructure

Development, Supporting Legal Status, Disbursements, Monthly
Business Health Checks, Asset Register, Branding, Portfolio of

entrepreneurship culture amongst black entrepreneurs

Evidence and Project Management.

across Ba-Phalaborwa; and

Phase 3 is due for completion in July 2013 after which

nnAssist with training, transfer of skills, technology and
financial resources to qualifying beneficiaries.
30TEN+5 (2011) provides support to the qualifying 45 beneficiary
organisations from the villages Maseke, Mashishimale, Selwane,
Majeje and Makhushane.

beneficiaries will enter the final phase, comprising six months
of on-going mentoring, incubation, monitoring and evaluation.

Business Health Check ensuring
healthy businesses
Of vital importance to 30TEN+5 is to take all possible and

30TEN+5 (2012) provides support to a further 15 qualifying

reasonable steps to ensure the success of the participating

beneficiaries organisations from the regions of Lulekane,

entrepreneurial endeavours. An objective has been set to ensure

Namakgale, Phalaborwa and abovementioned villages.

a 90 per cent success rate of beneficiaries after three years; i.e.
to reverse the generally held statistic that 90 per cent of small

Nature of developmental assistance

business start-ups fail after three years.

Beneficiaries will receive developmental assistance comprising:

Key to this is the use of the Business Health Check, which

nnSupport and/or funding of capital requirements;
nnFormal entrepreneurial training and/or mentorship
programmes provided through the Palabora Foundation
and/or external service providers;
nnOperational and/or administrative support through
an in-house incubator managed and administered by
the Foundation;

the Foundation project managers use as a diagnostic tool to
determine the health of each beneficiary and take appropriate
corrective and supportive corrective steps.
nnThe Business Health Check process enables a positive
and educational dialogue between entrepreneur and
Foundation
nnAreas of business weakness are clearly shown

nnA combination of any of the three options above; and
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nnSkills development and incubator support needs are clearly
indicated

Supporting the maintenance and creation of sustainable jobs
is an important component of 30TEN+5 and an estimated
300 jobs will be directly associated with employment within

nnMentoring and coaching needs are clearly shown

30TEN+5 beneficiaries. With the majority of projects, including
infrastructure development, additional economic and job

nnThe beneficiary and the Foundation are easily able to

opportunities accrue to local communities.

jointly plan supportive measures to reduce business risk

30TEN+5 is a core component of Palabora’s ambitious

New venture creation training

transformation programme to participate and contribute

As identified through the Business Health Check process,

meaningfully towards Enterprise Development (ED) and Socio-

a common need of beneficiaries is for basic business skills

Economic Development (SED) to the benefit of the community

training. Accordingly, all beneficiaries are strongly encouraged

of Ba-Phalaborwa.

and supported to attend a specially configured New Venture
Creation course. Modules One and Two have been successfully

30TEN+5 (2011) has progressed successfully to date and

conducted and further modules will be held in 2013.

is currently mid-stream with its most crucial stage, the
Implementation Phase, where all the business planning is put
into place through a raft of supportive measures including

Job creation, infrastructure development
The majority of beneficiaries will receive support with
infrastructure upgrades. The 30TEN+5 process provides

infrastructure, equipment, business skills development and
legislative compliance.

careful oversight to scope out infrastructure needs, securing

The rollout of 30TEN+5 (2012) and 30TEN+5 (2013) will take

conceptual designs and through consultation processes arriving

place in 2013. Plans to select 15 further beneficiaries and

at Beneficiary Approved designs, overseeing appointment of

support municipalities electrical and road infrastructure needs.

suitable contractors, and overseeing appropriate completion
of construction up to successful handover. Importantly, in all
instances is that locally based contractors are identified and
encouraged to tender.

PROGRAMME PHASES DELIVERABLES AND STAGE GATES

INITIAL
PROPOSAL
GATE

DETAILED
INVESTIGATION
GATE

Confirm strategic fit

Review business
case

Confirm
opportunity

Confirm resources
to at least the next
stage

Confirm
participation

Review
implementation
plan
Commit resources

VALIDATION
GATE

Review if the
service is ready
to be used in
a supported
environment

Ensure the
service is ready
to be used under
full operational
conditions

COMPLETION
Confirm the project
scope is completed,
lessons learnt, team
demobilised

Confirm validation

Initial Proposal
Gate

Detailed
Investigation Gate

Initial proposal
investing

Proposal
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IMPLEMENTATION
GATE

MENTORING,
INCUBATION,
MONITORING
AND EVALUATION

Implementation
Gate

Detailed
investigation

M.I.M.E. Gate

Implement
support

Close

M.I.M.E.

Direct and manage project

Project completed

Close

Project
report
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employees

Introduction
As at the end of December 2012, the Company’s staff

members. The Company and trade unions agreed to pursue

complement was 2 280. This number is inclusive of 73 non-

issues relating to life of mine, education and the general well-

permanent staff.

being of the Ba-Phalaborwa community.

The labour turn-over has increased from 5.4 per cent in 2011 to

Employment equity

7.45 per cent in 2012 (annualised). The average age of employees
has decreased slightly from 41.0 to 40.8 with an average length
of service remaining at 9.1 years per employee. Over 90 per cent

As at the end of December 2012, HDSA at professional and
management levels was 61.9 per cent, a slight drop from 2011’s

of Palabora’s work force comes from the Ba-Phalaborwa area.

62.6 per cent, which is 21.9 per cent above the base target of

Employee relations

and focus was also made to progress females into the business

40,0 per cent required in the Mining Charter. Concerted efforts

The Company and the two representative unions, namely
National Union of Mineworkers and Solidarity, collectively
resolved issues of mutual interest, with a continued focus
at building a strong business for the future. The continued
engagement gave rise to the implementation of a Funeral
Scheme for permanent employees and their dependant family

which resulted in the number of female employees making a
marginal increase from last year’s 12.1 per cent to 12,9 per cent.
The Company continues to prioritise female employment in core
mining roles, and the employment of the disabled. The chart
above shows the Company’s progress and standing on female
employees and HDSA at professional and management levels:

Figure
–H
 DSA AT PROFESSIONAL
AND MANAGEMENT
LEVELS
HDSA AT1 PROFESSIONAL
AND MANAGEMENT
LEVELS
Actual

HDSA Stretched Target (45,9%)

HDSA Target (40,0%)

80

61,9

60,8
Dec 2012

64,8
Sep 2012

Nov 2012

64,0
Aug 2012

61,9

64,2
Jul 2012

Oct 2012

64,4

50

42,6

40,1

51,5

2009 average

2010 average

2011 average

30

41,5

40

2008 average

Percentage

60

Jun 2012

70

10

17,1

20

2007 average

0
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Training and organisational development
Palabora continued to see the LeKgotla process getting
institutionalised within the business. Since the historic October

the assumption of full compliance in terms of the Palabora
accreditation scope;
nnThe engineering training centre was upgraded to include

2011 Safety LeKgotla, we have had nine other LeKgotla sessions.

new national apprentice training curricula and has begun

There is varied degrees to which these sessions have borne

training in terms of the National 7 step artisan training

positive outcomes for the business. Understanding that this is

strategy;

the journey of building a positive employee climate, a 1 LeKgotla
Year On publication was distributed in November 2012.

nnCore contractors in general have participated well and have

The engagement process through LeKgotla works intricately

in some cases made significant contributions to the overall

with the Company’s employee relations process.

human resource development process as required by the
Palabora social and labour plan;

2012 also saw positive increase in the business uptake of
processes of accountability through performance management.

nnThe project for the establishment of a not for profit

We achieved 90 per cent uptake of employees having

organisation was continued. Quotes for the preparation

performance objectives in 2012. We also saw 65 per cent of

of implementation and project plans were requested

leaders conducting talent assessments on the Company’s

and received;

system. We are closing the year with a sound, refined scientific
process for supporting succession management at Palabora.
This is particularly key in light of organisational changes linked
to the Rio Tinto and Anglo American divestment.
The training and development of staff has continued to be a
prime focus area. In 2012 the specific attention has been the
alignment of internal training programmes with national
qualifications and the establishment of a business skills matrix
to assure individual competencies for all Palabora roles.

nnDesign and development for the Rio Tinto zero harm
process (Palabora Goal Zero), which incorporates solutions
for issues raised in 2011 LeKgotla and 2012 SSAP
processes, were completed and training begun;
nnConversion of existing training materials into simplified
electronic formats has continued with numbers of revised
training and assessment processes being implemented;
nnThe Mining Qualifications Authority (MQA) carried out a
verification process for Palabora training scope extension

Other training activities
nnInterviews held and allocation of 2013 provisional
university bursaries completed;
nnGraduate development processes delivered a number
of candidates ready for Government certificate of
competency examinations;
nnThe front line leader development programme (FLP) saw
most Palabora supervisors entering the programme with a
number completing all modules;
nnThe superintendent development programme was also
successfully initiated again with positive feedback received
from candidates;
nnFollow up defensive driving interventions provided by the
Volkswagen Driving Academy were postponed to 2013, due
to cost constraints;
nnThe Cleveland Training Centre was fully utilised during
the year with most leader and behavioural training
interventions being presented away from workplaces;
nnAll mandatory as well as a number of discretionary grants
were successfully claimed from the MQA, thus assuring
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to include training for the surface mining blasting
qualification. Recommendations from the process are
currently being implemented to ensure the extension
is granted;
nnAn application for the inclusion of the miner’s assistant
skills programme has also been made to the MQA to assure
compliance with a DMR directive;
nnSkills sets for repairmen and servicemen were aligned
with National skills programmes further aligning Palabora
training strategy with the national skills development
strategy (NSDS III); and
nnCollaboration with regional government has continued in
terms of alignment of private training providers with local
FET colleges and regional skills development initiatives
and activities.
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HEALTH AND

WELL-BEING

Introduction/Background

Medical department

Employee health and well-being at Palabora is rendered through

The medical department has been very busy during 2012 with

close co-operation of the medical department, occupational

in excess of 6 500 medical examinations done by end December

hygiene department and a contracted wellness provider.

2012. The department had to adapt to business needs when

The

occupational

hygiene

department

identifies

and

reports on the health risks and exposure levels as required
by sections 9.2(3)a and b of the Mine Health and Safety Act
(MHSA). The personal monitoring results are reported to the
Chief inspector as required by Chapter 22.9(2) of the MHSA.
We also comply with the Rio Tinto Management system
and performance standard requirements. This includes the
monitoring of airborne pollutants, noise, thermal stress, hand,

operational problems like the shaft failure and subsequently
the shut down dates brought forward, required a sudden large
demand for medical examinations in a relatively short period.
Two new clinical services were introduced during 2012:
nnRespirator Fit Testing; and
nnChronic Disease Clinic.

arm and whole body vibration, ergonomics, Legionella, as

Respirator Fit Testing was implemented and runs from the clinic.

well as potable water amongst others. As a first line of worker

Another huge improvement in employee healthcare is the

exposure control we consider elimination and substitution with
cost effective engineering control measures. Should this not
be sufficient additional control measures like administrative
controls and personal protective equipment is added.

Occupational health service
Palabora provides an onsite occupational health service under
the direction of a qualified occupational medical practitioner.
Regular medical surveillance provides continuous screening for
occupational diseases and for job specific fitness. Surveillance

chronic disease clinic that is presented weekly on Wednesdays.
This clinic is aimed at all employees with diseases like diabetes,
hypertension, obesity and stress, where lifestyle modification
and dietary changes lead to improved control. There has been
a good uptake with improved management of employees’
conditions with a decrease in sick leave days taken.
As part of its community service, the medical department has
assisted nursing colleges with practical training of occupational
health nurse training.

is done through pre-employment, periodic and exit medical

Support is also provided to the local SPCA with medical

examinations. These examinations are risk based and consist

examinations and rabies vaccinations for their staff.

of the appropriate selection of tests for the specific job and may
include: vision testing, lung function testing, audiometry, chest
X-ray, vital signs checking, clinical examination by the medical
doctor and other specialised tests, where needed.

Wellness service
The wellness service is provided by a contracted provider.
Employees have access to a help line, copious educational

In general the level of occupational diseases (especially

material

pulmonary diseases) at Palabora is low due to several factors,

The service guarantees a high level of confidentiality

and

professional

psychologist

consultations.

including the ore body containing very low amounts of

encouraging employees to make use of the service.

crystalline silica and no asbestos. Furthermore, strict preventive
and protective measures, including occupational hygiene
measurements, minimising of risks and use of personal
protective equipment is an integral part of the zero harm culture
of Palabora.
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Employees, contractors and visitors

safety

Our goal

Our responsibility

We will uphold our standards and continually improve our

nnEach employee has a responsibility to prevent harm to

performance to achieve our goal of zero harm to our employees

himself/herself, fellow employees, damage to assets and

and surrounding communities. We will strive to create and

detrimental impacts to the environment and intervene

maintain a work environment where every employee returns to

when others do not.

his or her family at the end of the shift unharmed.

Our commitment
nnProvide a safe, healthy and environmentally responsible
workplace for our employees, contractors and visitors,
and minimise our impact on the neighbouring
communities and surroundings.
nnContinually improve our operations to comply with
all relevant legislation and maintain ISO 14001
and ISO 9001 certification.
nnUse our resources responsibly and efficiently, in particular
energy, water and land.
nnManage our mineral and non-mineral wastes responsibly
to ensure the lowest possible impact to the environment
and the health of employees and communities.
nnProtect identified cultural heritage sites.
nnDevelop and implement sustainable solutions that
contribute to global expectations.
nnRegularly meet and communicate with employees,
contractors and communities in terms of safety, health
and environment performance and publicly report to all
stakeholders our performance annually.
nnRehabilitate disturbed land and maintain our commitment
to closure plans and funding.
nnProvide the means necessary to sustain the requirements
of this policy.
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nnEach leader is accountable for their actions and that of
their teams and to communicate our requirements and
expectations to all employees, contractors, visitors and
other stakeholders to involve them in its implementation.
nnNo task will be undertaken without a clear understanding
of the best method to mitigate the risk of injury,
occupational health, damage to assets and environmental
harm.
nnAll HSEQ systems will be audited regularly to confirm
and improve our performance against this policy.

Our systems
Safety, health and environmental considerations are fully
integrated into our business through hazard identification and
risk assessments. Our work processes and training programmes
are designed so they:
nnEncourage effective employee participation;
nnProtect the safety and health of our employees, contractors
and visitors;
nnPrevent or mitigate pollution;
nnBuild from a foundation of compliance with applicable
legislations, corporate policies and business unit
expectations; and
nnEnsure open and transparent reporting of incidents.
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TRANSFORMATION

Mining beyond compliance
As the main copper refiner and one of the largest private sector
employers in South Africa, Palabora has the moral obligation
– besides the legislative responsibility – to contribute to the

order to secure a BEE certificate. The BEE certificate provides
information on BEE Level and Procurement Recognition
percentage which is used by the entities’ customers.

transformation of the mining industry and the country as a

Broad-based Socio-Economic Empowerment

whole. The long walk to transformation is underpinned by

A transformation framework designed by the Department

Palabora’s values and business principles.

of Mineral Resources (DMR) for use by corporate entities

As a good corporate citizen, Palabora respects the dignity
and human rights of individuals and communities wherein it
operates. As a company, we aim to make a lasting contribution
to the well-being of these communities while generating strong
investor returns.
Our long-term success in implementing transformation is based
on the way we work, and how we work jointly with all our
stakeholders. Our progress in transforming Palabora’s business
in South Africa is measured primarily against the revised
Mining Charter and BBBEE scorecard. To allow our stakeholders
to monitor this progress, a key aspect of our disclosure and
reporting is a commitment to transparency and to provide the
information that stakeholders need to fully assess our efforts as
a responsible corporate citizen.
Palabora has identified two key transformational frameworks
which it has elected to use in addressing its transformation
requirements. These have been developed and released for use
by South African corporate entities.

operating in the mining industry. It provides eight specific
elements of a Scorecard. An annual report must be submitted
to the DMR and compliance to agreed targets is required for the
maintenance of mining rights by the mining operators.
Palabora has developed a comprehensive Transformation
Strategy supported by a set of policies and procedures that seek
to address the seven and eight elements on the BBBEE codes and
Mining Charter, respectively. These will be evaluated against the
following policy objectives:
nnsubstantial increase in the number of HDSA persons who
have ownership and control of the Company;
nnsignificant increase in a number of HDSA persons on our
Board, executive and senior management positions;
nnenhanced preferential treatment towards HDSA
enterprises and black-empowered enterprises in our
procurement processes;
nnincreased acquisition of skills, accelerated preference for
HDSA persons to access training and acquire new skills for

Broad-based Black Economic Empowerment
A transformation framework designed by the Department
of Trade and Industry (dti) for general use by all industries
comprising seven specific elements of a Scorecard annual
audit, must be conducted by an approved verification agency in
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their development;
nnincreased income levels of HDSA persons and a reduction
of income inequalities among race groups and prioritise
HDSA persons in employment opportunities available
within the Company;
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Mining is a long-term business, and we are accustomed
to thinking not just of today but also of the years, decades
and even centuries ahead. Integral to that way of thinking
is a recognition that we are totally interdependent with the
countries and communities that we serve. That is why people
and partnerships are key to us – partnerships with governments,
local communities, employees and trade unions.
In pursuing partnership, mining companies have some very
important responsibilities, the first being the contribution that
we make to economic development in terms of revenue and
employment. But that direct contribution is just the beginning.
Our contribution is broad based and inclusive and it benefits
all our stakeholders. In this transformation report, we offer an
overview of how this belief in partnerships and commitment to
a new kind of corporate citizenship, is creating these benefits.
Detailed on pages 69 to 76 are various programmes which
Palabora is implementing as part of our transformation agenda
and community upliftment through the Palabora Foundation.
a) Enterprise development and Tourism
nnincreasing proportion of the ownership and management

b) Community Health

of economic activities vested in the community, broadbased enterprises and co-operatives;
nnincreased participation in productive economic activities
in under-developed areas in order to uplift the socioeconomic conditions of our communities; and
nnbeneficiation.

Employer of choice
Evident to our transformation measures is our employee profile,
wherein the company’s staff component of 2 280 employees,
80 per cent are HDSAs, and 12.9 per cent are female employees.

Corporate citizenship

c)

Learner support

d) Skills development
e)

Teacher development

f)

Social and labour plans projects

South African Mining Charter compliance
The South African Mining Charter was originally developed in
terms of section 100 of the Mineral and Petroleum Resources
Development Act (MPRDA), No 28 of 2002, to transform the
mining industry by requiring applicants for mining rights to
comply with certain empowerment principles for their rights
to be granted. The revised Charter, launched in 2010, emphasises

Given that transformation is about how we make business

a target of 26 per cent black ownership of the country’s mining

decisions, either as individuals or as the Company, the main

assets by 2014. Palabora has new-order mining rights for all

question of how should companies, particularly in the mining

its operations. In line with the Charter, all our operations have

sector, respond to the challenges of the new world taking shape

social and labour plans (SLPs) with targets which have been

around us, and what will it take for us as an industry to turn the

developed with employees, communities and the DMR.

exciting future that we envisage into a reality. The answer lies
in a new model of corporate citizenship for the world in which
we now live.
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The table below shows our performance against the Mining
Charter Scorecard for the 2012 financial year:

Sustainability statements (continued)

2012 scorecard for the broad-based socio-economic mining empowerment charter
Compliance
target by
2014

Progress
achieved in 2012

Element

Description

Measure

Reporting

Has the Company reported the
level of compliance with the
Charter for the calendar year?

Documentary proof of receipt
from the Department

Annually

Yes. Report submitted
18 March 2013

Ownership

Minimum target for effective
HDSA ownership

Meaningful economic
participation

26 per cent

0 per cent*

Full shareholder rights

26 per cent

0 per cent

Housing
and Living
Conditions

Conversion and upgrading of
hostels to attain the occupancy
rate of one person per room

Percentage reduction of
occupancy rate towards
2014 target

Majority of Palabora
Occupancy rate
of one person per employees are locals
and have proper
room
standard family houses

Conversion and upgrading of
hostels into family units

Percentage conversion of
hostels into family units

Family units
established

No hostels

40 per cent

49 per cent

Services

70 per cent

58 per cent

Consumable goods

50 per cent

30 per cent

Multi-national suppliers’
contribution to the social fund

Annual spend on procurement
from multi-national suppliers

0.5 per cent of
procurement
value

0 per cent

Diversification of the workplace
to reflect the country’s
demographics to attain
competitiveness

Top management (Board)

40 per cent

40 per cent

Senior management

40 per cent

60 per cent

Middle management

40 per cent

54.79 per cent

Junior management

40 per cent

64.16 per cent

Core skills

40 per cent

56.80 per cent

HRD expenditure as
percentage of total annual
payroll (excluding mandatory
skills development levy)

5 per cent

25 per cent

Mine Community Conduct ethnographic
Development
community consultative and
collaborative processes to
delineate community needs
analysis

Implement approved
community projects

Up-to-date
project
implementation

100 per cent

Sustainable
Development
and Growth

Improvement of the industry’s
environmental management

Implement approved
environmental management
programmes (EMPs)

100 per cent

100 per cent

Improvement of the industry’s
mine health and safety
performance

Implementation of tripartite
action plan on health and
safety

100 per cent

100 per cent

Utilisation of South Africanbased research facilities for
analysis of samples across the
mining value

Percentage of samples in
South African facilities

100 per cent

100 per cent

Contribution towards
beneficiation (effective
from 2012)

Added production volume
contributory to local value
addition beyond the baseline

Section 26 of
MPRDA (per cent
above baseline)

The whole copper
stream is beneficiated
on site

Procurement
and Enterprise
Development

Employment
Equity

Human
Resources
Development

Beneficiation

Procurement spent on BEE entity Capital goods

Developing requisite skills,
including support for South
African-based research and
development initiatives
intended to develop solutions in
exploration, mining, processing,
technology efficiency (energy
and water use in mining),
beneficiation as well as
environmental conservation

* Refer to page 94 for more details on the BBBEE transaction.
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stakeholder

86

engagement

Stakeholder engagement

and Co-operation (DIRCO), and other sister departments such

When reporting to stakeholders, the Board of directors recognises
its duty to present a balanced and understandable assessment
of the Company’s position. A five-year comprehensive
communications strategy was developed during 2011 which
seeks to promote proactive communication and stakeholder
engagement across the entire business. Our key stakeholders
include our host communities, Government, investors and
analysts, our customers, the media, industry lobby groups
and our employees.
Community engagement: Palabora has significantly improved
its relationship with the host communities of Majeje,
Makhushane, Mashishimale, Selwane and Maseke. We have put
in place both formal and informal engagement interventions in
order to consistently address developmental needs of our local
communities. Through the Palabora Foundation, we have set up
a Community Development Forum represented by the five tribal
authorities and where all issues affecting the community are

as Trade and Industry to get regular country reports in which we
operate and sell our products. Externally we will also engage with
DIRCO and most importantly the local municipality through
DIRCO’S public outreach programme (POP). We continue to take
advantage of numerous engagement opportunities presented
to us during the announcement of the divestment of Rio Tinto
shareholding and the BBBEE Transaction to interact with
Government locally, provincially and at national level. These
relationships will be intensified further in the years to come.
Customers: The lifetime value of our customer base is a measure
of the value of the customer to our business. To enhance this
value, we have initiated platforms where Palabora is able to
interact directly with its customers through our Marketing,
Sales and Logistics Division. Similarly, there are those who get
business from us, our contractors. We are streamlining all these
interactions so that we can extract value from all our strategic
interventions.

raised and resolved. Refer to pages 69 to 76 for more information

Media: Palabora has enjoyed positive, albeit limited, media

on our community projects and interventions.

coverage during 2012. Our solid reputation was not adversely

Investors and analysts: Palabora has a proactive stakeholder
communication approach in place, with the Company
recognising its duty to present timely, balanced and
understandable

assessments

of

Palabora’s

performance

and position to shareholders, other stakeholders and the
financial and investor community. We work to ensure that our
communications to our stakeholder community are prompt,
relevant, transparent and accurate. Information is disseminated

and/or negatively eroded through media reports. We have
developed strong working relationships with a number of key
senior journalists who report on mining and the financial
services sectors. For the year ahead, we will continue to forge
for stronger professional links with local, national and trade
media (electronic and print). We will also host targeted media
engagement events to enhance our Company’s relationship with
the media.

in the form of investor road shows, official announcements

Industry groups: Palabora participates in key industry

through the media and regular one-on-one briefing sessions.

bodies through which it helps guide regulation and positively

We have a dedicated investor relations portal on our corporate

influences the development of legislation affecting the mining

website where our investor community and other stakeholders

sector. We have membership with the Chamber of Mines and

can interact with the Company more regularly on financial

we participate actively on most of the our Chamber’s sub-

reports, financial indicators, SENS releases and media reports.

committees.

Government relations: Our relationship with our regulatory

Employees: Our interaction with our employees continued in

authorities has been enhanced during the year under review.

2012. The LeKgotla process continued with the contractors and

We’ve put in place a comprehensive Government relations

more interaction continued as the mine’s activities developed

strategy, which will be seen as a guide to engage with the

and increased.

relevant stakeholders, internally and externally. Internally we
will be engaging with the relevant sections of Marketing, and
Sales and the National Department of International Relations
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Phalaborwa to maputo magnetite trucking:
In December 2011, Palabora started trucking Magnetite to the
Maputo port in Mozambique, as an addition to the normal
delivery of the material by rail to Richards Bay and Maputo, to
meet the higher demand from China.
Palabora anticipated that this operation would bring far
reaching positive and negative changes to the region and to local
communities. A dedicated stakeholder engagement section was
established in July 2012 to manage the social impact that would
come as a result of this operation and “obtain a social licence
to operate”.
In order to understand the communities, Palabora commissioned
a Social Impact Assessment (SIA) study covering communities
along the route utilised by Magnetite road haulage from
Phalaborwa to Maputo Port. These communities are under
the following local municipalities: Ba-Phalaborwa, Maruleng,
Bushbuckridge, Mbombela and Nkomazi.
The objectives of the Social Impact Assessment were, but not
limited to:
nnDetermining the current baseline socio-economic status
of the affected area, the historical social trends and social
characteristics of the roadside communities;
nnIdentify socio-economic, environmental, health, safety
and infrastructural impacts of the trucks, and provide
management for these impacts.
The study provided Palabora with valuable information on the
impact of road haulage export activities. Over 475 respondents
from 16 towns and villages participated in the survey.
Various interested and affected parties such as action groups,
royal councils and municipal offices have been consulted to
understand their issues pertaining to road haulage. The interim
key concerns were safety, damage to roads due to increased
number of heavy vehicles and perceived lack of benefits by
community members.
Palabora is committed to mitigating any potential negative
impact this operation could have on these communities as far
as it possibly can. As part of the 30TEN+5 programme Palabora
commissioned the construction of a truck stop that will be to
the benefit of the communities of Makhushane and Phalaborwa
as a whole, stimulating local employment. Through this and
other mitigation measures and intensified communities
engagement, the relationship with communities continue to be
significantly improved.
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The year 2012 will be entrenched
in the history of Palabora as the
beginning of a new chapter
for the Company.
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STATEMENT BY THE

COMPANY SECRETARY
I, the undersigned, in my capacity as Company Secretary, do hereby confirm that for the financial year ended 31 December 2012,
Palabora Mining Company Limited has lodged with the Registrar of Companies all such returns as are required of a public company
in terms of section 88(e) of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as amended, and that to the best of my knowledge all such returns are
true, correct and up to date.

KN Mathole
Company Secretary
14 March 2013

STATEMENT BY THE board

AUDIT and risk COMMITTEE
The Board Audit and Risk Committee (BARC) has been constituted in accordance with applicable legislation and regulations. The
committee members are all independent non-executive directors of the Group. Five (four scheduled and one special) audit committee
meetings were held during the year, at which the members fulfilled their functions as prescribed by the Companies Act, 71 of 2008,
as amended. The BARC confirms that it is satisfied with the independence of its External Auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. For a
full report on the functions of the BARC, please refer to page 31 of this integrated annual report.
In accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements, the committee is required to consider the appropriateness of the expertise and
experience of the Chief Financial Officer of Palabora. In respect of this requirement and for the year under review, the committee is
satisfied that DL Nakene, the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, possesses the appropriate expertise and experience to fulfil her
responsibilities in that position.
Statement on internal financial controls
Based on information from and discussions with management and the group internal audit function, the BARC confirms that it has
no reason to believe that there were any material breakdowns in the design and operating effectiveness of internal financial controls
during this financial year which have not been addressed or are in a process of being addressed. The financial records can thus be
relied on for preparing consolidated financial statements.
Statement on internal control and risk management
The risk management and internal audit functions monitor the effectiveness of internal control systems and make recommendations
to management and BARC. Based on this information and from information and discussions with management, the BARC on behalf
of the Board confirms that it has no reason to believe that there were any material internal control or risk management shortcomings
during this financial year which have not been addressed or are in a process of being addressed. The Board has thus concluded, based
on recommendation of the BARC and their own understanding, that there is no reason to believe that there were any material internal
control or risk management shortcomings during this financial year that have not been addressed or are in the process of being
addressed (for further information, please refer to the Risk Management report on page 39).

Peter Ward
Chairman of the Board Audit and Risk Committee
14 March 2013
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY BY THE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board is responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements of
Palabora Mining Company Limited and its subsidiaries.
The consolidated financial statements, presented on pages 98 to 143, have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards, and include amounts based on judgements and estimates made by management. The Board also reviewed
the other information included in the integrated annual report and is responsible for both its accuracy and its consistency with the
consolidated financial statements.
The going concern basis has been adopted in preparing the consolidated financial statements. The Board has no reason to believe
that the Company or the Group will not be a going concern in the foreseeable future based on forecasts and available cash resources.
The viability of the Company and the Group are supported by the consolidated financial statements.
The consolidated financial statements have been audited by an independent accounting firm, PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc., which
was given unrestricted access to all financial records and related data, including minutes of all meetings of shareholders, the Board
of directors and committees of the Board. The Board believes that all representations made to the independent auditors during their
audit were valid and appropriate.
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.’s audit report is presented on page 97.
The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of directors on 14 March 2013 and are signed on its behalf by:

C N Zungu

AW Lennox

Chairman

Managing director

14 March 2013
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DIRECTORS’
REPORT

for the year ended 31 December 2012

The directors have pleasure in presenting their report, which forms part of the consolidated financial statements of the Company and
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2012.

Nature of the business
The main business of the Group is mining, extraction and sale of copper, joint-product magnetite and associated by-products
including anode slimes, nickel sulphate and sulphuric acid. In a smaller business segment, the Group exploits a vermiculite deposit
adjacent to the copper operation.

Corporate governance
The Board is committed to high standards of corporate governance. These standards are evident throughout the Company in systems
of internal controls, practices, policies and procedures. They provide the framework for innovation while ensuring sustainability of the
business. The Board continuously reviews governance matters and control systems to ensure that these are in line with international
best practices. Refer to the Corporate Governance statement on pages 26 to 43 of this integrated annual report for more information
on Palabora’s corporate governance.

Group results
The Group loss after tax for the year amounted to R97 million, compared with R1 464 million profit in 2011. Additional details on the
results and financial position of the Company and Group are set out in the income statements, statements of comprehensive income,
statements of financial position, statements of changes in equity, statements of cash flows and notes. The performance of the Group
and the nature of the various operations are dealt with in the chairman, managing director and chief financial officer’s reports.

Share capital
Authorised capital
The Company’s authorised share capital of 100 000 000 shares of one Rand each remained unchanged during the year.
Issued capital
The issued share capital of the Company remained unchanged at 48 337 497 ordinary shares of one Rand each.
The directors are authorised to issue unissued shares until the next annual general meeting. Shareholders will be asked to extend the
authority of the directors to control the unissued shares of the Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Property, plant and equipment
There were no major changes in the nature of the Group’s property, plant and equipment, or the policy relating to their use, during
the year.

Holding company and related parties
The immediate holding company is Palabora Holdings Limited and the ultimate holding company is Rio Tinto plc, which is incorporated
in the United Kingdom. Rio Tinto plc’s beneficial interest is 57,70 per cent (2011: 57,70 per cent).

Financing the business
Operations for the year under review were financed by internally generated funds. No new borrowings were made during the current
financial year.
The Rand denominated copper hedging programme remained in place, with the settlement of 21 137 tonnes of copper commodity
swap in 2012 resulting in a realised hedging loss of R1 025 million. The first tranche of the hedge was completed at the end of
September 2008 (62,5 per cent of its planned copper sales from underground production). The second tranche represents the first
30 per cent of planned sales between October 2008 and September 2013. The copper hedging programme expires on 30 September
2013 (note 24).
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Going concern
The Board has reviewed the future cash flows of the business. Determining the future expected cash flows requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect cash flow. These include commodity prices, exchange rates and production levels.
Actual results could differ from these estimates. Based on the estimated future cash flows the Board believes that the Company
and the Group have adequate resources to continue as a going concern for the foreseeable future.

Ore reserves
The total probable ore reserves remaining as at 31 December 2012 were 35,46 Mt (2011: 48,91 Mt) at 0,54 per cent (2011: 0,57 per cent)
copper content.

Insurance claim
As part of risk management Palabora is insured for business interruption. The insurance claim in respect of the guide rope failure is
in progress as discussed in the Chief Financial Officer’s report on pages 22 to 23.

BBBEE
Palabora continues to make significant progress towards the fulfilment of the outstanding suspensive conditions and the
implementation of the BBBEE transaction.
Suspensive conditions
Palabora confirms fulfilment of the following key suspensive conditions:
n	execution of seven converted mining rights. Palabora anticipates the execution of the final converted mining right to be
achieved shortly;
n	adoption or amendment of the constitutional documents of the BBBEE partners and Palabora Copper Proprietary Limited
(Palabora Copper); and
n	receipt of counterparty consents to the transfer of essential contracts from Palabora to Palabora Copper upon the
implementation of the BBBEE transaction.
A key suspensive condition which remains to be fulfilled is the consent of the Minister of Mineral Resources in terms of section 11 of
the Mineral and Petroleum Resources Development Act, 2002, to the cession of the mining rights (other than the mining right which
remains subject to a third party dispute) from Palabora to Palabora Copper. This process may be expected to take between two and
six months.

The RTZ (South African) Environmental Rehabilitation Fund
Accumulated contributions of R208 million (2011: R110 million accumulated) has been placed with the RTZ (South Africa) Environmental
Rehabilitation Fund at 31 December 2012. The intention is to accumulate funds to be used on the restoration of the mining property
when the mine closes. The market value of this fund amounted to R612 million as at 31 December 2012 (2011: R445 million).

Foreign subsidiaries
Foreign subsidiaries, which are all unlisted, are mainly concerned with the marketing of vermiculite. The after-tax loss of subsidiaries
for the year ended 31 December 2012 amounted to R19 million (2011: R93 million profit) and the net assets at 31 December 2012
amounted to R183 million (2011: R188 million).

Subsidiaries and joint ventures

Joint venture
Palfos Aviation (Pty) Ltd (incorporated in South Africa)
Subsidiaries
Zirlite Investments (Jersey) Limited (incorporated in Cyprus)
Palabora Europe Limited (incorporated in UK)
American Vermiculite Corporation (incorporated in USA)
Palabora Asia Pte Limited (incorporated in Singapore)

Issued share
capital
2012
R’000

Effective
group interest
2012
per cent

2011
per cent

50

50

50

11
754
107
2

100
100
100
100

100
100
100
100

Palabora has full control over RTZ (South Africa) Environmental Rehabilitation Fund and the trust is consolidated in the annual
financial statements of Palabora.
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Directorate and secretaries
The names of the directors as at 31 December 2012 appear on pages 6 to 11. The addresses and names of the transfer secretaries
appear on page 151. Mr KN Mothole was the company secretary as at 31 December 2012.
The following changes have taken place in the composition of the Board of Directors during the year and since 31 December 2012 to
the date of this report:
n Hendrik J Faul was appointed as non-executive director from 2 January 2012;
n Coen H Louwarts resigned as alternate director from 12 October 2012;
n	Eric Yan was appointed as alternate director from 1 December 2012; and
n Peter K Ward was appointed as independent non-executive director on 18 December 2012.
In terms of the memorandum of incorporation, Messrs MR Abrahams and PK Ward retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting
but are all eligible and offer themselves for re-election.

Directors and management’s remuneration
Detail on the non-executive directors’ remuneration policy is disclosed in the remuneration report on page 39.
Palabora’s independent auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, have audited the non-executive and executive directors and managements’
remuneration (notes 6 and 29 of the consolidated financial statements).
Non-executive directors’ remuneration

 ll amounts in
A
R’000
Appointed

Resigned

CN Zungu
(Chairman)
1 Apr 02
CMH Louwarts 16 Mar 09
L Kirsner
1 Aug 09
FA du Plessis 11 Jan 10
MR Abrahams 11 Jan 10
WJ Abel
5 Feb 10
J Yuen
1 Jun 10
NA Hlubi
1 Feb 11
C Kinnell
4 Feb 11
JS Jacques
1 Dec 11
HJ Faul
2 Jan 12
E Yan
1 Dec 12

N/A
12 Oct 12
3 Feb 11
N/A
N/A
31 Dec 11
30 Nov 11
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

Sub total
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Board Audit Remuneraand Risk
tion and
Committee Nomination
attendance Committee
and attendance
travel fee
fee

Annual
retainer
fee

Board
attendance
and
travel fee

270
–
–
130
144
–
–
144
115
86
115
29

89
13
–
58
39
–
–
48
58
44
38
14

–
7
–
14
22
–
–
29
–
–
–
–

29
7
–
–
–
–
–
29
–
15
–
7

1 033

401

72

87

Social and
Technical
Committee
attendance
fee

Other

Total
fees
2012

Total
fees
2011

–
–
–
–
22
–
–
–
29
–
29
–

–
–
–
5
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

388
27
–
207
227
–
–
250
202
145
182
50

344
118
38
209
201
175
87
199
89
–
–
–

80

5

1 678

1 460
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Directors’ report (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2012

Executive directors’ and management remuneration

 ll amounts in
A
R’000

Appointed

Resigned

Executive directors
AW Lennox
DL Nakene
MD Gili
CA Asubonten
K Marshall

12 Jul 10
18 Apr 11
1 Mar 08
27 Jul 06
23 Feb 04

N/A
N/A
1 Jul 10
9 Jun 10
29 Feb 08

Sub total
Prescribed officer
WJ van Rooyen

11 Jan 11

Sub total

31 Dec 12

Salaries
and
benefits

Retirement
contributions

Bonuses
paid

Share
options
exercised
during
the year

1 952
1 668
–
–
–

961
134
–
–
–

2 034
2 070
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

4 538
–
1 295
–
54

9 485
3 872
1 295
–
54

7 616
1 218
3 601
447
8 833

3 620

1 095

4 104

–

5 887

14 706

21 715

–

–

–

–

–

–

2 863

Taxes
paid

Total
2012

Total
2011

–

–

–

–

–

–

2 863

Other
Top Earner A
Top Earner B
Top Earner C

1 656
1 616
1 549

270
171
113

2 232
2 859
2 482

391
–
–

2 497
–
–

7 046
4 646
4 144

2 263
1 792
2 052

Sub total

4 821

554

7 573

391

2 497

15 836

6 107

Mr AW Lennox was remunerated by the Rio Tinto Group, in Australian Dollars, and charged to Palabora. These amounts have been
translated into SA Rand using the average exchange rate for the year.
The Board is of the view that the executive directors are the prescribed officers for Palabora. Mr WJ van Rooyen was appointed as Project
director in 2012 and therefore did not meet the requirements to qualify as a prescribed officer for 2012. Figures for Mr WJ van Rooyen
are for comparative reasons.

Special resolutions
No special resolutions were passed by Palabora Mining Company and its subsidiaries during the period 1 January 2012 to the date of
this report.

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers will continue as auditors in accordance with section 90 of the Companies Act.

Directors’ interests
The directors do not have direct or indirect beneficial or non-beneficial interests in the Company’s issued share capital at
31 December 2012. The directors of the Company declare their interest in any transactions with the Company. No material contracts
involving directors’ interests were entered into during the year under review.

Shareholding
The shareholding in the issued share capital of the Company is held as indicated on page 150, and no directors held shares in the
Company as at 31 December 2012.

Dividends
No dividends were declared to shareholders during the year ended 31 December 2012.
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INDEPENDENT

AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the shareholders of Palabora Mining Company Limited
We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of Palabora Mining Company Limited set out on pages 98
to 143, which comprise the statements of financial position as at 31 December 2012, and the income statements, statements
of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the year then ended and the notes,
comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements
The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated and separate financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South
Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate
financial statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated and separate financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial statements are
free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant
to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and
separate financial position of Palabora Mining Company Limited as at 31 December 2012, and its consolidated and separate financial
performance and its consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

Other reports required by the Companies Act
As part of our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012, we have read the
Directors’ Report, the statement by the Board Audit and Risk Committee and the statement by the Company Secretary for the purpose
of identifying whether there are material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited consolidated and separate financial
statements. These reports are the responsibility of the respective preparers. Based on reading these reports we have not identified
material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited consolidated and separate financial statements. However, we have
not audited these reports and accordingly do not express an opinion on these reports.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.
Director: C Marais
Registered Auditor
Sunninghill
14 March 2013
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INCOME

STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 December 2012

GROUP
Note
Sale of products
Hedge loss realised
Revenue
Cost of sales

4
5

COMPANY

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

9 741
(1 025)

9 092
(1 038)

9 689
(1 025)

8 973
(1 038)

8 716
(4 338)

8 054
(3 376)

8 664
(4 288)

7 935
(3 417)

4 678
(1 869)
(711)
(79)
(196)
–
30
(53)

4 376
(2 993)
(748)
(47)
(684)
(22)
63
(31)

4 518
(1 843)
(705)
(79)
(196)
–
137
(59)

Gross profit
Selling and distribution costs
Administration expenses
Mineral and petroleum royalty charge
Exploration, development and growth costs
Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Other income
Other expenses

7
8
9
10

4 378
(3 018)
(772)
(47)
(684)
(22)
23
(31)

(Loss)/profit before net finance income and tax
Net finance income

11

(173)
63

1 800
376

(86)
68

1 773
378

122
(59)

423
(47)

122
(54)

425
(47)

(110)
13

2 176
(712)

(18)
3

2 151
(672)

(Loss)/profit for the year

(97)

1 464

(15)

1 479

(Loss)/profit attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent

(97)

1 464

(15)

1 479

(201)

3 028

5
5

Finance income
Finance cost
(Loss)/profit before tax
Income tax income/(expense)

(Loss)/earnings per share attributable to the equity
holders of the parent (expressed in cents per share):
Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share

12

13

The notes on pages 104 to 143 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Statements of

comprehensive income

for the year ended 31 December 2012

GROUP

COMPANY

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

(97)

1 464

(15)

1 479

57

37

57

37

16

36

–

–

4
10
26

(150)
1 025
6
(19)

(49)
1 038
6
(2)

(151)
1 025
6
(19)

(49)
1 038
6
(2)

12

(254)

(290)

(254)

(290)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

681

776

664

740

Total comprehensive income for the year

584

2 240

649

2 219

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent

584

2 240

Note
(Loss)/profit for the year
Other comprehensive income:
Available-for-sale investments
– Valuation gains arising during the year
Exchange differences on translation of foreign
operations
Cash flow hedges
– Mark to market losses arising during the year
– Transferred to profit or loss for the year
– Hedge ineffectiveness
Actuarial loss on defined benefit plans
Income tax relating to components of other
comprehensive income

17

The notes on pages 104 to 143 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF

FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 31 December 2012

GROUP

COMPANY

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

3 098

3 154

3 096

3 152

2 474
12
612

2 702
7
445

2 472
12
612

2 700
7
445

4 033

4 048

3 918

3 831

167
871
851
–
1 980
164

136
921
781
–
2 210
–

167
839
783
64
1 904
161

136
845
677
25
2 148
–

7 131

7 202

7 014

6 983

629
(328)
3 842

629
(1 023)
4 053

629
(349)
3 741

629
(1 027)
3 870

Total equity

4 143

3 659

4 021

3 472

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities

1 305

1 749

1 320

1 749

–
771
205
329

754
665
177
153

–
771
205
344

754
665
177
153

1 683

1 794

1 673

1 762

847
8
641
187
–

968
9
641
111
65

847
8
631
187
–

968
9
624
111
50

Total liabilities

2 988

3 543

2 993

3 511

Total equity and liabilities

7 131

7 202

7 014

6 983

Note
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Financial assets

15
16
17

Current assets
Stores inventories
Product inventories
Trade and other receivables
Investment and loans in subsidiaries and joint venture
Cash and cash equivalents
Current income tax assets

18
19
20
21
22

Total assets
Equity
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Share capital and premium
Other reserves
Retained earnings

Financial liabilities
Close down and restoration obligation
Retirement benefits obligations
Deferred income tax liabilities

23

24
25
26
27

Current liabilities
Financial liabilities
Retirement benefit obligations
Trade and other payables
Related party payables
Current income tax liabilities

24
26
28
29

The notes on pages 104 to 143 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF

CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31 December 2012

Attributable to owners of the parent

Note
GROUP
Balance at 1 January 2011
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year
Available-for-sale investments
– Valuation gains arising during the year
Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations
Cash flow hedges
–M
 ark to market losses arising during
the year
– Transferred to profit or loss for the year
– Hedge ineffectiveness
Actuarial loss on defined benefit plans
Income tax relating to components of
other comprehensive income
Dividends paid

Dividends paid
Balance at 31 December 2012

Hedging
reserve
R’m

Translation
reserve
R’m

Fair
value Retained
reserve earnings
R’m
R’m

Total
equity
R’m

48
–

581
–

(1 969)
716

(31)
36

199
26

3 390
1 462

2 218
2 240

–

–

–

–

–

1 464

1 464

–

–

–

–

37

–

37

–

–

–

36

–

–

36

4
10
26

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

(49)
1 038
6
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
(2)

(49)
1 038
6
(2)

12

–

–

(279)

–

(11)

–

(290)

23.4

–

–

–

–

–

(799)

(799)

48

581

(1 253)

5

225

4 053

3 659

–

–

636

16

43

(111)

584

–

–

–

–

–

(97)

(97)

–

–

–

–

57

–

57

–

–

–

16

–

–

16

4
10
26

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

(150)
1 025
6
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
(19)

(150)
1 025
6
(19)

12

–

–

(245)

–

(14)

5

(254)

23.4

–

–

–

–

–

(100)

(100)

48

581

(617)

21

268

3 842

4 143

17

Balance at 31 December 2011
Total comprehensive income/(loss)
for the year
Loss for the year
Available-for-sale investments
– Valuation gains arising during the year
Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations
Cash flow hedges
–M
 ark to market losses arising during
the year
– Transferred to profit or loss for the year
– Hedge ineffectiveness
Actuarial loss on defined benefit plans
Income tax relating to components of
other comprehensive income

Share
Share
capital premium
R’m
R’m

17

The notes on pages 104 to 143 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Statements of changes in equity (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2012

Attributable to owners of the parent

Note
COMPANY
Balance at 1 January 2011
Total comprehensive income for the year

Share
Share
capital premium
R’m
R’m

Hedging
reserve
R’m

Fair
value Retained
reserve earnings
R’m
R’m

Total
equity
R’m

48
–

581
–

(1 968)
716

199
26

3 192
1 477

2 052
2 219

–

–

–

–

1 479

1 479

17

–

–

–

37

–

37

4
10
26

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

(49)
1 038
6
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
(2)

(49)
1 038
6
(2)

12

–

–

(279)

(11)

–

(290)

23.4

–

–

–

–

(799)

(799)

Balance at 31 December 2011
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year

48
–

581
–

(1 252)
635

225
43

3 870
(29)

3 472
649

Loss for the year
Available-for-sale investments
– Valuation gains arising during the year
Cash flow hedges
– Mark to market losses arising during the year
– Transferred to profit or loss for the year
– Hedge ineffectiveness
Actuarial loss on defined benefit plans
Income tax relating to components of other
comprehensive income

–

–

–

–

(15)

(15)

17

–

–

–

57

–

57

4
10
26

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

(151)
1 025
6
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
(19)

(151)
1 025
6
(19)

12

–

–

(245)

(14)

5

(254)

23.4

–

–

–

–

(100)

(100)

48

581

(617)

268

3 741

4 021

Profit for the year
Available-for-sale investments
– Valuation gains arising during the year
Cash flow hedges
– Mark to market losses arising during the year
– Transferred to profit or loss for the year
– Hedge ineffectiveness
Actuarial loss on defined benefit plans
Income tax relating to components of other
comprehensive income
Dividends paid

Dividends paid
Balance at 31 December 2012

The notes on pages 104 to 143 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF

CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31 December 2012

GROUP
Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operating activities
Interest paid
Interest received
Dividends paid
Income tax paid

2012
R’m

COMPANY
2011
R’m

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

514
–
28
(100)
(294)

2 308
(3)
33
(799)
(759)

477
–
28
(100)
(272)

2 228
(3)
33
(799)
(730)

148

780

133

729

(354)
(12)

(442)
(3)

(354)
(12)

(441)
(3)

2
(110)
–
–

1
(10)
–
–

2
(110)
(39)
40

1
(10)
(16)
107

(474)

(454)

(473)

(362)

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of borrowings

–

(107)

–

(107)

Net cash used in financing activities

–

(107)

–

(107)

(326)
2 210

219
1 641

(340)
2 148

260
1 538

96

350

96

350

1 980

2 210

1 904

2 148

30
11
11
23.4

Net cash generated from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition of intangible assets
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipment
Invested in available-for-sale financial asset
Decrease in loans to subsidiaries
Dividend income

15.1
16

17

Net cash used in investing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of
cash held in foreign currencies
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

22

The notes on pages 104 to 143 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2012

1.

Corporate information

	Palabora Mining Company Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) extracts and beneficiates copper,
magnetite and vermiculite from its mines in the Limpopo Province, South Africa. It is the primary aim of the Company, a
member of the world-wide Rio Tinto Group, to achieve excellence in all aspects of its activities and to develop the Company’s
resources and assets in a socially and environmentally responsible way for the maximum benefit of its shareholders, employees,
customers and the community in which it operates. It is the Company’s firm belief that efficient and profitable operations
go hand-in-hand with high quality products and comprehensive and effective safety, health and environmental protection
programmes.
	The Group is incorporated and domiciled in South Africa. The address of its registered office is 1 Copper Road, Phalaborwa, 1389.
The Company is a public limited company which is listed on the JSE Limited.

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies

	The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2012 are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.
2.1	Basis of preparation
		The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012 have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and Interpretations of the International Accounting Standards
Board (“IASB”) effective for the financial year ended 31 December 2012, requirements of the South African Companies
Act and regulations of the JSE Limited.
		The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for derivative financial
instruments and available-for-sale investments that have been measured at fair value.
2.2

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

		The Group has adopted the following new and amended standards and interpretations from the annual period beginning
1 January 2012:
		 n	
IFRS 7 (Amendment): Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Transfer of Financial Assets (effective for financial
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011) – Amendments enhancing disclosures about transfers of financial assets.
		 n	
IAS 12 (Amendment) Income Taxes – Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets (effective for financial periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2012) – A limited scope amendment to the recovery of underlying assets.
		The following interpretations are mandatory for the financial period beginning 1 January 2012, but are not relevant to
the Group’s operations:
		 n	
IFRS 1 (Amendment): First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards – Removal of Fixed
Dates for First-time Adopters (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011) – Replacement of
‘fixed dates’ for certain exceptions with ‘the date of transition to IFRSs’.
		 n	
IFRS 1 (Amendment): First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards – Guidance on Severe
Hyperinflation (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011) – Additional exemption for entities
ceasing to suffer from severe hyperinflation.
		The following standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been issued but are not effective yet and
have not been early adopted. The impact of all these amendments to standards and interpretations on the Group’s
financial statements is not considered material:
		 n IFRS 1 (Amendment): First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards – Guidance on
Government Loans (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) – Addresses how a firsttime adopter would account for a government loan with a below market rate of interest when transitioning to IFRS.
		 n IFRS 1 (Amendment): First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards – Annual improvements
(effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) – The amendment clarifies that an entity may
apply IFRS 1 more than once under certain circumstances. It also clarifies that an entity can choose to adopt IAS 23,
‘Borrowing costs’ either from its date of transition or from an earlier date and that a first-time adopter should provide
the supporting notes for all statements presented.
		 n	
IFRS 7 (Amendment): Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Asset and liability offsetting (effective for financial
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) – Includes new disclosures to facilitate comparison between those
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entities that prepare IFRS financial statements to those that prepare financial statements in accordance with
US GAAP.
n IFRS 9: Financial Instruments (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015) – IFRS 9 retains
but simplifies the mixed measurement model and establishes two primary measurement categories for financial
assets: amortised cost and fair value. The basis of classification depends on the entity’s business model and the
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.
n	
IFRS 10 : Consolidated Financial Statements (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013)
– Establish principles for the presentation and preparation of consolidated financial statements when an entity
controls one or more entities.
n	
IFRS 11: Joint Arrangements (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) – A more realistic
reflection of joint agreements by focusing on the rights and obligations of the arrangement rather than its legal form.
n	
IFRS 12: Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January
2013) – Disclosure requirements for all forms of interests in other entities.
n IFRS 10, 11 and 12 (Amendment) – Transition Guidance (effective for financial periods beginning on or after
1 January 2013) – Limit the requirement to provide adjusted comparative information to only the preceding
comparative period.
n IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) – Aims to
improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing a precise definition of fair value and a single source of fair
value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across IFRSs.
n	
IAS 1 (Amendment): Financial Statement Presentation (effective for financial periods beginning on or after
1 July 2012) – Group items, presented in other comprehensive income, on the basis of whether they are potentially
reclassifiable to profit or loss subsequently.
n	
IAS 1 (Amendment): Financial statement presentation – Annual improvements (effective for financial periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2013) – The amendment clarifies the disclosure requirements for comparative
information when an entity provides a third balance sheet.
n	
IAS 16 (Amendment): Property, plant and equipment – Annual improvements (effective for financial periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2013) – The amendment clarifies that spare parts and servicing equipment are
classified as property, plant and equipment rather than inventory when they meet the definition of property, plant
and equipment.
n	
IAS 19 (Amendment) Employee Benefits (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) –
Amendments eliminate the corridor approach and calculate finance costs on a net funding basis.
n	
IAS 27 (Revised 2011): Separate Financial Statements (effective for financial periods beginning on or after
1 January 2013) – Includes the provisions on separate financial statements that are left after the control provisions
of IAS 27 have been included in the new IFRS 10.
n IAS 28 (Revised 2011): Associates and Joint Ventures (effective for financial periods beginning on or after
1 January 2013) – Includes the requirements for joint ventures, as well as associates, to be equity accounted following
the issue of IFRS 11.
n	
IAS 32 (Amendment): Financial Instruments: Presentation – Asset and Liability Offsetting (effective for financial
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014) – Clarify some of the requirements for offsetting financial assets and
financial liabilities on the statement of financial position.
n	
IAS 32 (Amendment): Financial Instruments: Presentation – Annual improvements (effective for financial
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) – The amendment clarifies the treatment of income tax relating
to distributions and transaction costs and that the treatment is in accordance with IAS 12, ‘Income taxes’. Income
tax related to distributions is recognised in the income statement, and income tax related to the costs of equity
transaction is recognised in equity.
n	
IAS 34 (Amendment): Interim financial reporting – Annual improvements (effective for financial periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2013) – The amendment brings IAS 34 into line with the requirements of IFRS 8,
‘Operating segments’. A measure of total assets and liabilities is required for an operating segment in interim
financial statements if such information is regularly provided to the chief operating decision-maker and there has
been a material change in those measures since the last annual financial statements.
n	
IFRIC 20 : Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine (effective for financial periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2013) – This interpretation sets out the accounting for overburden waste removal (stripping) costs
in the production phase of a surface mine.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2012

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.3

Consolidation

		The consolidated financial information includes the financial statements of the Company, its subsidiaries and its
joint venture.
		All intra-Group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits or losses, including unrealised profits from
inter-Group transactions, have been eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains, except that they are only eliminated to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
		Where necessary, adjustments are made to the results of the subsidiaries and joint venture to bring their accounting
policies in line with those used by the Group.
		

2.3.1

Subsidiaries

			Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies
generally accompanying a shareholding more that one-half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the
Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred
to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.
			The consolidated financial statements include all the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and cash flows of
the Company and its subsidiaries after eliminating inter-company transactions as noted above.
			Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the separate financial statements of the Company.
		

2.3.2

Joint venture

			A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake an economic activity
that is subject to joint control. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control such that significant
operating and financial decisions require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. The Group has
an interest in a jointly controlled entity which involved the establishment of a private company in which each
venturer has a long-term interest. Jointly controlled entities are accounted for using the equity accounting
method. In addition, the carrying value will include any long-term debt interests that in substance form part
of the Group’s net investment.
			Investment in joint venture is accounted for at cost in the separate financial statements of the Company.
2.4
		

Currency translations
2.4.1	Functional and presentation currency

			The functional currency for each entity in the Group is the currency of the primary economic environment in
which it operates, which is usually the currency of the country in which they operate. The functional currency
for the Company is SA Rand.
			These consolidated financial statements are presented in SA Rand, as it most reliably reflects the business
performance of the Group as a whole.
		

2.4.2

Transactions and balances

			Transactions denominated in other currencies are converted to the functional currency at the exchange
rate ruling at the date of the transaction unless hedge accounting applies. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at year-end exchange rates.
			Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to cash and cash equivalents are presented in the income
statement with “net finance income/(cost)” as “foreign exchange gain/(loss) on finance activities”. All other
exchange differences are charged or credited to the income statement within “net finance income/(cost)” as
“foreign exchange gain/(loss) on operating activities”.
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2.4.3

Group companies

			On consolidation, statement of comprehensive income items are translated from the functional currency into
SA Rand at average rates of exchange. Statement of financial position items are translated into SA Rand at
year end exchange rates. Exchange differences on the translation of the net assets of entities with functional
currencies other than the SA Rand, and any offsetting exchange differences on net debt hedging those net
assets, are recognised directly in the foreign currency translation reserve via other comprehensive income.
Exchange gains and losses which arise on balances between Group entities are taken to the foreign currency
translation reserve where the intra-Group balance is, in substance, part of the Group’s net investment in the
entity. The balance of the foreign currency translation reserve relating to an operation that is disposed of is
transferred to the income statement at the time of the disposal.
2.5

Property, plant and equipment

		Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
The cost of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price, any costs directly attributable to bringing the
assets to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management
and the estimated close down and restoration costs associated with the asset. Once a mining project has been established
as having a high degree of confidence and is commercially viable, expenditure other than that of land, buildings, plant
and equipment is capitalised under “Capital works in progress”.
		Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.
		Property, plant and equipment is depreciated over its useful life, or over the remaining life of the mine if shorter.
The major categories of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a units of production basis and/or straightline basis, as follows:
		
Units of production basis: For mining properties and certain mining equipment, the economic benefits from the assets
are consumed in a pattern which is linked to the production level of the mine. In applying the units of production
method, depreciation is normally calculated using the quantity of material extracted from the mine in the period as a
percentage of the total quantity of material to be extracted in current and future periods based on proved and probable
ore reserves.
		
Straight-line basis: Assets within operations for which production is not expected to fluctuate significantly from one
year to another or which have a physical life shorter than the mine are depreciated on a straight-line basis, as follows:
		
		
		
		
		

n
n
n
n
n

Land
Buildings
Improvements on property
Plant, machinery and equipment
Computer equipment

Not depreciated
20 years
10 years
5 years
4 years

		The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. Changes to
the estimated residual values or useful lives are accounted for prospectively.
		Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised
within “Other income” or “Other expenses” in the income statement.
		Expenditure on repairs and maintenance of property, plant and equipment are charged to the income statement as
incurred. The cost of assets sold or scrapped and the related accumulated depreciation is eliminated from the accounts
at the time of disposal and the resulting profits or losses are reflected in the income statement.
2.6

Intangible assets

		
Computer software and licenses
		Purchased intangible assets are initially recorded at cost and finite life intangible assets are amortised over their useful
economic lives on a straight-line basis. Acquired computer software licences are recognised on the basis of the cost
incurred and when brought to use. Computer software has an estimated useful life of three to five years and is carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation less accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised as part of cost of
sales in the income statement.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2012

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.7

Impairment on non-financial assets

		An impairment review of non-financial assets is carried out annually or whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Impairment is normally assessed at the level of cashgenerating units which are identified as the smallest identifiable group of assets that generate cash inflows, which are
largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets.
		When there is an indication of impairment, the net carrying value of assets is compared with their recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and fair value less cost to sell. The value in use for each separate
income-generating unit is determined. Estimated future net cash flows are calculated using estimates of ore reserves,
estimated future sales prices (considering historical and current prices, price trends and related factors) and operating,
capital and restoration costs.
		Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying value of the assets, the impairment loss identified is charged
against the identified non-financial assets to reduce their carrying value to their recoverable amounts. The revised
carrying amounts are depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the non-financial assets.
		Non-financial assets, other than goodwill, that have suffered an impairment are tested for possible reversal of the
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the impairment may have reversed.
2.8

Current and deferred income tax

		The income tax income (expense) in the income statement comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the
income statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.
		The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the
tax authorities.
		Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, the deferred income
tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax
is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the reporting date and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.
		Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
		Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
		Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.
2.9
		

Stores and product inventories
2.9.1

Stores inventories

			Stores inventories consist of consumable and maintenance stores and are valued at the lower of cost and net
realisable value, primarily on a weighted average cost basis. Average cost is calculated by reference to the
purchase price together with opening inventory.
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2.9.2

Product inventories

			Product inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value, primarily on a weighted average
cost basis. Average costs are calculated by reference to the cost levels experienced over a defined production
period which largely reflects the production process and timing thereof.
			Cost for partly processed and saleable products is generally the cost of production. The cost of product
inventories comprises the direct cost of production which includes mining and production overheads,
depreciation and amortisation. No value is attributed to material before it reaches the concentrator or to
inventories of anode slimes.
			Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less costs to complete and
applicable variable selling expenses.
2.10

Cash and cash equivalents

		For the purposes of the statement of financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held
on call with banks and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents are net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand which are shown as current liabilities on the
balance sheet if applicable.
2.11

Provisions

		Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, when
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a
reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.
		

2.11.1

Close down and restoration obligation

			Close down and restoration costs include the dismantling and demolition of infrastructure and the removal of
residual materials and remediation of disturbed areas. Estimated close down and restoration costs are provided
for in the accounting period when the obligation arising from the related disturbance occurs, whether this
occurs during the mining development or during the production phase, based on the net present value of
estimated future costs.
			Provisions for close down and restoration costs do not include any additional obligations which are expected
to arise from future disturbance. The costs are estimated on the basis of a closure plan. The cost estimates
are updated annually during the life of the operation to reflect known developments, e.g. revisions to cost
estimates and to the estimated lives of operations and are subject to formal review at regular intervals.
			Close down and restoration costs are a normal consequence of mining, and the majority of close down and
restoration expenditure is incurred at the end of the life of the mine. Although the ultimate cost to be incurred
is uncertain, the Group estimates its respective costs based on feasibility and engineering studies using current
restoration standards and techniques. The unwinding of discount applied in establishing the net present value
of provision is charged to the income statement in each accounting period. The amortisation of the discount
is shown as “finance cost” rather than as cost of sales.
			The initial closure provision together with other movements in the provisions for close down and restoration
costs, including those resulting from new disturbance, updated cost estimates, changes to the estimated lives
of operations and revisions to discount rates are recognised within property, plant and equipment under the
“decommissioning asset” category. These costs are then depreciated over the lives of the assets to which they
relate. Discount rates are determined by pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value
of money, adjusted for risk specific to the liability.
		

2.11.2

Post-employment medical benefits

			The Group provides post-employment medical benefits for certain current and retired employees and their
spouses by way of contributions to medical aid schemes. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over
the period of employment using the projected unit credit method. The liability recognised in the statement of
financial position is the present value of the obligation at reporting date with adjustments for unrecognised
past service costs. Actuarial gains and losses arising in the year are taken to other comprehensive income.

Palabora Mining Company Limited
Integrated annual report 2012

109

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2012

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.11

		

Provisions (continued)
2.11.2

Post-employment medical benefits (continued)

			Actuarial gains and losses comprise both the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions and experience
adjustments arising because of differences between the previous actuarial assumptions and what has actually
occurred. Past service costs are recognised immediately in the income statement, unless the changes to the
pension plan are conditional, in which case the costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period.
			The present value of the obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using
interest rates of government bonds with terms corresponding to that of the liability. Valuations of these
obligations are carried out on a periodic basis by professionally qualified independent actuaries, using the
projected unit credit method.
2.12	Financial instruments
		

2.12.1	Financial assets

			The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables and available-for-sale investments. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial
assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of financial assets at initial recognition.
			

i.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

				Derivatives are included in this category unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this category
are classified as current assets. Generally, the Group does not acquire financial assets for the purpose of
selling in the short term. Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised
at fair value and transaction costs are expensed in the income statement.
			
ii. Loans and receivables
				Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. They are classified as current assets or non-current assets based on their
maturity date. Loans and receivables comprise trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents in
the statement of financial position. Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost less any impairment.
			
iii. Available-for-sale financial assets
				Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as available for sale or
not classified in any of the other categories. They are included in non-current assets unless the Group
intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the reporting date. Changes in the fair value
of the available-for-sale assets are recognised in other comprehensive income. When available-for-sale
financial assets are sold, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in other comprehensive
income are included in the income statement within “other expenses”.
				Financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised on the trade date at
fair value plus transaction costs.
		

2.12.2	Financial liabilities

			Borrowings and other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred
and are subsequently stated at amortised cost. Any difference between the amounts originally received (net of
transaction cost) and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period to maturity
using the effective interest method. Borrowings and other financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities
unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the
reporting date.
		

2.12.3

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

			Derivatives are initially recognised at their fair value on the date the derivative contract is entered into and
are subsequently remeasured at their fair value at each final reporting date. The method of recognising
the resulting gain or loss depends on whether or not the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument
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and, if so, the nature of the item being hedged. At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally
designates and documents the hedge relationship to which the Group wishes to apply hedge accounting and
risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge.
			The documentation includes identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the
nature of the risk being hedged and how the entity will assess the hedging instrument’s effectiveness in
offsetting the exposure to changes in the hedged item’s fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged
risk. Hedges that are expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows
are assessed on an ongoing basis to determine that they actually have been highly effective throughout the
financial reporting periods for which they were designated.
			
Cash flow hedges: The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and
qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the
ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement within “other expenses”. Amounts
accumulated in equity are recycled in the income statement in the period when the hedged item affects profit
or loss. The realised gain or loss relating to the effective portion of commodity contracts hedging sales is
recognised in the income statement within “Revenue”.
			When a cash flow hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a cash flow hedge no longer meets the
criteria for hedge accounting, although the forecasted transaction is still expected to occur, any cumulative
gain or loss relating to the instrument which is held in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised
when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the income statement.
		

2.12.4	Fair value

			Fair value is the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in an arm’s length transaction
between informed and willing parties. Where relevant market prices are available, these have been used to
determine fair values. In other cases, fair values have been calculated using quotations from independent
financial institutions, or by using valuation techniques consistent with general market practice applicable to
the instrument.
			

i.	The fair values of cash, short-term borrowings and loans to joint ventures approximate their carrying
values as a result of their short maturity or because they carry floating rates of interest.

			

ii.	The fair values of medium and long-term borrowings is calculated as the present value of the estimated
future cash flows using an appropriate market based yield curve. The carrying value of borrowings
are reflected at their amortised cost.

			

iii.	Derivative financial assets and liabilities are carried at fair value based on published price quotations for
the period for which a liquid active market exists. Beyond this period, the Group’s own assumptions are
used.

				The fair value of the derivative instruments used for hedge accounting is classified as a non‑current asset
or liability if the remaining maturity of the hedged item is more than 12 months, and as a current asset or
liability if the remaining hedged item is less than 12 months.
		

2.12.5

			

Impairment of financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets

			The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group
of financial assets are impaired. In the case of equity securities classified as available-for-sale an evaluation
is made as to whether a decline in fair value is ‘significant’ or ‘prolonged’ based on an analysis of indicators
such as significant adverse changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment in which the
Company invested operates.
			If an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net
of any principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously
recognised in the income statement is transferred from equity to the income statement. Reversals in respect of
equity instruments classified as available-for-sale are not recognised in the income statement.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.12	Financial instruments (continued)

		

2.12.5

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

			Reversals of impairment losses on debt instruments are reversed through the income statement; if the increase
in fair value of the instrument can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss
was recognised.
			
Loans and receivables
			An impairment for loans and receivables is recognised in the income statement within “other expenses”. When
loans and receivables are uncollectable, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are credited against “other income” in the income statement.
		

2.12.6

			

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets

			A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows that comprise the financial
asset expire or substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset are transferred.
			

Financial liabilities

			A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expired.
Gains and losses on derecognition are recognised within “net finance income/(cost)”.
			Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is
treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in
the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the income statement.
		

2.12.7

Trade receivables

			Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost
reduced by any provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when
there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all, or part thereof, amounts due. Indicators
of impairment would include financial difficulties of the debtor, likelihood of the debtor’s insolvency, default
in payment or a significant deterioration in credit worthiness.
			An impairment is recognised in the income statement within “other expenses”. When a trade receivable is
uncollectable, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited against “other income” in the income statement.
		

2.12.8

Trade payables

			Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
2.13

Contingencies

		Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial statements but are disclosed by way of note unless their
occurrence is remote. If it becomes probable that out flow of future economic benefits will be required, a provision is
recognised in the financial statements.
		Contingent assets are not recognised in the financial statement but they are disclosed by way of a note if they are
deemed probable.

112

2.14

Share capital

		Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
2.15
		

Revenue recognition
2.15.1

Revenue – Sale of goods

			Revenue comprises sales to third parties at invoiced amounts, with most sales being ex works, free on board
(FOB), cost freight insurance (CFI) or cost freight rail (CFR). Amounts billed to customers in respect of shipping
and handling are classed as revenue where the Group is responsible for carriage, insurance and freight.
All shipping and handling costs incurred by the Group are recognised as selling and distribution costs. If the
Group is acting solely as an agent, amounts billed to customers are offset against the relevant costs. By-product
sales are included in revenue.
			A large proportion of Group production is sold under medium to long-term contracts, but revenue is only
recognised on individual sales when persuasive evidence exists indicating that all of the following criteria
are met:
			
n	The significant risks and rewards of ownership of the product have been transferred to the buyer;
			
n	Neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective
control over the goods sold has been retained;
			
n	The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
			
n	It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the sale will flow to the Group; and
			
n	The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the sale can be measured reliably.
			These conditions are generally satisfied when title passes to the customer. In most instances revenue is recognised
when the product is delivered to the destination specified by the customer, which is typically the vessel on which
it will be shipped, the destination port or the customer’s premises, dependent on shipping terms.
			The revenue from sales of many products is subject to adjustment based on an inspection of the product by the
customer. In such cases, revenue is initially recognised on a provisional pricing basis using the Group’s best
estimate of contained metal. Any subsequent adjustments to the initial estimate of metal content are recorded
in revenue once they have been determined. Certain products are “provisionally priced”, i.e. the selling price
is subject to final adjustment at the end of a period normally ranging from 30 to 180 days after delivery to the
customer, based on the market price at the relevant quotation point stipulated in the contract.
			Revenue is initially recognised when the conditions set out above have been met, using market prices at that
date. At each reporting date the provisionally priced metal is marked to market, with adjustments recorded
in revenue, based on the forward selling price for the quotational period stipulated in the contract until the
quotational period expires. For this purpose, the selling price can be measured reliably for those products,
such as copper, for which there exists an active and freely traded commodity market such as the London Metal
Exchange, and the value of product sold by the Group is directly linked to the form in which it is traded on the
market.
		

2.15.2

Dividends received

			Dividends receivable are recognised when the right to receive payment is established. Dividends received are
recognised in the income statement within “other income”.
		

2.15.3

Interest received

			Interest receivable is recognised on a time proportion basis, taking into account the principal outstanding and
the effective rate over the period to maturity, when it is determined that such income will accrue to the Group.
Interest received is recognised in the income statement within “net finance income/(cost)”.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.16

Exploration, development and growth costs

		Exploration, development and growth expenditure comprises costs that are directly attributable to:
		 n	researching and analysing existing exploration data;
		 n	conducting geological studies, exploratory drilling and sampling;
		 n	examining and testing extraction and treatment methods; and/or
		 n	compiling prefeasibility and feasibility studies.
		Exploration, development and growth expenditure relates to the initial search for deposits with economic potential.
Evaluation expenditure arises from a detailed assessment of deposits or other projects that have been identified as
having economic potential.
		Expenditure on exploration activity is not capitalised. Capitalisation of evaluation expenditure commences when there
is a high degree of confidence in the project’s viability and it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to
the Group.
2.17
		

Employee benefits
2.17.1

Pension plan

			With effect from 1 September 2002, the Group’s significant pension plan is a defined contribution plan.
The assets of this plan are separate from the Company’s finances. The cost of the Company’s contribution to
the defined contribution plan, which is based on a proportion of pensionable emoluments, is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it arises.
		

2.17.2	Bonus plans

			The Group recognises a liability and an expense for performance and retention bonuses, based on a formula
that takes into consideration the profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders after certain adjustments.
The Group recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created
a constructive obligation.
2.18

Operating leases

		Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified
as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged
to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
2.19

Mineral and petroleum royalty charge

		The mineral and petroleum royalty charge relates to the Mineral and Petroleum Resources Royalty Act, 2008. Companies
that wins or recovers mineral resources must pay a royalty in respect of the transfer of that mineral resources. Royalty
charges are charged to the income statement as an expense in the period in which it arises.
2.20

Secondary tax on companies/Dividend tax

		Secondary Tax on Companies (“STC”) is a tax that the Company is liable for when the Company declares dividends to its
shareholders. The calculation of Secondary tax on companies is regulated by sections 64B and 64C of the Income Tax
Act (“the Act”) and is payable on the net amount. The net amount is calculated as the amount of dividends declared,
reduced by the amount of certain dividends received. In terms of the Act, if an entity has an excess of dividends accrued
over dividends declared during a given dividend cycle, that excess is carried forward to the next dividend cycle and is
then deemed to be a dividend that accrued to the entity during the next dividend cycle. This excess is generally referred
to as unused STC credits.
		Secondary tax on companies due, are charged within “income tax income (expense)” in the income statement.
		Secondary tax on companies was replaced with dividend tax effective 1 April 2012. Dividend tax is categorised
as a withholding tax, as the tax is withheld and paid to South African Revenue Services (“SARS”) by the Company paying
the dividend or by a regulated intermediary and not by the beneficial owner of the dividend.
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2.21

Segment reporting

		Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the executive directors, assisted by the general managers,
who make strategic decisions.

3.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
3.1	Judgements in applying accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty

		Many of the amounts included in the consolidated financial statements involve the use of judgement and/or estimation.
These judgements and estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the relevant facts and circumstances,
having regard to prior experience, but actual results may differ from the amounts included in the consolidated financial
statements. Information about such judgements and estimations is contained in the accounting policies and/or the
notes to the consolidated financial statements, and the key areas are summarised below.
		Areas of judgement and key sources of estimation uncertainty that may have some significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements are:
		

3.1.1

Determination of ore reserves

			In assessing the life of the mine for accounting purposes, mineral resources are only taken into account where
there is a high degree of confidence of economic extraction. There are numerous uncertainties inherent in
estimating ore reserves; and assumptions that are valid at the time of estimation may change significantly
when new information becomes available. Changes in the forecast prices of commodities, exchange rates,
production costs or recovery rates may change the economic status of reserves and may, ultimately, result in
the reserves being restated.
			Reserves are used in the calculation of depreciation and impairment charges and for forecasting the timing of
the payment of close down and restoration costs.
		

3.1.2

Impairment of assets

			The Group tests whether assets have suffered any impairment in accordance with the accounting policy in
note 2.7. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been derived from value-in-use calculations
(being the net present value of expected future cash flows of the relevant cash-generating unit). These
calculations require the use of estimates of future commodity prices and exchange rates. Estimates are based
on management’s interpretation of market forecasts. In line with market practice, fair value is estimated using a
discounted cash flow analysis. The price assumption for copper is based on prevailing market prices for the first
two years and long-term forecast prices thereafter. The Rand exchange rate is forecast principally based on an
historical average. The cash flow forecasts are discounted at a pre-tax rate of eight per cent.
		

3.1.3

Provisions

			Provision for future rehabilitation and post-employment medical benefits cost have been determined, based
on calculations which require the use of estimates (notes 25 and 26).
		

3.1.4

Derivative financial instrument

			The cash flow hedge valuation was based on quoted London Metal Exchange (“LME”) prices (note 24).
		

3.1.5

Estimation of asset lives

			See note 2.5 on the estimation of asset lives.
		

3.1.6

Contingencies

			See note 36 on the estimation of contingencies.
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3.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)
3.2

		

Changes in estimates
3.2.1

Retirement benefits obligation

			The cost of post-employment medical benefits is determined using actuarial valuations. The actuarial valuation
involves making assumptions about discount rates, mortality rates and income at retirement. Due to the longterm nature of these plans, such estimates are subject to significant uncertainty. The net employee liability
at 31 December 2012 is valued at R213 million compared with R186 million at 31 December 2011. The main
assumptions are summarised in note 26. The valuation resulted in an actuarial loss of R19 million before tax
(2011: R2 million) as a result of a decrease in real discount rate, i.e. a decrease in the difference between the
discount rate and the healthcare cost inflation assumption, and an increase in medical contributions being
recognised in other comprehensive income (note 26).
		

3.2.2

Close down and restoration obligation

			The provision for close-down and restoration costs was impacted by the following changes in estimates during
the year ended 31 December 2012 (note 25):
			
n	R90 million increase due to increased closure costs estimates following a closure review; and
			
n	An increase in the nominal discount rate from 6,8 per cent to 7,3 per cent resulted in
a R30 million decrease.
		

3.2.3

Mark to market valuation of hedge book

			Following the changes in the forward copper market and the realisation of 21 137 tonnes of copper, the
mark‑to-market revaluation of the hedge book has resulted in a R875 million decrease in the hedge liability
(note 24).
GROUP

4.

COMPANY

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

9 741
(1 025)

9 092
(1 038)

9 689
(1 025)

8 973
(1 038)

8 716

8 054

8 664

7 935

Revenue
Sale of products
Hedge loss realised

A portion of the Group’s revenue from the sale of products denominated in foreign currencies is cash flow hedged. The cash
flows paid under the terms of the hedging instrument are designed to reduce variability in the Rand proceeds of the copper
sales (note 24).
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GROUP

5.

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

586
1 124
62
(3)
95
1 300
320
1 393
200
1 388
1 436
330
581

632
1 002
102
4
(240)
671
335
1 084
146
848
836
325
407

586
1 105
62
(3)
43
1 300
320
1 393
200
1 388
1 417
330
572

632
992
102
4
(190)
671
335
1 084
146
848
816
325
396

8 812

6 152

8 713

6 161

4 338
3 018
772
684

3 376
1 869
711
196

4 288
2 993
748
684

3 417
1 843
705
196

8 812

6 152

8 713

6 161

1 037
53

913
47

1 018
53

903
47

2

1

2

1

15

25

15

25

2
15

2
14

2
15

2
14

1 124

1 002

1 105

992

Expenses by nature
Depreciation and amortisation charges (notes 15 and 16)
Employee benefit expense (note 6)
Labour hire
Changes in stores inventories (note 18)
Changes in product inventories (note 19)
Product purchases
Raw materials and consumables used
Repairs and maintenance
Material transport on-site
Shipping and port cost
Rail, road and other transport costs
Utilities
Other costs

Comprising:
Cost of sales
Selling and distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Exploration, development and growth costs (note 7)

6.

COMPANY

Employee benefit expense
Employee benefit expense
– Salaries and wages
– Pension costs
Compensation of directors and key management
– Salaries – non-executive directors
– Salaries – key management (including
executive directors’)
Post-employment benefits (note 26)
– Current service costs
– Interest costs

Details on the directors’ and key management’s compensation are included in the directors’ report on page 93.
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GROUP and COMPANY

7.

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

646
38

196
–

684

196

22

–

Exploration, development and growth costs
Lift II exploration and development costs
Transfer from property, plant and equipment (note 15)

Lift II exploration and growth costs relate to pre-feasibility drilling and development of a
copper mineralisation area under the current footprint.
Some of the Western extension project assets are being used for Lift II activities and have
been transferred out of property, plant and equipment to Lift II exploration and development
costs.

8.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Western extension project

A write off of unrecoverable costs accumulated to date on the Western extension project was recognised during the year,
The Western extension project was not part of a reportable segment as it was of an exploratory nature. The recoverable amount
of the asset is valued at its value in use which is nil. Management does not expect any future economic benefits from the project.
GROUP

9.

COMPANY

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

–
–
6
9
7
1
–

11
–
4
6
8
–
1

–
40
6
9
7
1
–

11
106
4
6
8
–
2

23

30

63

137

6
14
–
–
4
7

6
2
–
6
–
39

6
14
–
–
4
7

6
5
3
6
–
39

31

53

31

59

Other income
Amortisation of gain on financial instrument at inception
Dividend income from subsidiaries
Dividend income on available-for-sale financial assets
Salvage yard sales
Diesel rebate
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment
Sundry revenue

10. Other expenses
Hedge ineffectiveness (note 24)
Impairment of accounts receivable
Impairment of loan to joint venture
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment
Penalties and interest – SARS
BBBEE payment to employees
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GROUP

COMPANY

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

122

423

122

425

18

26

18

26

6
4
–
94

6
1
49
341

6
4
–
94

6
1
51
341

(59)

(47)

(54)

(47)

–

(3)

–

(3)

(46)
(13)

(44)
–

(46)
(8)

(44)
–

63

376

68

378

(55)

(699)

(50)

(660)

(50)
–

(638)
(21)

(50)
–

(638)
(22)

(5)

(40)

–

–

Secondary tax on companies

(10)

(80)

(10)

(79)

Deferred income tax

78

67

63

67

South African
– Current
– Prior year

80
(2)

67
–

65
(2)

67
–

Income tax income/(expense) reported in the income
statement

13

(712)

3

(672)

11. Net finance income
Finance income
Interest income on short-term bank deposits
Interest income on available-for-sale financial asset
(note 17)
Interest income on accounts receivable balances
Net foreign exchange gain on operating activities
Net foreign exchange gain on financing activities
Finance cost
Interest expense on borrowings
Unwinding of discount on close-down and restoration
costs (note 25)
Net foreign exchange loss on operating activities

12. Income tax income/(expense)
The major components of income tax income/(expense)
are:
Normal income tax
South African
– Mining tax: Current
– Mining tax: Prior year
Foreign
– Current
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12. Income tax expense (continued)
GROUP

COMPANY

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

per cent
28,0

per cent
28,0

per cent
28,0

per cent
28,0

–
(1,3)
(9,0)
(4,1)
(1,8)

–
–
3,7
0,1
0,9

65,0
(8,4)
(58,0)
–
(11,3)

(1,4)
–
3,6
–
1,0

11,8

32,7

15,3

31,2

Before tax
R’m

Deferred tax
R’m

After tax
R’m

GROUP
Year ended 31 December 2012
Available-for-sale investments
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations
Cash flow hedges
Actuarial losses on defined benefit plans

57
16
880
(19)

(14)
–
(245)
5

43
16
635
(14)

Other comprehensive income

918

(254)

664

Year ended 31 December 2011
Available-for-sale investments
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations
Cash flow hedges
Actuarial losses on defined benefit plans

37
36
995
(2)

(11)
–
(279)
–

26
36
716
(2)

1 066

(290)

776

COMPANY
Year ended 31 December 2012
Available-for-sale investments
Cash flow hedges
Actuarial losses on defined benefit plans

57
880
(19)

(14)
(245)
5

43
635
(14)

Other comprehensive income

918

(254)

664

Year ended 31 December 2011
Available-for-sale investments
Cash flow hedges
Actuarial losses on defined benefit plans

37
995
(2)

(11)
(279)
–

26
716
(2)

1 030

(290)

740

Tax rate reconciliation is as follows:
Current statutory rate
Adjusted for:
– Dividend income
– Disallowable expenditure
– Secondary tax on companies
– Tax rate differential of foreign subsidiaries
– Deferred tax prior year adjustment
Effective tax rate

The tax charge relating to components of other comprehensive income is as follows:

Other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive income
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13. (Loss)/earnings per share
Basic and diluted
Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing the (loss)/profit attributable to equity holders of the parent by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. There are no potential or actual dilutive effects on
the Group’s share capital.
GROUP
2012

2011

Reconciliation of net (loss)/profit for earnings per share
Net (loss)/profit attributable to equity holders of parent (R’m)

(97)

1 464

Reconciliation of weighted average number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares of basic and diluted earnings per share (million)

48

48

(201)

3 028

(Loss)/profit
before tax
R’m

Tax
income/
(expense)
R’m

(Loss)/profit
after tax
R’m

(110)
22
(1)

13
(6)
–

(97)
16
(1)

(89)

7

(82)

(Loss)/earnings per share (cents)

14. Headline (loss)/earnings
Basic and diluted
The calculation of headline (loss)/earnings per share is based on the
net (loss)/profit attributable to equity holders of parent, after excluding
all items of a non-trading nature, divided by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. The presentation
of headline (loss)/earnings is not an IFRS requirement, but is required
by the JSE Limited.
GROUP
Year ended 31 December 2012
Net loss per income statement
Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Headline loss
Weighted average number of ordinary shares of basic and diluted headline
earnings per share (million)

48

Headline loss per share (cents)

(171)

Year ended 31 December 2011
Net profit per income statement
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

2 176
6

(712)
(2)

1 464
4

Headline earnings

2 182

(714)

1 468

Weighted average number of ordinary shares of basic and diluted headline
earnings per share (million)
Headline profit per share (cents)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2012

Land and
buildings
R’m

Plant and
equipment
R’m

Capital workin-progress
R’m

Decommissioning asset
R’m

Total
R’m

129

2 235

280

233

2 877

1 065
(936)

5 677
(3 442)

299
(19)

310
(77)

7 351
(4 474)

18
–
(37)
82

270
(6)
(545)
173

158
–
–
(255)

13
–
(46)
–

459
(6)
(628)
–

192

2 127

183

200

2 702

1 165
(973)

6 103
(3 976)

202
(19)

323
(123)

7 793
(5 091)

8

154

188

61

411

(22)

–

–

–

(22)

(22)
(57)
22

(16)
(491)
131

–
–
(153)

–
(31)
–

(38)
(579)
–

121

1 905

218

230

2 474

6 343
(4 438)

218
–

384
(154)

8 082
(5 608)

129

2 235

280

233

2 877

1 065
(936)

5 675
(3 440)

299
(19)

310
(77)

7 349
(4 472)

18
–
(37)
82

268
(6)
(545)
173

158
–
–
(255)

13
–
(46)
–

457
(6)
(628)
–

192

2 125

183

200

2 700

1 165
(973)

6 099
(3 974)

202
(19)

323
(123)

7 789
(5 089)

8

154

188

61

411

(22)

–

–

–

(22)

(22)
(57)
22

(16)
(491)
131

–
–
(153)

–
(31)
–

(38)
(579)
–

121

1 903

218

230

2 472

6 339
(4 436)

218
–

384
(154)

8 078
(5 606)

15. Property, plant and equipment
GROUP
Carrying value – 1 January 2011
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Additions (note 15.1)
Disposals
Depreciation
Reclassification
Carrying value – 31 December 2011
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Additions (note 15.1)
Impairment of property, plant
and equipment (note 8)
Transfer to exploration, development
and growth costs (note 7)
Depreciation
Reclassification
Carrying value – 31 December 2012
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
COMPANY
Carrying value – 1 January 2011
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Additions (note 15.1)
Disposals
Depreciation
Reclassification
Carrying value – 31 December 2011
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Additions (note 15.1)
Impairment of property, plant
and equipment (note 8)
Transfer to exploration, development
and growth costs (note 7)
Depreciation
Reclassification
Carrying value – 31 December 2012
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

1 137
(1 016)

1 137
(1 016)

All the property, plant and equipment are owned assets.

122

GROUP

COMPANY

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

354

442

354

441

61

13

61

13

(4)

4

(4)

3

411

459

411

457

15. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
15.1

Additions
Cash additions
Capitalisation of close down and restoration
obligation (notes 3.2.2 and 25)
Movement of capital and insurance spares
reclassified

GROUP and COMPANY
2012
R’m

2011
R’m

7

8

Cost
Accumulated amortisation

53
(46)

50
(42)

Additions
Amortisation charge

12
(7)

3
(4)

Carrying value – 31 December

12

7

Cost
Accumulated amortisation

65
(53)

53
(46)

Available for sale financial assets
RTZ (SA) Environmental Rehabilitation Trust Fund
Balance at 1 January
Additions
Dividend income reinvested
Interest income reinvested
Net valuation gain recognised in other comprehensive income

445
98
6
6
57

398
–
4
6
37

Balance at 31 December

612

445

16. Intangible assets
Computer software and licenses
Carrying value – 1 January

17. Financial assets

The available-for-sale investment is held through the RTZ (South Africa) Environmental Rehabilitation Trust Fund. The fund is
an irrevocable trust under the Company’s control. The monies in the fund are invested primarily in equity securities (availablefor-sale when monies are needed for rehabilitation).
Financial assets are denominated in SA Rand and none of these financial assets are either due or impaired.
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GROUP and COMPANY
2012
R’m

2011
R’m

167

136

41

38

18. Stores inventories
Consumable stores
Valued at net realisable value included above

In 2012 changes in stores inventories recognised as cost of sales amounted to R3 million credit (2011: R4 million debit) for the
Group and the Company.
GROUP

COMPANY

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

314
557

488
433

314
525

488
357

871

921

839

845

37

–

18

–

Trade receivables
Provision for impairment of receivables
South African Revenue Services
Related party receivables (note 29)
Pre-payments
Other receivables

835
(18)
6
5
2
21

719
(6)
–
3
4
61

761
(16)
10
5
2
21

613
(6)
–
3
4
63

Total trade and other receivables

851

781

783

677

Movement in provision for impairment of receivables
Balance at 1 January
Additional provision for receivables impairment
Foreign exchange movement
Reversal of impairment losses recognised on receivables
Receivables written off as uncollectable

(6)
(14)
(2)
4
–

(4)
(5)
–
–
3

(6)
(14)
–
4
–

(1)
(5)
–
–
–

Balance 31 December

(18)

(6)

(16)

(6)

Comprising:
Trade receivables
Related party receivables (note 29)

(17)
(1)

(5)
(1)

(15)
(1)

(5)
(1)

Total provision for impairment of receivables

(18)

(6)

(16)

(6)

19. Product inventories
Work-in-progress
Finished goods

Valued at net realisable value included above
In 2012 changes in finished goods and work-in-progress
recognised as cost of sales amounted to R95 million debit
(2011: R240 million credit) for the Group, and R43 million
debit (2011: R190 million credit) for the Company.

20. Trade and other receivables
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COMPANY
2012
R’m

2011
R’m

21. Investment and loans in subsidiaries and joint venture
Investments, loans and other receivables
Provision for impairment of loan to joint venture

67
(3)

28
(3)

64

25

Additional information regarding the Company’s subsidiaries and joint venture is set out in the directors’ report and note 29.
GROUP

COMPANY

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

1 980

2 210

1 904

2 148

22. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand and in the bank

The Group had no bank overdrafts for the year under review and the comparative year.
GROUP and COMPANY
2012
R’m

2011
R’m

100

100

48

48

Share premium
Balance at 31 December

581

581

Total share capital and share premium

629

629

23. Capital and reserves
23.1

Share capital
Authorised:
100 000 000 ordinary shares of R1,00 each
Issued:
48 337 497 ordinary shares of R1,00 each
All the issued shares are fully paid-up.

23.2

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote
per share at meetings of the Company. All shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.
23.3 Other reserves
		See the consolidated statement of changes in equity for detail on other reserves.
		
23.3.1 Translation reserve
			The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations.
		
23.3.2	Hedging reserve
			The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow
hedging instruments related to hedged transactions that have not yet occurred.
		
23.3.3	Fair value reserve
			The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of available-for-sale financial
assets until the investments are derecognised or impaired.
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for the year ended 31 December 2012

GROUP and COMPANY
2012
R’m

2011
R’m

100

349

–

450

100

799

After the respective reporting dates the following dividend was proposed by
the directors. The dividends declared is recognised in the period it is approved.
Final dividend declared:
Nil cents per qualifying ordinary share (2011: 207 cents)

–

100

Secondary tax on companies due on closing date of dividend cycle

–

10

23. Capital and reserves (continued)
23.4

Dividends
The following dividends were declared and paid:
Previous year final dividend:
207 cents per qualifying ordinary share (2010: 724 cents)
Interim dividend:
Nil cents per qualifying ordinary share (2011: 931 cents)

24. Financial liabilities
Derivative Financial Instrument – Cash flow hedge
	The Group holds a commodity swap contract designated as a hedge of expected future sales to customers. The Group receives
a fixed price in Rand in relation to a monthly notional quantity of copper sales as detailed below. It pays a floating price based
on the arithmetic average (mean) of the US Dollar LME Cash Settlement Price, converted to Rand at the average Rand/US Dollar
exchange rate for the calculation period. The cash flows paid under the terms of the hedging instrument are designed to reduce
variability in the Rand proceeds of the copper sales set out in the table below.
	As 31 December 2012, the cash flow hedge of the expected future sales were assessed to be highly effective and the ineffective
portion of R6 million was recognised directly in the income statement (note 10).
	The combined hedged book amounts to 16 330 tonnes (2011: 37 467 tonnes) of copper for a total amount of R847 million
at 31 December 2012 spread over eight months. The commodity swap contract expires on 30 September 2013.
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24. Financial liabilities (continued)
Derivative Financial Instrument – Cash flow hedge (continued)
GROUP and COMPANY

Table of terms: 2012
Maturity year
2013

Quantity
tonnes

Average
hedged price
ZAR/t

Hedged
value
R’m

Derivative
liability
R’m

16 330

15 739

257

847

257

847

16 330
Comprises:
Non-current portion
Current portion

–
847
847

Table of terms: 2011
Maturity year
2012
2013

21 137
16 330
37 467

Comprises:
Non-current portion
Current portion

15 739
15 739

333
257

968
754

590

1 722
754
968
1 722

Trading derivatives are classified as current liabilities. The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current
liability if the remaining maturity of the hedged item is more than 12 months and as a current asset or liability, if the maturity
of the hedged item is less than 12 months.
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GROUP and COMPANY
2012
R’m

2011
R’m

Balance at 1 January
Capitalisation of provisions (note 15.1)

665
60

617
13

Discount and inflation rate adjustment
Revised closure obligation and closure programme adjustment

(30)
90

13
–

Utilisation of provision
Finance charge for the year (note 11)

–
46

(9)
44

771

665

25. Close down and restoration obligation

Balance at 31 December
The Group’s policy on close down and restoration costs is described in note 2.11.1.

Close down and restoration costs are a normal consequence of mining, and the majority of close down and restoration
expenditure is incurred at the end of the operation. Although the ultimate cost to be incurred is uncertain, the Group estimates
their respective cost based on feasibility and engineering studies using current restoration standards and techniques.
The close down and restoration obligation include estimates of the effect of future inflation and have been adjusted to reflect
risk. These estimates have been discounted to their present value at an average nominal rate of 7,3 per cent per annum
(2011: 6,8 per cent per annum), based on an estimate of long term, risk free, pre-tax cost of borrowing. Excluding the effects of
future inflation, and before discounting, this provision is equivalent to R944 million (2011: R762 million).
The main assumptions were as follows:
GROUP and COMPANY

Risk free rate (per cent)
General inflation rate (per cent)
Expected closure date

2012

2011

2,0
5,3
31 December
2015

1,5
5,3
28 February
2016

Refer to note 3.2.2 for more detail on the change in estimate of the close down and restoration obligation.
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GROUP and COMPANY
2012
R’m

2011
R’m

Post-employment medical benefits
Present value of the unfunded obligation

213

186

Liability recognised in the statement of financial position

213

186

The movement in the defined benefit obligation is as follows:
Balance at 1 January
Current service costs
Interest costs
Net actuarial loss recognised (other comprehensive income)
Benefits paid

186
2
15
19
(9)

176
2
14
2
(8)

Balance at 31 December

213

186

Comprises:
Current portion
Non-current portion

8
205

9
177

213

186

26. Retirement benefits obligations

Current service and interest costs are recognised in the income statement within “Administration expenses”.
The cumulative actuarial loss recognised in the statement of comprehensive income to date was R58 million (2011: R39 million).
The Group’s best estimate of contributions expected to be paid during the year commencing on 1 January 2013 is R8 million.
GROUP and COMPANY

Trend information
Present value of unfunded obligation
Experience adjustments in respect of present value of obligation
[net actuarial loss/(gain)]

2010
R’m

2009
R’m

2008
R’m

176

157

155

8

(4)

2

The Group’s provision for post-employment medical benefits is based on the assumptions used by the independent actuaries
who include appropriate mortality tables, long-term estimates of increases in medical costs and appropriate discount rates.
The level of claims is based on the Group’s experience. The post-employment medical benefit plan is unfunded. During 2012
the actuarial valuation of the present value of the liability was updated by Alexander Forbes. The expected date of the next
actuarial valuation is end of 2013.
An actuarial loss before tax of R19 million arose during 2012 (2011: R2 million loss) due to the factors as described in note 3.2.1.
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26. Retirement benefits obligations (continued)
The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows:
GROUP and COMPANY

Discount rate (per cent)
Healthcare cost inflation (per cent)
CPI inflation (per cent)
Expected retirement age (years)
Full eligibility age (years)
Membership discontinued at retirement or death-in-service (per cent)

2012

2011

8,25
7,75
5,75
58
53
–

8,25
7,25
5,25
58
53
–

Assumptions regarding future mortality experience are based on actuarial advice in accordance with published statistics and
experience. Mortality assumptions are based on the following post-retirement mortality tables: PA(90) ultimate table rated
down two years with 1 per cent improvement per annum from 2006.
Sensitivity analysis of the accumulated post-employment benefit obligation
The results of the sensitivity analysis of the accumulated post-employment benefit obligation (APBO) to changes in health care
cost inflation, health care cost inflation in the next five years and the average retirement age is as follows:
2012

2011

Health care cost
inflation

Health care cost
inflation

–1 per cent
Accumulated post-employment obligation (R’m)
Percentage change

189
–11,3 per cent

+1 per cent

–1 per cent

+1 per cent

242
165
13,7 per cent –11,0 per cent

211
13,4 per cent

Health care cost
in next 5 years

Accumulated post-employment obligation (R’m)
Percentage change

+5 per cent

+10 per cent

+5 per cent

+10 per cent

250
17,4 per cent

292
37,1 per cent

226
21,6 per cent

274
47,1 per cent

Average retirement age

Accumulated post-employment obligation (R’m)
Percentage change

Health care cost
in next 5 years

Average retirement age

1 year
younger

1 year
older

1 year
younger

1 year
older

217
1,6 per cent

209
–1,8 per cent

189
1,7 per cent

182
–1,9 per cent

Pension scheme
The only active pension scheme in the Group is a defined contribution fund known as the Palabora Pension Fund, which was
established in September 2002. Membership is compulsory for all permanent employees of Palabora. Members can elect to
contribute at a rate of either 6,0 per cent or 7,5 per cent of their pensionable salaries. The employer contributes at a rate of
12,5 per cent of pensionable salaries, of which 7,5 per cent is paid to members, 4 per cent to the provision of risk benefits and
1 per cent for administrative costs.
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GROUP
2012
R’m

COMPANY
2011
R’m

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

27. Deferred income tax
Balance at 1 January
Tax charged to income statement
Tax charged to statement of other comprehensive income

(153)
78
(254)

70
67
(290)

(153)
63
(254)

70
67
(290)

Balance at 31 December

(329)

(153)

(344)

(153)

Deferred income tax assets arising from:
Provisions
Derivative financial instruments

336
237

255
482

336
237

255
482

573

737

573

737

(756)
(165)
19

(758)
(125)
(7)

(756)
(165)
4

(758)
(125)
(7)

(902)

(890)

(917)

(890)

(329)

(153)

(344)

(153)

511
61
57
–
12

494
63
23
18
43

508
60
57
–
6

489
62
23
12
38

641

641

631

624

Deferred income tax liabilities arising from:
Accelerated capital allowances
Available-for-sale investment
Other

Net deferred income tax liabilities
At 31 December 2012, the Company had no unredeemed
capital expenditure (2011: Rnil).

28. Trade and other payables
Trade payables
Leave pay accrual
Payroll accruals
South African Revenue Services
Other
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Nature of transactions

2012

2012

2011

2011

Volume of
transactions
R’m

Amount
outstanding
R’m

Volume of
transactions
R’m

Amount
outstanding
R’m

1

5

1

3

29. Related parties
GROUP and COMPANY
Receivables
Other related parties
Other Rio Tinto group
companies

Recovery of travel expenses
and staff costs

Total related party receivables (note 20)
Less: Impairment of related party receivables (note 20)

5
(1)

3
(1)

Net current related party receivables

4

2

Payables
Key management personnel
Executive and non-executive
directors (see Directors’
report for details)
Directors’ fees and salaries
Other related parties
Other Rio Tinto group
Consulting/specialised
companies
services/secondee salaries/
directors’ fees/management
fees
Rio Tinto Iron Ore Asia
Marketing fee
Rio Tinto Shipping Limited Freight assistance

(17)

–

(23)

–

(146)
(141)
(955)

(143)
(12)
(32)

(115)
(145)
(667)

(65)
(9)
(37)

Total related party payables
COMPANY
Receivables
Subsidiaries
Palabora Asia Pte Limited
American Vermiculite
Corporation
Palabora Europe Limited
Joint venture
Palfos Aviation (Pty) Limited

(187)

Dividends
Sale of goods
Sale of goods
Recovery of tax payments

Investment in subsidiaries and joint venture (note 21)
Less: I mpairment of loan to joint venture (note 21)

132

(111)

–

–

–

3

110
218

33
31

48
223

–
22

–

3

–

3

67
(3)

28
(3)

64

25

GROUP

COMPANY

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

(110)

2 176

(18)

2 151

579
7
22
(1)
(15)

628
4
–
6
42

579
7
22
(1)
(9)

628
4
–
6
43

6
56
16

(5)
27
36

6
56
–

(5)
29
–

(63)
–

(376)
–

(68)
(40)

(377)
(107)

(29)
50
(69)
(2)
76
(9)

(36)
(242)
87
71
(92)
(18)

(29)
6
(106)
6
75
(9)

(36)
(186)
125
63
(92)
(18)

514

2 308

477

2 228

30. Cash generated from operations
(Loss)/profit before tax
Adjustments for non-cash items
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Impairment of property, plant and equipment
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain on operating activities
Cash flow hedge non-cash transactions through income
statement
Provisions and other non-cash items
Exchange differences on translation of foreign subsidiaries
Adjustments – other:
Net finance income
Dividend income
Changes in working capital (excluding the effects
of exchange differences on consolidation):
Stores inventories
Product inventories
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables
Related parties payables
Utilisation of provisions

31.	Operating segments
	Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the strategic steering committee that are
used to make strategic decisions. The committee considers the business from a product perspective. The products are divided in
the following segments:
n Copper – produces and markets refined copper.
n	Joint-product: Magnetite – markets processed current arisings and built-up stockpiles of magnetite, a joint-product from
the copper mining process.
n By-products: Other – includes anode slimes, sulphuric acid and nickel sulphate.
n Industrial minerals – produces and markets vermiculite.
	Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment with an allocation of central administration expenses. Performance
is measured on segment operating profit or loss which in certain aspects, as explained in the table below, is measured differently
from operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements. Segment operating profit or loss is used to measure
performance as management believes that such information is the most relevant in evaluating the results of certain segments
relative to other entities that operate within these industries. Group financing (including finance costs and finance income) and
income taxes are managed on a Group basis and are not allocated to operating segments.
	Reportable segment revenue represents revenue generated from external customers. There were no inter-segment sales for the
current year (2011 – Rnil).
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31.	Operating segments (continued)
	Transfer prices between or within operating segments are set on an arm’s length basis in manner similar to transactions with
third parties.
	The measure of segment assets and segment liabilities has not been disclosed as these amounts are not provided to management.
Management reviews the assets and liabilities as one component in the internal management reports and not in separate
reporting segments.
Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is included below:

Copper
R’m

Jointproduct:
Magnetite
R’m

Byproducts:
Other
R’m

Industrial
minerals
R’m

Total
R’m

Year ended 31 December 2012
External customers revenue
Sales from products
Hedge loss realised

4 308
(1 025)

4 890
–

138
–

405
–

9 741
(1 025)

Reportable segment revenue

3 283

4 890

138

405

8 716

Reportable segment operating (loss)/profit
before depreciation
Depreciation

(398)
(422)

1 442
(65)

36
(8)

(11)
(10)

1 069
(505)

Reportable segment operating
(loss)/profit

(820)

1 377

28

(21)

564

Year ended 31 December 2011
External customers revenue
Sales from products
Hedge loss realised

4 425
(1 038)

3 924
–

225
–

518
–

9 092
(1 038)

Reportable segment revenue

3 387

3 924

225

518

8 054

Reportable segment operating profit
before depreciation
Depreciation

654
(450)

1 707
(89)

107
(10)

125
(11)

2 593
(560)

Reportable segment operating profit

204

1 618

97

114

2 033

Year ended 31 December 2012
Joint-product cost allocation
Overhead allocation costs
Selling and logistic costs

159
(534)
(10)

(159)
(128)
(2 877)

–
(41)
(1)

–
(39)
(130)

–
(742)
(3 018)

Year ended 31 December 2011
Joint-product cost allocation
Overhead allocation costs
Selling and logistic costs

198
(510)
(16)

(198)
(116)
(1 653)

–
(21)
(19)

–
(37)
(181)

–
(684)
(1 869)

Reportable segment operating profit before
depreciation include:
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31. Operating segments (continued)
Reconciliation of reportable segment operating profit to profit after tax:
GROUP
2012
R’m

2011
R’m

Reportable segment operating profit
Unallocated amounts:
– Exploration, development and growth costs (note 7)
– Impairment of property, plant and equipment (note 8)
– Other
– Unallocated depreciation and amortisation of tangible and intangible assets
– Net finance income (note 11)

564

2 033

(684)
(22)
50
(81)
63

(196)
–
34
(71)
376

(Loss)/profit before tax
Income tax income/(expense)

(110)
13

2 176
(712)

(97)

1 464

(Loss)/profit for the year

Geographical segments
The segments management, sales offices and mining facilities are based in South Africa, which is also the Group’s country
of domicile. The industrial minerals segment has sales offices in United Kingdom (Europe region), United States of America
(America region) and Singapore (Asia region).
In presenting information on the basis of geographical segments, segment revenue is based on the geographical location
of customers.
2012

2011

Revenue
R’m

Non-current
assets
R’m

Revenue
R’m

Non-current
assets
R’m

Region
South Africa
Asia
Australia
Europe
America
Other Africa

4 067
4 850
39
703
67
15

3 096
2
–
–
–
–

3 936
3 902
52
1 063
108
31

3 152
2
–
–
–
–

Hedge loss realised

9 741
(1 025)

3 098
–

9 092
(1 038)

3 154
–

8 716

3 098

8 054

3 154

Major customers
The following single customer’s revenue amounts to 10 per cent or more of the Group revenue:
Revenue

Details
Customer A
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Segment
Copper

Region
South Africa

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

1 106

1 260
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32. Financial risk management
	The principal financial risks arising from the Group’s activities are those related to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk
(commodity price risk and currency risk). The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.
	The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise the commodity swap contract. The Group has various other financial
instruments such as trade debtors, trade creditors and cash, which arise directly from its operations. It is currently, and has been
throughout the year, the Group’s policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken.
	For analysis purposes, only Group numbers are reported, as the difference between the Group and the Company are deemed
insignificant. The standard tax rate was used in the sensitivity analysis calculations.
32.1

Credit risk

		Credit risk is managed on a Group basis, except for credit risk relating to accounts receivable balances. Each entity is
responsible for managing and analysing the credit risk for each of their clients.
		Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, as well as outstanding receivables and committed transactions.
The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of counterparties on receivables, with a maximum exposure equal
to the carrying amount of trade and other receivables. The Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties.
		It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad
debts is not significant (note 20).
		With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, which comprise cash and cash equivalents
and available-for-sale financial assets, the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with
a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments. To manage the risk, only banks and financial
institutions of a good credit quality are accepted.
		There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group.
		The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk
at the reporting date was:
Carrying amount

Available-for-sale financial assets
Trade and other receivables1
Cash and cash equivalents

1

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

612
843
1 980

445
777
2 210

3 435

3 432

I ncludes trade receivables, provision for impairment of trade receivables, amount due from related parties and other receivables as per
note 20 and note 29.

The aging of trade receivables at the reporting date was:
2012
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2011

Gross
R’m

Impairment
R’m

Gross
R’m

Impairment
R’m

Not past due
Past due 30 – 60 days
Past due 61 – 90 days
Past due 91 – 120 days
Past due 121 days and more

780
10
17
11
17

–
–
–
–
(17)

703
7
2
–
7

–
–
–
–
(5)

Trade receivables

835

(17)

719

(5)

32. Financial risk management (continued)
32.1

Credit risk (continued)
For copper products, which represent 42 per cent of the amounts receivable, payment terms are up to net 30 days
after invoice date unless otherwise agreed to by the seller and subject to seller’s determination regarding the buyer’s
qualification for credit. Overdue amounts will attract an interest charge, calculated daily, of prime plus 3 per cent.
Impairment of trade receivables are provided for based on estimated irrecoverable amounts from the sale of goods,
determined by reference to past default experience.
The credit limit and outstanding balance for the top five counterparties for the Group at reporting date was:
2012

Counterparty
Customer A
Customer B
Customer C
Customer D
Customer E

Region
South Africa
Europe
South Africa
Asia
South Africa

Segment
Copper
Copper
Copper
Magnetite
Copper

2011

Credit
limit
R’m

Carrying
amount
R’m

Credit
limit
R’m

Carrying
amount
R’m

339
459
176
457
132

85
67
77
348
23

363
240
176
457
132

63
26
65
232
21

1 563

600

1 368

407

The Group only transacts with entities of a good credit quality. This information is supplied by independent rating
agencies where available and, if not available, the Group uses other publicly available financial information and its own
trading records to rate its major customers. There were no defaults recorded on the above customers.
Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an external credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s
credit quality and defines credit limits for the customer.
32.2

Liquidity risk
Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board, which has built an appropriate liquidity
risk management framework for the management of the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity
management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities
and reserve borrowing facilities by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity
profiles of financial assets and liabilities.
Cash flow forecasting is performed and aggregated by Group Treasury. Group Treasury monitors rolling forecasts of the
Group’s liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational needs.
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32. Financial risk management (continued)
32.2

LIQUIDITY risk (continued)
The table below analyses the Group’s financial assets and liabilities and net-settled derivative financial liabilities
into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their
carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Year ended 31 December 2012
Assets
Available-for-sale financial assets
Trade and other receivables1
Cash and cash equivalents
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables2
Derivative financial liabilities
Commodity swap contract

Year ended 31 December 2011
Assets
Available-for-sale financial assets
Trade and other receivables1
Cash and cash equivalents
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables2
Derivative financial liabilities
Commodity swap contract

32.3

Within
1 year
R’m

1 – 2 years
R’m

2 – 5 years
R’m

More than
5 years
R’m

Total
R’m

–
843
1 980

–
–
–

612
–
–

–
–
–

612
843
1 980

(710)

–

–

–

(710)

(847)

–

–

–

(847)

1 266

–

612

–

1 878

–
777
2 210

–
–
–

–
–
–

445
–
–

445
777
2 210

(648)

–

–

–

(648)

(968)

(754)

–

–

(1 722)

1 371

(754)

–

445

1 062

1

I ncludes trade receivables, provision for impairment of trade receivables, amount due from related parties and other receivables as per
note 20 and note 29.

2

Includes trade payables, amount due to related parties, interest accruals and other payables as per note 28 and note 29.

Market risk

		Market risk is the risk that changes in commodity market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity
prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.
		

32.3.1

Currency risk

			The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency
exposures primarily with respect to the US Dollar.
			The Group has certain investments in foreign operations, whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency
translation risk. The Group generally does not enter into forward sales, derivatives or other hedging
arrangements to manage this risk.
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32. Financial risk management (continued)
32.3
		

Market risk (continued)
32.3.1

Currency risk (continued)

			The Group also has transactional currency exposures. Such exposure arises mainly from sales by operating
units in currencies other than the unit’s functional currency. Approximately 59 per cent (2011: 57 per
cent) of the Group’s sales, pre-hedge, are denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of
the operating unit making the sale, whilst almost 72 per cent (2011: 75 per cent) of costs are denominated in
the Group’s presentation currency. The Group generally does not enter into forward sales, derivatives or other
hedging arrangements to manage this risk.
			The following table sets out the carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities that are exposed
to currency risk:
US dollar
risk
R’m

UK pound
risk
R’m

Euro
risk
R’m

Singapore
dollar risk
R’m

As at 31 December 2012
Trade receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade payables

442
1 660
(12)

–
28
(1)

30
25
–

–
5
–

Total exposure

2 090

27

55

5

As at 31 December 2011
Trade receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade payables

282
1 610
(43)

–
19
(11)

21
13
–

–
8
–

Total exposure

1 849

8

34

8

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis:
The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10 per cent strengthening in SA Rand against the
relevant foreign currencies. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year-end for a 10 per cent change in foreign currency rates.
The assumption is made that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2011.
The analysis excludes foreign exchange translation differences resulting from the Group companies that have
a functional currency different from the presentation currency.
US dollar
effect
R’m

UK pound
effect
R’m

Euro
effect
R’m

Singapore
dollar effect
R’m

As at 31 December 2012
Loss after tax
Equity

(151)
–

(2)
–

(4)
–

–
–

As at 31 December 2011
Loss after tax
Equity

(133)
–

(1)
–

(3)
–

(1)
–

A 10 per cent weakening of the Rand against the above currencies at 31 December would have had the
equal but opposite effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other
variables remain constant.
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32. Financial risk management (continued)
32.3
		

Market risk (continued)
32.3.2

Interest rate risk

			The Group’s income and operating cash flows are independent of changes in market interest rates and has
therefore no interest rate risk.
		

32.3.3

Commodity price risk

			Copper price risk arises from the risk of an adverse effect on current or future earnings resulting from
fluctuations in the price of copper. The copper market is predominately priced in US Dollars which exposes
the Group to the risk that fluctuations in the SA Rand/US Dollar exchange rates may have on current or future
earnings. Although the Group’s usual policy is to sell its products at prevailing market prices, the Group
entered into a commodity swap contract as part of the debt restructuring programme in 2005. The details of
the swap are described in note 24.
			
Commodity price sensitivity analysis:
			At 31 December 2012, if the LME copper price had weakened/strengthened by 10 per cent with all other
variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been R136 million (2011: R40 million) higher/
lower as a result of realisation of the hedge loss. The analysis has been performed on the basis of the change
occurring at the start of the reporting period and assumes that all other variables remain constant. The analysis
is performed on the same basis for 2011. Hedge losses associated with a 10 per cent increase from the year-end
price would affect equity directly by a decrease of R110 million (2011: R231 million).
32.4

Capital risk management

		The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in
order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure
to reduce the cost of capital.
		The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions.
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended
31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011.
32.5	Fair value estimation
		The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have been
defined as follows:
		 n	Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
		 n	Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).
		 n	Level 3 – Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market date (that is, unobservable
inputs).
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32. Financial risk management (continued)
32.5	Fair value estimation (continued)
The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value:
Level 1
R’m

Level 2
R’m

Level 3 Total balance
R’m
R’m

Year ended 31 December 2012
Assets
Available-for-sale financial assets
– Equity investments

612

–

–

612

Total assets

612

–

–

612

Liabilities
Derivatives used for hedging
– Current

–

(847)

–

(847)

Total liabilities

–

(847)

–

(847)

Year ended 31 December 2011
Assets
Available-for-sale financial assets
– Equity investments

445

–

–

445

Total assets

445

–

–

445

Liabilities
Derivatives used for hedging
– Non-current
– Current

–
–

(754)
(968)

–
–

(754)
(968)

Total liabilities

–

(1 722)

–

(1 722)

		The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the reporting date.
A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker,
industry group, pricing services or regulatory agency and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market
transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current
bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.
		The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives)
is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data
where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair
value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.
		If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3.
		Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:
		 n	Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments.
		 n	The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows based on
observable yield curves.
		 n	The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange rates at the balance
sheet date, with the resulting value discounted back to present value.
		 n	Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial
instruments.
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33. Financial instruments
	The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the statement of financial
position are as follows:
31 December 2012

31 December 2011

Carrying
amount
R’m

Fair
value
R’m

Carrying
amount
R’m

Fair
value
R’m

Assets carried at fair value
Available-for-sale financial assets

612

612

445

445

Assets carried at amortised cost
Trade and other receivables1
Cash and cash equivalents

843
1 980

843
1 980

777
2 210

777
2 210

2 823

2 823

2 987

2 987

Liabilities carried at fair value
Commodity swap contract

(847)

(847)

(1 722)

(1 722)

Liabilities carried at amortised cost
Accounts payable and group companies2

(710)

(710)

(648)

(648)

1

I ncludes trade receivables, provision for impairment of trade receivables, related party receivables and other receivables as per note 20 and
note 29.

2

Includes trade payables, related party payables, interest accruals and other payables as per note 28 and note 29.

	The carrying values (less any impairment allowance) of financial instruments carried at amortised cost are approximate to their
fair values. The fair values of the available-for-sale financial asset and derivative financial liability are measured as per
note 32.5. For analysis purposes, only Group numbers are reported, as the difference between the Group and the Company is
deemed insignificant.

34. Joint venture
	The Group has a 50 per cent interest in a joint venture, Palfos Aviation (Pty) Ltd. The joint venture’s major asset was sold in 2004
where after Palfos directors decided to unwind the joint venture. The unwinding of the joint venture is still ongoing.
	The 50 per cent share of the assets, liabilities and results of the joint venture are not significant.

35. Borrowing powers
	In terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation, the Company’s borrowing powers are unlimited. At 31 December 2012, the
Group’s net cash was R1 980 million (2011: R2 210 million).
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36. Contingent liabilities
Legal matters
	Various legal matters, including labour cases before the CCMA, are in progress. The potential exposure is approximately
R1 million (2011: R2 million).
Land claims
	Presently four land claims have been filed regarding the Government-owned property that Palabora uses for its mining
operations. The four tribes have joined together and are represented by one legal adviser. Clarifications of the claims and
Palabora’s defences are being pursued through legal channels. The legal exposure, if any, is uncertain.
Taxation penalty on the closure rehabilitation trust fund
	In 2011 the South African Revenue Services (SARS) issued Palabora with a taxation penalty of 25 per cent on its 2008 taxable
income tax relating to the closure rehabilitation trust fund. Palabora objected to the penalty applied by SARS whereafter SARS
reduced the penalty to 10 per cent which amounted to approximately R10 million excluding interest. Another appeal on the
partial allowance was lodged in 2012 for the penalty to be waived. No further correspondence has been received by SARS to date
and the matter is still pending.

37. Commitments and capital expenditure
	Commitments contracted for at the statement of financial position date were R117 million (2011: R79 million). Capital
expenditure that was approved by the Board, but not contracted for at 31 December 2012 amounts to R238 million (2011:
R314 million).

38. Events after statement of financial position date
	No material events have occurred between the date of these financial statements and the date of approval thereof, the knowledge
of which would affect the ability of the users of these statements to make proper evaluations and decisions
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SUMMARY

FINANCIAL DATA
The selected consolidated financial data has been derived from the historical audited consolidated financial statements of Palabora.
The selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with, and qualified in their entirety by reference to, the 2012
financial statements and notes thereto.
2012

2011

2010

2009

2008

(110)
13

2 176
(712)

863
(268)

453
(169)

830
(111)

Net (loss)/profit for the year
Dividends paid
Other comprehensive (loss)/income items taken
to retained earnings

(97)
(100)

1 464
(799)

595
(400)

284
(119)

719
(150)

(14)

(2)

(6)

70

(2)

Retained earnings movement for the year

(211)

663

189

235

567

Assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Financial assets
Current assets
Deferred income tax asset

2 474
12
612
4 033
–

2 702
7
445
4 048
–

2 877
8
398
3 298
70

2 990
5
360
2 755
130

3 413
4
314
2 358
–

Total assets

7 131

7 202

6 651

6 240

6 089

–
847
984
828
329

–
1 722
851
817
153

98
2 721
793
821
–

103
3 212
590
656
–

192
1 685
546
623
372

Total liabilities

2 988

3 543

4 433

4 561

3 418

Share capital and premium
Other reserves
Retained earnings

629
(328)
3 842

629
(1 023)
4 053

629
(1 801)
3 390

629
(2 151)
3 201

629
(924)
2 966

Total equity

4 143

3 659

2 218

1 679

2 671

Total equity and liabilities

7 131

7 202

6 651

6 240

6 089

Cash flow
Net cash flow from operating activities
Net cash flow from investing activities
Net cash flow from financing activities

148
(474)
–

780
(454)
(107)

592
(222)
–

937
(111)
(80)

404
(295)
(283)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
cash equivalents

(326)

219

370

746

(174)

Capital expenditure and commitments
Capital expenditure
Approved expenditure
Contracts placed

411
238
117

445
314
79

222
245
119

137
135
92

314
179
86

GROUP
Financial results (R’m)
Operating results
(Loss)/profit before taxation
Income tax expense

Liabilities and equity attributable to
owners of the parent
Borrowings
Financial liabilities
Provisions
Other current liabilities
Deferred income tax liabilities
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2012

2011

2010

2009

2008

579
7

628
4

481
2

549
2

469
1

95

(240)

(61)

235

(240)

–
–
860
440
3 018

–
–
671
–
1 869

30
101
192
290
1 391

261
(2)
318
4
1 185

771
5
49
–
587

48
(201)
(171)
207
(0,97)

48
3 028
3 036
1 655
1,83

48
1 231
1 228
827
1,49

48
587
598
247
2,38

48
1 489
1 493
310
4,80

16 385
7 250
10 264
4 961

14 700
9 550
13 850
6 690

13 800
9 010
11 400
5 510

10 800
4 690
10 595
5 121

16 131
4 000
6 900
3 335

Number of employees at 31 December

2 280

2 232

2 151

2 021

2 191

Sales revenue (Rm)
Copper (including hedge)

3 284

3 387

3 213

3 167

3 166

– Rod
– Cathode and other
– Low grade concentrate and reverts
– Hedge realised

3 476
715
118
(1 025)

3 393
781
251
(1 038)

2 416
1 121
521
(845)

2 059
1 189
466
(547)

3 189
1 166
389
(1 578)

Joint-product: Magnetite
By-product: Other products

4 890
138

3 924
225

2 339
194

1 513
176

790
238

– Anode slimes
– Nickel sulphate
– Sulphuric acid

122
4
12

201
13
11

181
10
3

139
9
28

148
8
82

Industrial minerals

405

518

385

428

411

Total sale of goods

8 716

8 054

6 131

5 284

4 605

65 943

63 145

55 947

47 373

57 675

Sales statistics (Mt)
Copper rod
Copper cathode and other
Copper low grade concentrate and reverts
Vermiculite
Magnetite
Anode slimes
Nickel sulphate
Sulphuric acid

51 575
11 186
2 591
115 428
4 891 815
121
155
65 502

51 562
6 688
11 853
162 828
3 182 367
195
424
95 681

42 802
12 143
17 580
178 599
2 640 489
126
372
51 593

48 445
28 228
10 366
183 264
2 568 564
89
370
85 464

51 954
23 640
9 500
188 897
1 898 859
105
173
109 178

Spot SA Rand/US Dollar exchange rate
at 31 December
Average SA Rand/US Dollar exchange rate

8,4803
8,1913

8,1860
7,2581

6,6400
7,3244

7,3952
8,3276

9,3710
8,2629

Other selective income statement items
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (R’m)
Amortisation of intangible assets (R’m)
Changes in inventory of finished goods and
work-in-progress (R’m)
Product purchases
– Concentrate (R’m)
– Blister (R’m)
– Cathode (R’m)
– Rod (R’m)
Selling and distribution costs (R’m)
Statistics per share
Shares in issue (million)
(Loss)/profit (cents)
Headline (loss)/profit (cents)
Dividends paid (cents)
Dividend cover (times)
Market price during year (cents)
– High
– Low
Market price at 31 December (cents)
Market capitalisation at 31 December (R’m)

Average copper price realised per Mt
(pre-hedge)
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SUMMARY

PRODUCTION DATA
Mining and Milling
Mining
Material
loaded
and hauled

Milling
Copper concentrate produced
(including recycled material)

Ore treated

Finished Magnetite
concentrated produced

Year

Wet
metric tonnes

Metric
tonnes

Per
cent
Cu

Metric
tonnes

Per
cent
Cu

Tonnes
Cu

Per
cent
Rec

1964
1965
1966
1967
1968
1969
1970
1971
1972
1973
1974
1975
1976
1977
1978
1979
1980
1981
1982
1983
1984
1985
1986
1987
1988
1989
1990
1991
1992
1993
1994
1995
1996
1997
1998
1999
2000
2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012

859 444
13 032 175
23 483 559
26 365 391
33 160 107
29 970 399
41 231 770
42 805 300
45 192 690
47 347 590
50 021 150
56 716 240
79 286 530
89 480 040
90 029 980
86 214 160
107 940 469
100 741 752
98 881 581
100 972 849
101 660 644
100 230 188
95 390 673
82 605 747
71 505 213
62 121 824
49 102 124
37 315 989
37 767 664
37 811 244
38 224 317
34 786 613
33 193 259
30 794 431
30 342 455
25 418 937
20 054 094
12 002 168
9 976 390
11 527 633
8 500 484
10 033 608
11 020 497
11 845 518
11 764 747
11 537 494
11 236 784
10 975 837
8 912 997

–
35 878
10 880 635
13 257 691
14 258 160
15 700 128
18 948 438
19 086 776
19 298 692
19 184 961
19 232 245
19 527 088
19 627 222
24 863 927
27 473 847
27 076 914
28 571 069
28 748 075
29 314 456
28 943 773
29 199 214
27 084 009
29 412 163
29 425 615
29 230 845
29 408 436
29 293 312
28 179 598
28 964 423
28 544 250
28 351 531
29 550 629
29 153 304
28 846 152
28 758 548
28 343 747
25 735 830
14 522 487
9 932 721
11 414 895
8 548 858
9 541 297
10 730 099
16 761 240
15 154 345
11 329 853
11 657 481
11 787 057
9 224 836

–
1,08
0,78
0,71
0,64
0,6
0,54
0,57
0,56
0,57
0,56
0,56
0,55
0,52
0,51
0,49
0,48
0,51
0,5
0,51
0,5
0,51
0,49
0,5
0,45
0,49
0,51
0,53
0,531
0,526
0,543
0,577
0,585
0,553
0,58
0,471
0,587
0,655
0,629
0,588
0,743
0,716
0,71
0,579
0,601
0,734
0,642
0,643
0,593

–
597
205 519
230 115
210 698
247 481
261 154
270 675
260 133
249 828
259 939
266 073
257 244
307 248
330 883
296 295
322 149
355 131
331 299
322 453
332 261
311 245
338 473
339 585
294 429
323 120
324 946
348 800
366 245
369 927
380 352
418 936
421 711
389,280*
446,786*
386,099*
388,151*
225,300*
205,484*
172,329*
172,412*
210,586*
221,230*
267,774*
284,826*
270,800*
245,982*
227,889*
170,152*

–
33,3
31,62
33,47
35,18
32,22
33,23
33,83
35,18
37,29
35,19
35,15
36,72
35,64
35,86
37,76
35,95
35
37,36
36,5
38,37
36,46
35,7
36,73
37,94
37,43
38,72
36,16
35,17
34,17
33,54
33,83
34
35.34*
33.22*
34.07*
32.86*
33.94*
31.32*
32.32*
29.53*
31.29*
29.92*
29.87*
29.71*
30.49*
30.32*
30.34*
28.83*

–
199
64 980
77 106
74 133
79 748
86 769
91 578
91 524
93 158
91 468
93 527
94 450
109 503
118 641
111 872
115 826
124 311
123 761
121 337
123 668
113 476
120 842
124 730
111 692
120 937
125 829
126 112
128 794
126 401
127 571
141 723
143 365
137,576*
148,413*
131,536*
127,548*
76,466*
64,367*
55,695*
50,915*
65,892*
66,202*
79,990*
84,619*
82,564*
74,576*
69,143*
49,063*

–
59,54
78,15
81,9
81,61
84,34
84,39
83,96
84,06
84,89
84,45
84,71
86,81
84,89
84,87
84,84
84,39
84,77
84,04
82,63
84,07
82,04
83,82
84,23
84,12
83,57
84,12
84,01
83,79
84,15
82,82
83,12
84,06
83.73*
83.93*
83.78*
77.36*
82.36*
80.27*
78.06*
80.12*
90.33*
87.17*
84.28*
80.24*
86.66*
83.70*
80.31*
78.66*

* Includes concentrate produced from recycled smelter inventory.
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Metric
tonnes

Per
cent
Fe

Per
cent
TiO2

–
–
315 161
872 309
726 206
1 032 293
977 455
951 531
946 425
726 257
741 864
587 922
563 808
449 798
96 476
–
94 667
119 228
91 363
48 737
156 313
79 601
110 000
70 931
55 556
178 204
50 800
104 121
90 311
150 264
133 133
133 428
118 288
183 574
217 338
190 692
239 847
200 995
171 651
215 087
573 808
888 266
1 127 426
1 306 001
1 951 149
2 845 264
2 993 382
3 428 484
5 279 613

–
–
67,2
67
66,2
66,1
66,5
66,6
66,6
66
66,2
65,7
65,8
65,8
66,2
–
64,6
65,1
64,8
67,3
67,1
67,1
67,2
67,1
64,6
64,8
64,7
65
65,1
62,3
63,4
65,3
66,9
65,5
61,7
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
0,78
0,75
0,83
0,88
0,94
0,92
0,9
0,96
1,17
1,07
1,1
1,22
1,19
–
1,05
1,05
1,25
0,9
1,09
1,24
1,18
1,07
2,05
2,31
1,74
1,77
1,74
2,04
2,15
2,09
1,87
1,6
1,6
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Smelting and Heavy Minerals
Smelting

Heavy minerals
100 per cent
sulphuric
acid

Year

Total concentrate
smelted
metric
tonnes

Palabora Purchased
metric
metric
tonnes
tonnes

Toll
metric
tonnes

Total
metric
tonnes

Per
cent
Cu

Per cent
recovery

Metric
tonnes

1964
1965
1966
1967
1968
1969
1970
1971
1972
1973
1974
1975
1976
1977
1978
1979
1980
1981
1982
1983
1984
1985
1986
1987
1988
1989
1990
1991
1992
1993
1994
1995
1996
1997
1998
1999
2000
2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012

–
–
204 448
231 500
227 780
286 913
273 659
281 034
300 284
293 687
312 681
266 315
256 684
353 638
367 349
342 606
357 802
373 743
346 254
369 236
370 913
366 997
366 479
360 817
325 316
359 293
331 669
333 375
302 782
331 243
364 396
366 964
327 687
371,893 *
319,201 *
337,861 *
311,394 *
317,983 *
258,556 *
267,633 *
256,187 *
304,373 *
288,526 *
295,839 *
261,287 *
266,637 *
240,811 *
230,728 *
157,025 *

–
–
61 939
76 539
72 060
77 290
87 602
90 290
90 252
93 637
90 364
91 816
93 360
106 519
114 678
112 204
115 826
120 082
122 316
120 679
117 196
112 347
107 553
116 863
107 927
111 235
111 559
119 359
100 849
110 549
112 498
111 221
101 217
111 557
106 296
101 583
90 727
85 517
82 261
77 118
40 651
57 084
57 015
70 161
62 197
59 110
53 456
59 438
40 576

–
–
–
–
14 121
3 064
659
–
13 143
12 834
19 724
11 193
10 223
17 104
15 368
18 066
15 178
7 977
9 864
12 928
12 900
12 616
10 589
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
61 939
76 539
86 181
81 603
92 562
97 954
113 030
108 771
112 145
105 544
105 888
126 037
130 082
130 270
131 004
128 177
132 298
134 953
137 845
132 273
131 936
129 432
120 466
126 345
120 027
122 299
105 451
111 876
117 148
114 014
105 758
119 042
106 296
101 583
90 727
85 517
82 261
77 118
67 179
84 926
78 980
91 204
75 943
65 937
55 665
59 438
40 576

–
–
99,26
99,3
99,5
99,49
99,5
99,49
99,52
99,55
99,49
99,47
99,44
99,48
99,5
99,52
99,47
99,45
99,47
99,5
99,53
99,47
99,48
99,43
99,55
99,56
99,57
99,57
99,51
99,49
99,46
99,49
99,44
99,48
99,44
99,41
99,4
99,44
99,45
99,41
99,48
99,48
99,49
99,45
99,43
99,41
99,46
99,42
99,47

–
–
96,65
98,09
98,29
98,20
97,81
98,60
99,36
98,29
97,79
97,47
98,32
97,96
97,29
98,03
98,94
97,69
98,01
98,48
97,43
97,61
97,38
96,56
97,53
97,32
96,67
96,55
96,64
97,11
97,55
96,77
96,38
92,47
94,75
97,84
95,40
95,58
97,13
96,69
95,96
95,94
95,61
93,59
95,14
91,54
94,15
97,92
81,62

–
–
46 340
94 813
92 828
96 060
82 799
70 327
81 324
103 676
98 379
108 496
114 882
130 533
133 653
122 410
117 488
116 855
128 373
127 855
116 023
135 631
147 067
150 701
134 610
135 661
97 655
123 535
107 942
120 984
147 657
158 895
142 491
121 650
135 148
140 229
139 491
139 214
117 238
117 623
104 259
136 474
138 338
153 719
112 802
89 932
50 159
95 995
67 575

Anodes produced

–
–
–
–
–
1 249
4 301
7 664
9 635
2 300
2 057
2 536
2 304
2 414
36
–
–
118
118
1 346
7 748
7 310
13 794
12 569
12 539
15 111
8 468
2 940
4 602
1 327
4 650
2 794
4 541
7 485
–
–
–
–
–
–
26 528
27 842
21 966
21 043
13 746
6 827
2 209
–

U308 in
calcine
produced

ZrO2 processed to
chemicals

Year

Kilograms

Metric
tonnes

1964
1965
1966
1967
1968
1969
1970
1971
1972
1973
1974
1975
1976
1977
1978
1979
1980
1981
1982
1983
1984
1985
1986
1987
1988
1989
1990
1991
1992
1993
1994
1995
1996
1997
1998
1999
2000
2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
60 842
140 275
131 089
124 312
125 291
143 277
88 661
140 860
121 252
170 369
234 206
257 879
218 635
159 769
217 828
185 443
175 944
87 496
110 671
109 170
130 501
115 048
92 570
162 254
132 653
100 168
87 070
104 950
96 210
86 200
41 565
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
39
643
3 103
5 196
367
1 506
3 067
4 452
4 359
4 941
6 490
5 531
9 158
11 297
12 011
10 129
13 017
12 489
14 639
13 104
12 239
13 188
12 163
13 243
11 448
9 387
7 486
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

* Includes recycled concentrate smelted.
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Summary production data (continued)

Refining
Palabora copper produced

Other copper produced

Processed to

Toll
Metric
tonnes

Total
cathode
Metric
tonnes

Precious
metal
content of
refinery slimes
produced
Kilograms

–
–
–
–
7 362
3 951
1 063
–
–
–
7 178
5 292
764
–
1 313
2 662
2 340
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
44 603
46 589
53 421
59 618
61 320
72 366
70 590
70 067
81 939
126 681
129 409
128 267
129 592
127 283
126 474
138 738
136 495
132 043
128 864
127 272
118 456
126 206
116 005
118 670
104 246
109 651
115 548
115 781
104 343
113 164
162 966
100 044
87 683
86 904
81 619
73 395
67 585
80 319
81 163
91 686
76 671
75 618
57 984
63 787
41 724

–
–
–
–
5 122
5 020
6 811
7 898
10 517
11 946
10 347
12 199
11 848
16 159
20 516
22 537
22 680
15 545
19 162
19 671
18 707
17 292
17 020
17 724
17 227
17 118
17 759
16 339
14 338
14 852
14 883
14 371
12 677
15 546
11 291
10 446
7 804
9 518
8 285
13 981
21 410
20 978
15 729
12 243
9 271
7 616
6 250
7 013
4 155

Processed to shapes

Year

Cathode
Metric
tonnes

Cast shapes
Metric
tonnes

Rod
Metric
tonnes

Cathode
Metric
tonnes

1964
1965
1966
1967
1968
1969
1970
1971
1972
1973
1974
1975
1976
1977
1978
1979
1980
1981
1982
1983
1984
1985
1986
1987
1988
1989
1990
1991
1992
1993
1994
1995
1996
1997
1998
1999
2000
2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012

–
–
–
–
37 241
41 397
48 086
52 005
51 998
70 114
61 391
61 923
71 501
106 698
114 652
111 014
114 008
120 924
116 080
124 852
116 448
112 008
104 846
106 662
99 164
115 689
107 750
117 965
104 246
109 145
111 138
112 855
100 180
105 557
104 026
100 044
87 683
86 904
81 619
73 395
67 585
80 319
81 163
91 686
75 918
69 387
57 984
63 787
41 724

–
–
–
–
25 490
17 606
20 083
15 930
16 560
23 357
15 715
16 007
14 589
7 808
15 782
8 051
3 621
152
511
1 153
715
995
1 049
824
1 238
–
20
4
1
76
2
9
109
164
5 003
3 285
6 169
2 697
5 277
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
2 399
21 428
30 316
36 046
35 463
46 385
44 343
43 204
36 175
35 782
37 121
48 829
72 230
79 668
70 082
68 050
77 950
66 492
66 369
67 424
74 049
69 646
63 508
60 863
59 359
62 520
75 181
79 758
71 764
82 529
68 742
56 640
66 999
65 801
73 513
63 974
60 677
69 784
72 466
66 890
51 374
47 551
37 488
52 271
45 447

–
–
–
–
7 362
5 192
5 335
7 613
9 322
2 252
9 199
8 144
10 438
19 983
14 757
17 253
15 584
6 359
10 394
13 886
20 047
20 035
24 018
20 610
19 292
10 517
8 255
705
–
506
4 410
2 926
4 163
7 607
58 940
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Purchased
Metric
tonnes
–
–
–
–
–
1 241
4 272
7 613
9 322
2 252
2 021
2,518*
2 271
2 383
37
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
753
6 231^
–
–
–

* Excludes 1 079 tonnes cathode purchased on behalf of customers and converted to rod to meet increase in South African demand.
^ Excludes 854 tonnes cathode purchased that were sold directly to customers.
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Vermiculite
Mining
Material loaded and
hauled

Processing
Ore treated

Tailings reclaimed

Vermiculite concentrate

Year

Metric tonnes

Metric tonnes

Metric tonnes

Metric tonnes

Per cent vermiculite

1964
1965
1966
1967
1968
1969
1970
1971
1972
1973
1974
1975
1976
1977
1978
1979
1980
1981
1982
1983
1984
1985
1986
1987
1988
1989
1990
1991
1992
1993
1994
1995
1996
1997
1998
1999
2000
2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012

1 489 208
1 242 945
1 361 948
1 602 883
1 911 308
1 886 049
1 783 318
1 866 398
1 914 326
2 061 924
1 851 145
1 769 546
1 984 050
1 437 834
1 756 125
1 968 750
2 133 833
2 095 898
2 066 265
1 835 190
1 930 095
2 073 915
2 005 155
2 174 063
2 201 626
2 291 064
2 610 952
3 452 025
2 952 320
2 827 520
3 153 560
2 896 440
2 737 380
3 298 080
3 440 940
2 844 740
2 944 240
2 768 900
3 651 360
2 902 680
2 520 600
2 434 260
2 775 840
2 828 700
3 582 780
3 611 750
3 623 820
3 198 180
1 171 860

595 748
587 450
596 542
697 902
697 350
791 065
747 840
702 925
974 455
1 126 286
1 125 364
1 228 259
1 218 195
1 059 713
1 208 880
1 317 353
1 337 355
1 254 803
1 190 813
1 024 088
1 138 905
1 142 843
1 129 972
1 372 073
1 390 680
1 358 213
1 239 783
1 753 447
1 424 680
1 557 640
1 961 990
1 907 840
2 074 040
1 931 080
1 893 540
1 965 900
2 031 100
1 753 920
2 270 580
1 768 620
1 793 700
1 648 260
1 786 920
1 612 020
1 827 600
1 829 820
1 770 900
1 823 220
859 015

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
280 778
414 652
397 056
445 783
91 759
236 240
112 240
299 920
197 600
117 100
188 260
280 920
86 160
44 160
242 640
–
280 920
–
–
–

101 836
115 132
103 176
100 552
110 040
128 787
123 500
132 071
147 903
155 852
182 613
207 386
222 079
165 420
209 093
193 627
181 794
175 125
180 992
139 292
164 421
177 598
193 973
185 838
203 101
195 525
217 738
197 768
163 894
161 501
216 196
211 965
190 364
207 070
207 345
208 603
208 422
166 078
224 258
207 345
193 504
209 799
197 765
199 150
199 111
194 349
195 453
165 118
133 220

93,40
88,00
90,60
92,60
91,70
91,10
90,70
88,40
88,10
90,60
89,70
90,50
90,00
90,50
90,10
89,80
89,90
89,40
89,30
89,80
89,90
90,00
89,90
89,80
88,50
88,80
89,40
90,38
90,89
89,80
90,21
90,39
89,62
90,74
90,50
90,70
90,65
90,52
90,10
90,55
90,55
90,79
92,80
91,50
90,31
91,00
89,00
90,52
90,03
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293 572
268 525
1 055 550
1 142 700
1 186 620
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ANALYSIS OF

SHAREHOLDERS
for the year ended 31 December 2012

Register date:
Issued share capital:

28 December 2012
48 337 497 shares
Number of
shareholders

per
cent

Number
of shares

per
cent

1 – 1 000 shares
1 001 – 10 000 shares
10 001 – 100 000 shares
100 001 – 1 000 000 shares
1 000 001 shares and over

1 851
486
98
28
3

75.06
19.71
3.97
1.14
0.12

593 280
1 492 412
3 580 341
7 431 693
35 239 771

1.23
3.09
7.41
15.37
72.90

Total

2 466

100.00

48 337 497

100.00

Number of
shareholders

per
cent

Number
of shares

per
cent

Banks
Brokers
Close Corporations
Endowment Funds
Individuals
Insurance Companies
Investment Companies
Mutual Funds
Nominees and Trusts
Other Corporations
Pension Funds
Private Companies
Public Companies

74
19
48
13
1 835
8
3
63
250
37
28
80
8

3.00
0.77
1.95
0.53
74.41
0.32
0.12
2.55
10.14
1.50
1.14
3.24
0.32

2 308 105
1 320 748
58 296
221 055
1 588 462
143 602
1 608 686
3 949 883
466 960
43 000
1 969 017
975 873
33 683 810

4.77
2.73
0.12
0.46
3.29
0.30
3.33
8.17
0.97
0.09
4.07
2.02
69.68

Total

2 466

100.00

48 337 497

100.00

Number of
shareholdings

per
cent

Number
of shares

per
cent

Non-Public Shareholders

2

0.08

36 006 855

74.49

Strategic Holdings (more than 10 per cent)

2

0.08

36 006 855

74.49

Public Shareholders

2 464

99.92

12 330 642

25.51

Total

2 466

100.00

48 337 497

100.00

Number
of shares

per
cent

27 889 346
8 117 509
871 676
703 588
689 275
582 527

57.70
16.79
1.80
1.46
1.43
1.21

Shareholder spread

Distribution of shareholders

non-Public/public shareholders

Beneficial shareholders holding of 1 per cent
or more
Rio Tinto Group*
Anglo American Corporation*
Investment Solutions – Oasis Equity
Government Employees Pension Fund
Oasis Crescent Equity Fund
RMB Morgan Stanley (Pty) Ltd
* Strategic Holdings (more than 10 per cent).
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SHAREHOLDERS’
DIARY

February
Announcement of the preliminary results

March
Publication of annual report

April
Annual general meeting

August
Publication of half-yearly interim report

December
End of financial year

USEFUL INFORMATION AND

CONTACTS

Registered office
1 Copper Road, Phalaborwa, 1389
website: www.palabora.com

Postal address
PO Box 65, Phalaborwa, 1390

Mine address
1 Copper Road
Phalaborwa, 1389
PO Box 65, Phalaborwa, 1390
website: www.palabora.com

Transfer secretaries
Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd
70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001

Postal address
PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107

Palabora Mining Company Limited
Integrated annual report 2012

151

NOTICE

TO shareholders

Palabora Mining Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number 1956/002134/06)
(“Palabora” or “the Company”)
JSE code: PAM
ISIN: ZAE000005245
This document is important and requires your immediate attention
If you are in any doubt about what action you should take, consult your broker, Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”),
legal adviser, banker, financial adviser, accountant or other professional adviser immediately.
If you have disposed of all your shares in the Company, please forward this document, together with the enclosed form of proxy, to the
purchaser of such shares or the broker, banker or other agent through whom you disposed of such shares.
Included in this document are:
nnThe notice of meeting, setting out the resolutions to be proposed thereat, together with explanatory notes and guidance notes if
you wish to attend the meeting or to vote by proxy.
nnA proxy form for use by shareholders holding Palabora ordinary shares in certificated form or recorded in sub-registered electronic
form in “own name”.
Shareholders on the Palabora share register who have dematerialised their ordinary shares through Strate, other than those whose
shareholding is recorded in their “own name” in the sub-register maintained by their CSDP, and who wish to attend the meeting
in person, will need to request their CSDP or broker to provide them with the necessary Letter of Representation to do so in terms
of the custody agreement entered into between the dematerialised shareholders and their CSDP or broker.
A shareholder (including certificated shareholders and dematerialised shareholders who hold their shares with “own name”
registration) is entitled to attend and vote at the meeting and may appoint one or more proxy or proxies to attend, participate and
vote in his/her/its stead. A proxy does not have to be a shareholder of the Company. The appointment of a proxy will not preclude the
shareholder who appointed that proxy from attending the annual general meeting and participating and voting in person thereat to
the exclusion of any such proxy. A proxy form for use at the meeting is attached.

Notice to Shareholders: Annual General Meeting (“AGM”)
Notice is hereby given to shareholders as at the record date of 27 March 2013, that the fifty-seventh Annual General Meeting
of shareholders of the Company will be held in the boardroom, 1 Copper Road, Phalaborwa, on Tuesday, 30 April 2013 at 09:00
(South African time) to: (i) deal with such other business as may lawfully be dealt with at the meeting and (ii) consider and, if deemed
fit to pass, with or without modification, the following ordinary and special resolutions, in the manner required by the Companies Act,
71 of 2008, as amended (“Companies Act”), as read with the JSE Limited Listings Requirements (“JSE Listings Requirements”), which
meeting is to be participated in and voted at by shareholders as at the record date of Friday, 19 April 2013 in terms of section 62(3)(a),
read with section 59, of the Companies Act. Accordingly, the last business day to trade in order to participate and vote at the Annual
General Meeting will be Friday, 12 April 2013.
NB: Section 63(1) of the Companies Act – Identification of meeting participants
Kindly note that meeting participants (including proxies) are required to provide reasonably satisfactory identification and evidence
of authority (where applicable) before being entitled to attend or participate in a shareholders’ meeting. Forms of identification
include valid identity documents, driver’s licences and passports.
When reading the resolutions below, please refer to the explanatory notes for AGM resolutions on pages 157 to 161.
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ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS
1.

Ordinary resolution number 1
Presentation of annual financial statements
The audited annual financial statements of the Company (as approved by the Board of Directors of the Company), including the
Directors’ report, the Audit Committee report and the external Auditors’ report for the year ended 31 December 2012, have been
distributed as required and will be presented to shareholders.
The complete annual financial statements are set out on pages 98 to 143 of the integrated annual report.

2.

Ordinary resolution number 2
Election of P Ward as an independent non-executive director
“Resolved that PK Ward who is eligible and available for election, is elected as a director of the Company.”
Age: 60
First appointed: 18 December 2012
Educational qualifications: CA(SA), B Comm (Rhodes University), Certificate in Theory of Accounting (Wits University) Diploma
in Alternate Dispute Resolution (Arbitration Foundation of Southern Africa) and Executive Development Programme (Columbia
Business School).
Directorships: Aveng Limited, Hollard Holdings (Pty) Ltd and Palabora Mining Company Limited
Appointed as an independent non-executive director. Mr PK Ward was appointed by the Board to fill a vacancy on the Board
with effect from 18 December 2012 and whose term of office thus expires under section 68(3) of the Companies Act upon the
relevant vacancy being filled by election by shareholders in general meeting. This resolution proposes to fill such vacancy by
electing him to the relevant post.

3.

Ordinary resolution number 3
Re-election of MR Abrahams as an independent non-executive director
“Resolved that MR Abrahams, who retires by rotation in terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company and is
eligible and available for re-election, is re-elected as a director of the Company.”
Age: 44
First appointed: 11 January 2010
Educational qualifications: BSc (MechEng) from the University of the Witwatersrand and Government Certificates of Competency
in Mining and Factories from the Departments of Labour and Mineral Resources, respectively.
Directorships: Palabora Mining Company Limited.

4.

Ordinary resolution number 4
Re-Election of C Kinnell as a non-executive director
“Resolved that C Kinnell, who retires by rotation in terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company and is eligible
and available for re-election, is re-elected as a director of the Company.”
Age: 49
First appointed: 4 February 2011
Educational qualifications: Degree in Marketing and Economics and an MBA.
Directorships: Palabora Mining Company Limited, Palabora UK and Bougainville Copper Limited (BCL)
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5.

Ordinary resolution number 5
Re-election of CN Zungu as an independent non-executive director
“Resolved that CN Zungu, who retires by rotation in terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company and is eligible
and available for re-election, is re-elected as a director of the Company.”
Age: 57
First appointed: April 2002
Educational qualifications: BCom from the University of Zululand and attended the Graduate Advancement Programme at
Wits Business School in 1982, the Industrial Relations Development Programme at the Stellenbosch School of Business
Leadership in 1991 and the Advanced Executive Programme at the Unisa School of Business Leadership in 1997.
Directorships: Palabora Mining Company Limited

6.

Ordinary resolution number 6
Election of PK Ward as member of the Audit and Risk Committee
“Resolved that PK Ward be elected as a member of the Audit and Risk Committee, with effect from the end of this meeting in
terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act.”

7.

Ordinary resolution number 7
Election of MR Abrahams as member of the Audit and Risk Committee
“Resolved that MR Abrahams be elected as a member of the Audit and Risk Committee, with effect from the end of this meeting
in terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act.”

8.

Ordinary resolution number 8
Election of NA Hlubi as member of the Audit and Risk Committee
“Resolved that NA Hlubi be elected as a member of the Audit and Risk Committee, with effect from the end of this meeting in
terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act.”

9.

Ordinary resolution number 9
Re-appointment of independent auditors
“Resolved that PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. are re-appointed as auditors of the Company until the conclusion of the next
annual general meeting.”

10.

Ordinary resolution number 10
Approval of remuneration policy through a non-binding advisory vote
“Resolved that the Group’s remuneration policy as set out on page 39 of the Group’s integrated annual report for the year ended
31 December 2012 be approved by way of an advisory non-binding vote.”

The percentage of voting rights that will be required for the ordinary resolutions to be adopted is 50 per cent plus 1 of majority
voting rights.

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS
1.

Special resolution number 1
Proposed increase of remuneration payable to non-executive directors
“Resolved that the non-executive directors’ remuneration, payable quarterly in arrears, be increased as set out below with
retrospective effect from 1 January 2013:
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Annual retainer fee

Palabora Board
Chairperson
Member
International member
Ad hoc work performed by the
non-executive directors
Board committees
Chairperson
Member

Attendance fee per annum

Current

Proposed

Current

Proposed

R269 880
R115 183
R115 183
R1 200 per hour

R288 772
R123 246
R123 246
R1 284 per hour

R78 988
R38 394
R57 592
N/A

R84 517
R41 082
R61 623
N/A

R143 980
R115 183

R154 059
R123 246

R28 795
R28 795

R30 811
R30 811

# Board members serving on the Board committees will only receive attendance fees for serving on those committees.
* The Board committee’s Chairperson’s annual retainer includes Board membership functions.

Special resolution number 1 is proposed in order to comply with the requirements of the Companies Act and the Company’s
Memorandum of Incorporation. The above rates have been selected to ensure that the remuneration of non-executive directors
remains competitive in order to enable the Company to retain and attract persons of the calibre, appropriate capabilities, skills
and experience required in order to make meaningful contributions to the Company.
In arriving at the proposal set out in special resolution number 1 the Remuneration and Nomination Committee conducted
a review of the remuneration paid to non-executive directors based on the data provided by an independent service provider.
The service provider conducted a remuneration survey and benchmarked Palabora against companies of the same size, listed
mining companies and medium-sized companies. The survey indicated a 7 per cent average predicted increase in the market.
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee considered and recommended a 7 per cent increase for approval by the Board
of Directors which also sanctioned the proposal for recommendations to the shareholders.
The proposed revised remuneration is considered to be fair and reasonable and in the best interests of the Company.
2.

Special resolution number 2
Financial assistance to subsidiaries and other related and inter-related entities and to directors, prescribed officers and other persons
participating in share or other employee incentive schemes
“Resolved that, to the extent required by the Companies Act, the Board of Directors of the Company may, in accordance with
the requirements of the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements,
each as presently constituted and as amended from time to time, authorise the Company to provide direct or indirect financial
assistance by way of loan, guarantee, the provision of security or otherwise, to:
1. any of its present or future subsidiaries and/or any other company or entity that is or becomes related or inter-related to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, and to any member or prospective member of any such subsidiary or related or interrelated company or entity, for any purpose or in connection with any matter, including, but not limited to, the subscription
of any option, or any securities issued or to be issued by the Company or a related or inter-related company or entity, or for
the purchase of any securities of the Company or a related or inter-related company or entity; and/or
2. any of its present or future directors or prescribed officers (or any person related to any of them or to any company or entity
related or inter-related to any of them), or to any other person who is a participant in any of the Company’s share or other
employee incentive schemes, for the purpose of, or in connection with, the subscription of any option, or any securities,
issued or to be issued by the Company or a related or inter-related company or entity, or for the purchase of any securities of
the Company or a related or inter-related company entity, where such financial assistance is provided in terms of any such
scheme that does not satisfy the requirements of section 97 of the Companies Act; the aforegoing authorities to endure
until the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.”
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3.

Special resolution number 3
Approval of a new Memorandum of Incorporation
“Resolved that the existing Memorandum of Incorporation (formerly the Company’s memorandum and articles of association)
is abrogated in its entirety and replaced with a new Memorandum of Incorporation, with effect from the date of filing thereof at
the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission.”
The salient features of the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation are set out in the explanatory notes to this notice on
pages 157 to 161 and the complete new Memorandum of Incorporation is available for inspection at the Company’s registered
office and on the Company’s website (www.palabora.com). The percentages of voting rights that will be required for the special
resolutions to be adopted require 75 per cent +1 majority of the voting rights.

Proxies
A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend, participate in and vote at the meeting
in the place of the shareholder, or two or more proxies. A proxy need not also be a shareholder of the Company.
A proxy form, in which is set out the relevant instructions for its completion, is enclosed for use by certificated shareholders and
dematerialised shareholders with “own name” registration of the Company who wish to appoint a proxy. The instrument appointing
a proxy and the authority, if any, under which it is signed must be received by the Company or its South African transfer secretaries
at the addresses given below by not later than 09:00 (South African time) on Monday, 29 April 2013.
All beneficial owners of shares who have dematerialised their shares through a CSDP or broker, other than those shareholders who
have dematerialised their shares in “own name” registrations, and all beneficial owners of shares who hold certificated shares through
a nominee, must provide their CSDP, broker or nominee with their voting instructions. Voting instructions must reach the CSDP,
broker or nominee in sufficient time and in accordance with the agreement between the beneficial owner, and the CSDP, broker or
nominee (as the case may be) to allow the CSDP, broker or nominee to carry out the instructions and lodge the requisite authority by
09:00 (South African time) on Monday, 29 April 2013.
Should such beneficial owners, however, wish to attend the meeting in person, they may do so by requesting their CSDP, broker or
nominee to issue them with appropriate authority in terms of the agreement entered into between the beneficial owner, and the
CSDP, broker or nominee (as the case may be).
Shareholders who hold certificated shares in their own name and shareholders who have dematerialised their shares in “own name”
registration must lodge their completed proxy forms at the registered office of the Company or with the Company’s South African
transfer secretaries at the address below not later than 09:00 (South African time) on Monday, 29 April 2013.
By order of the Board of Directors

Keith Mathole
Company secretary
14 March 2013
Business address and registered office
1 Copper Road
Phalaborwa, 1389
PO Box 65, Phalaborwa, 1390
Fax number +27 15 780 2018
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South African transfer secretaries
Computershare Investor Services
(Proprietary) Limited
(Registration number 2004/003647/07)
70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001
PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107
Fax number: +27 11 688 7738

Shareholder communication
Computershare Investor Services
(Proprietary) Limited
Registration number 2004/003647/07
70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001
PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107
Tel: +27 11 370 5000 (International)
Fax number: +27 11 688 7738

EXPLANATORY NOTES TO RESOLUTIONS PROPOSED AT THE FIFTY-SEVENTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF THE COMPANY

Election of directors presently filling vacancies on the Board – ordinary resolution number 2
The reason for the proposed ordinary resolution number 2 is to elect, in accordance with the Memorandum of Incorporation of the
Company and by way of a series of votes, each of which is on the candidacy of a single individual to fill a single vacancy, as required
under section 68(2) of the Companies Act, PK Ward, as a director of the Company, having been appointed by the Board to fill a vacancy
on the Board and whose term of office thus expires under section 68(3) of the Companies Act upon the relevant vacancy being filled by
shareholders in general meeting. Biographical details of the director offering himself for election are set out on pages 153 to 154.

Re-election of directors retiring by rotation at the annual general meeting –
ordinary resolutions numbers 3 to 5
The reason for the proposed ordinary resolutions numbers 3 to 5 is to elect, in accordance with the Memorandum of Incorporation
of the Company and by way of a series of votes, each of which is on the candidacy of a single individual to fill a single vacancy, as
required under section 68(2) of the Companies Act, Messrs MR Abrahams, C Kinnell and CN Zungu as director of the Company, them
having retired by rotation in terms of the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and being eligible for re-election. Biographical
details of the directors offering themselves for election are set out on pages 153 to 154.

Election of the Audit Committee – ordinary resolutions numbers 6 to 8
In terms of the Companies Act, the Audit Committee is no longer a committee of the Board but a committee elected by the shareholders
at each annual general meeting.
In terms of the Regulations under the Companies Act, at least one-third of the members of the Company’s Audit Committee at any
particular time must have academic qualifications, or experience, in economics, law, corporate governance, finance, accounting,
commerce, industry, public affairs or human resource management.
Mindful of the aforegoing, the Board of Directors has approved the recommendation that the current members of the Audit and Risk
Committee continue in such role for the financial year ending 31 December 2013, and until the next annual general meeting, subject
to the elections being made by the shareholders, as proposed in ordinary resolutions numbers 6 to 8.

Approval of re-appointment of external auditors – ordinary resolution number 9
In compliance with section 90 of the Companies Act, PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. are proposed to be re-appointed as auditors for the
financial year ending 31 December 2013 and until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting.

Approval of remuneration policy through a non-binding advisory vote –
ordinary resolution number 10
In accordance with the principles of King III an advisory vote is being put to shareholders for the endorsement of the Company’s
remuneration policy. As the votes on this resolution are non-binding, the results would not be binding on the Board. However, the
Board will take cognisance of the outcome of the vote when considering its remuneration policy in future.

Remuneration payable to non-executive directors – special resolution number 1
In terms of sections 66(8) and (9) of the Companies Act, remuneration may only be paid to directors for their service as directors in
accordance with a special resolution approved by the shareholders within the previous two years and if not prohibited in terms of a
company’s memorandum of incorporation. In terms of the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, directors shall be entitled to such
remuneration as directors as may be determined by the directors from time to time. Although the Company has been advised that, in
terms of the transitional provisions of the Companies Act, article 93 of the Memorandum of Incorporation could possibly prevail in the
interim in respect of this apparent conflict between such article and the Companies Act, the Board of Directors nonetheless wishes to
comply with the provisions of the Companies Act and, as such, the resolution is proposed as a special resolution.
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Full particulars of remuneration paid to non-executive directors for the financial year ended 31 December 2012 are set out on
page 95 and the proposed revised fees to be effective from 1 January 2013. The directors will receive the top-up payment in order
to compensate them for the fact that their fees were not increased with effect from the commencement of the financial year ending
31 December 2013.

General authority for the Company to provide financial assistance to or in connection with
its subsidiaries and other related and inter-related companies and entities and to directors,
prescribed officers and other persons participating in share or other employee incentive
schemes – special resolution number 2
Notwithstanding the title of section 45 of the Companies Act, being “Loans or other financial assistance to directors”, on a proper
interpretation, the body of the section may also apply to financial assistance provided by a company to related or inter-related
companies and corporations, and members thereof, including, inter alia, its subsidiaries, for any purpose.
Furthermore, section 44 of the Companies Act may also apply to the financial assistance so provided by a company to related or interrelated companies, in the event that the financial assistance is provided for the purpose of, or in connection with, the subscription of
any option, or any securities, issued or to be issued by the Company or a related or inter-related company, or for the purchase of any
securities of the Company or a related or inter-related company.
Both sections 44 and 45 of the Companies Act provide, inter alia, that the particular financial assistance must be provided only
pursuant to a special resolution of the shareholders, adopted within the previous two years, which approved such assistance either
for the specific recipient, or generally for a category of potential recipients, and the specific recipient falls within that category and
the Board of Directors must be satisfied that:
(a)

immediately after providing the financial assistance, the Company would satisfy the solvency and liquidity test; and

(b)

the terms under which the financial assistance is proposed to be given are fair and reasonable to the Company.

The Company would like the ability to provide financial assistance in accordance with section 45 of the Companies Act. Furthermore,
it may be necessary or desirous for the Company to provide financial assistance to, or in connection with, related or inter-related
companies and entities, and to members of subsidiaries and related or inter-related companies and entities, to subscribe for options
or securities or purchase securities of the Company or another entity related or inter-related to it. Under the Companies Act, the
Company will however require the special resolution referred to above to be adopted. In the circumstances and in order to, inter alia,
ensure that the Company’s subsidiaries and other related and inter-related companies and entities have access to financing and/or
financial backing from the Company, it is necessary to obtain the approval of shareholders, as set out in special resolution number 2.
Sections 44 and 45 contain exemptions in respect of employee share schemes that satisfy the requirements of section 97 of the
Companies Act. To the extent that any of the Company’s share or other employee incentive schemes do not satisfy such requirements,
financial assistance (as contemplated in sections 44 and 45) to be provided under such schemes will, inter alia, also require approval
by special resolution. Accordingly, special resolution number 2 authorises financial assistance to any of the Company’s directors or
prescribed officers (or any person related to any of them or to any company or corporation related or inter-related to them), or to any
other person who is a participant in any of the Company’s share or other employee incentive schemes, in order to facilitate their
participation in any such schemes that do not satisfy the requirements of section 97 of the Companies Act.

Approval of a new Memorandum of Incorporation – special resolution number 3
The Companies Act abolishes the distinction between the memorandum of association and the articles of association and provides
that there will only be one constitutional document for a company, namely the memorandum of incorporation (“MOI”). The Company
proposes to adopt a new MOI, in substitution for its memorandum of association and the articles of association which in course of law
became its MOI, upon the advent of the Companies Act, but required to be brought in harmony with the Companies Act and changes
to the JSE Listings Requirements.
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Salient features of the new Palabora Mining Company Limited Memorandum of Incorporation
All capitalised terms contained herein shall bear the meaning ascribed thereto in the Memorandum
[Note: To the extent not already defined, the following are to be defined in the Definitions section of the notice: “Memorandum”
means the proposed memorandum of incorporation for the Company; “Act” means the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, and “Listings
Requirements” means the JSE Listings Requirements. We assume that “Company” is defined on the first page of the notice.]
Article
Authorisation for shares
(article 9 and schedule 1)
Issue of unissued shares
and/or options to
subscribe for unissued
shares (article 9)
Alteration of shares
(article 10)

Content of Memorandum
The Company is authorised to issue 100 000 000 (one hundred million) shares having a par value
of R0.01 (“Authorised Shares”). Schedule 1 of the Memorandum sets out the rights and privileges
attaching to the Authorised Shares.
The Board, if authorised by the shareholders at a shareholder meeting, may issue Authorised Shares,
in their discretion. Any such issue must have been approved by the JSE and is otherwise subject to the
Listings Requirements.

The Company’s share capital may be altered as follows, by the: (i) creation of any class of shares;
(ii) variation of any preferences, rights, limitation and other share terms attaching to any class of
shares; (iii) conversion of one class of shares into one or more other classes; (iv) increase of the number
of securities; (v) consolidation of securities and (vi) sub-division of securities. Any such alteration
requires an amendment to the Memorandum (by way of a special resolution of the shareholders) and
is otherwise subject to the Act and the Listings Requirements.
Beneficial interest in
The Company’s issued securities may be held by, and registered in the name of, one person for the
securities (article 13)
beneficial interest of another person as provided for in section 56(1) of the Act.
Acquisition of shares
Subject to section 48 of the Act and the Listings Requirements, the Board may determine that the
(article 18)
Company shall acquire a number of the Company’s own shares and the board of a subsidiary company
may determine that it will acquire shares of the Company.
Capitalisation shares
The Board may issue capitalisation shares in accordance with section 47 of the Act and the
(article 19)
Listings Requirements.
Record date for
The Board, in accordance with section 59 of the Act and the Listings Requirements, must set the
determining shareholders’ record date for determining shareholders’ rights. The ‘record date’ is the date for determination
rights (article 21)
of which shareholders are entitled to receive notice of a shareholders’ meeting, participate in
and vote at a shareholders’ meeting, decide any matter by written consent (if permitted by the
Listings Requirements) or electronic communication, receive a distribution or be allotted or exercise
other rights.
Shareholder meetings
Shareholder meetings must be held when required by the Act, the Memorandum and the Listings
(articles 23 and 24)
Requirements. An annual general meeting (“AGM”) must be held each year. Shareholder meetings must
be held at a location determined by the Board and shareholders are entitled to receive 15 days’ notice
of any shareholder meeting. Any shareholder meeting must be held by electronic communication
(provided that, to the extent so permitted by law, if and for so long as there are more than
20 shareholders, a shareholder may not participate in and vote at a shareholder meeting by electronic
communication unless the Board determines otherwise). The quorum for a shareholders meeting has
two parts, namely that: (i) a shareholder meeting may not begin until sufficient persons are present at
the meeting to exercise, in aggregate, at least twenty-five percent of the voting rights that are entitled
to be exercised in respect of at least one matter to be decided at the meeting and (ii) a matter to be
decided at a shareholder meeting may not begin to be considered unless sufficient persons are present
at the meeting to exercise, in aggregate, at least twenty-five percent of all of the voting rights that
are entitled to be exercised in respect of that matter at the time the matter is called on the agenda.
In addition to the two-part quorum requirement, if the Company has more than two shareholders,
the quorum cannot be less than three shareholders.
Shareholders’ voting
Every holder of an ordinary share must have one vote in respect of each share that he holds and must
rights (articles 25 and 26) be entitled to vote at every shareholder meeting or AGM, in person or by proxy. Each shareholder
has one vote on a show of hands (irrespective of the number of voting rights that shareholder would
otherwise be entitled to exercise) and in respect of voting by means of a poll, each shareholder has
one vote in respect of each ordinary share held by that shareholder.
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Article
Proxies (article 27)

Content of Memorandum
A shareholder may appoint two or more persons (who need not be shareholders) as proxies to
participate in, and speak and vote at a shareholder meeting on behalf of that shareholder. Any
appointment of a proxy will be subject to the provisions of section 58 of the Act and article 27
of the Memorandum.
Every resolution of shareholders is either an ordinary resolution or a special resolution.
The Company must have a minimum of four directors. The shareholders shall, in accordance with
section 68 of the Act, elect the directors and alternate directors.

Resolutions (article 28)
Election of directors
and alternate directors
(articles 30 and 31)
Rotation of non-executive At least one-third of the non-executive directors will retire each year. Retiring directors will be eligible
directors (article 30.6)
for re-election; provided that they are eligible. The non-executive directors so to retire shall be those
who have been longest in office and as between two directors who have been in office an equal length
of time, the non-executive director who is to retire shall be determined by lot.
Vacancies in the Board
The Board may appoint any person who satisfies the requirements for election as a director to fill
(article 32)
any vacancy and serve as a director on a temporary basis until the vacancy is filled by election
in accordance with section 68(1) of the Act.
Remuneration of directors The Company, with the approval of the shareholders in terms of sections 66(8) and 66(9) of the Act,
(article 33)
may pay remuneration to the directors for their service as directors. Directors may also be paid all
their travelling and other expenses, properly and necessarily incurred by them in and about the
business of the Company.
Cessation of office as
A director will cease to hold office as such if, among other things: (i) he becomes ineligible or is
director (article 35)
disqualified in terms of the Act; (ii) he resigns or if he is requested by his co-directors to resign as a
director or (iii) if his appointment as an executive director ends.
Directors’ meetings
The quorum for a directors meeting is three directors. Each director has one vote on any matter to be
(article 38)
decided and questions arising at a directors’ meeting are decided by a majority of votes. In the case
of an equality of votes the chairperson shall have a second or casting vote. Directors may participate
in directors’ meeting by way of electronic communication. Written resolutions of directors may be
passed by a majority of directors (provided that all directors have received notice of the resolution to
be passed).
Personal financial
Directors (including alternate directors, prescribed officers and a person who is a member of a
interests (article 40)
committee of the Board) must disclose their personal financial interests, and the personal financial
interests of any related person, in accordance with the provisions of section 75 of the Act. A “personal
financial interest”, when used in respect to any person, means “a direct material interest of that
person, of a financial, monetary or economic nature, or to which money can be attributed …”.
Committees of the Board The Board may appoint any number of committees of directors and delegate to any committee any of
(article 41)
the authority of the Board. The Board is required, in terms of the Act, to establish an audit committee
and a social and ethic committee. The Board is also required to establish any committees as may be
required by the Listings Requirements.
Distributions (article 42) The Company may make distributions in accordance with section 46 of the Act and the Listings
Requirements. All dividends are to be paid to shareholders (registered as at a date subsequent to the
date of declaration or the date of confirmation of the dividend, whichever is the later) pro rata to their
shareholding from time to time.
Auditor (article 46)
In terms of section 90 of the Act, the Company is required to appoint an auditor each year at the AGM.
Indemnity and insurance The Company indemnifies all directors and prescribed officers for the matters set out in the
(article 48)
Memorandum. The Company may also purchase insurance to: (i) protect directors and prescribed
officers against any liability or expenses for which the Company is permitted to indemnify such
person in terms of the Act and the Memorandum and (ii) to protect the Company against any
contingency permitted by the Act.
Notices (article 49)
Each shareholder must notify the Company in writing of an address to receive notices from the
Company by post and if he has not named such an address he shall be deemed to have waived his
right to be so served with notices. In addition, a shareholder may notify the Company in writing of
an email address and/or facsimile number, which address shall be his address for the purposes of
receiving notices by way of electronic communication.
Amendments to the
An amendment to the Memorandum may only be effected by way of a special resolution of the
Memorandum (article 51) ordinary shareholders in accordance with section 16(1)(c) of the Act.
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This document contains only a summary of the salient terms of the proposed new Memorandum. In order fully to understand
the contents of the Memorandum, shareholders should consult the full text of the Memorandum. The Memorandum will
be available for inspection at 1 Copper Road, Phalaborwa from 27 March 2013 and will be available on the Company’s website
www.palabora.com.

Voting and proxies
1.	Every holder of shares present in person or by proxy at the annual general meeting or, in the case of a body corporate represented
at the annual general meeting, shall be entitled to one vote on a show of hands and on a poll shall be entitled to one vote for
every share held. Duly completed proxy forms or powers of attorney must be lodged at the registered office of the Company or
with the Company’s South African transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services (Proprietary) Limited, at 70 Marshall
Street, Johannesburg, 2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107), not less than 24 hours before the time appointed for holding
the annual general meeting. As the annual general meeting is to be held at 09:00 (South African time) on Tuesday, 30 April 2013;
proxy forms or powers of attorney must be lodged on or before 09:00 (South African time) on Monday, 29 April 2013. The name
and address of the South African transfer secretaries are given on the reverse of the proxy form.
2.	A shareholder (including certificated shareholders and dematerialised shareholders who hold their shares with “own name”
registration) entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting may appoint one or more individuals as proxies to attend,
participate and vote in his/her/its stead. A proxy does not have to be a shareholder of the Company but must be a natural person
(i.e. an individual). The appointment of a proxy will not preclude the shareholder who appointed that proxy from attending the
annual general meeting and participating and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any such proxy. A proxy form for use
at the annual general meeting is attached.
3.	The attention of shareholders is directed to the additional notes relating to the enclosed proxy form, which notes are set out on
the reverse of the proxy form.
4.	Dematerialised shareholders, other than dematerialised shareholders who hold their shares with “own name” registration,
who wish to attend the annual general meeting, must contact their CSDP or broker who will furnish them with the necessary
authority to attend the annual general meeting or they must instruct their CSDP or broker as to how they wish to vote in this
regard. This must be done in terms of the agreement entered into between such shareholder and the CSDP or broker.
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Notice to members (continued)

APPENDIX TO THE NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Important notes about the annual general meeting (“AGM”)
Date:	Tuesday, 30 April, at 09:00 (South African time)
Venue:	The boardroom, 1 Copper Road, Phalaborwa
Time:	The AGM will start promptly at 09:00 (South African time)
Shareholders wishing to attend are advised to be in the boardroom by not later than 08:30.
Admission: Shareholders attending the AGM are asked to register at the registration desk at the venue. Shareholders and proxies
may be required to provide proof of identity.
Security: Mobile telephones should be switched off for the duration of the proceedings.
PLEASE NOTE:
1.

Certiﬁcated shareholders and dematerialised shareholders who hold their shares with “own name” registration
Shareholders wishing to attend the AGM have to ensure, beforehand, with the transfer secretaries of the Company, that their
shares are in fact registered in their names. Should this not be the case and the shares be registered in any other name or in the
name of a nominee company, it is incumbent on shareholders attending the AGM to make the necessary arrangements with
that party to be able to attend and vote in their personal capacity. The proxy form contains detailed instructions in this regard.

2.

Enquiries
Any shareholders having difficulties or queries in regard to the AGM or the above are invited to contact the Company Secretary,
Keith Mathole, on +27 15 780 2911. Calls will be monitored for quality control purposes and customer safety.

3.

Results of annual general meeting
The results of the AGM will be released on SENS as soon as practicably possible after the AGM.
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PROXY form

rio tinto

To be completed by certificated shareholders and dematerialised shareholders with “own name” registration only.
Palabora Mining Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number 1956/002134/06)
(“Palabora” or “the Company”)
JSE code: PAM
ISIN: ZAE000005245
For use at the annual general meeting to be held at 09:00 (South African time) on Tuesday, 30 April 2013, in the boardroom,
1 Copper Road, Phalaborwa, and any postponement or adjournment thereof. A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the Annual
General Meeting may appoint one or more individuals as proxies to attend, vote and speak in his/her/its stead at the Annual General
Meeting. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company but must be a natural person (i.e. an individual).
I/We ......................................................................................................................................................................... (names in block letters)
of (address) ...............................................................................................................................................................................................................
being a shareholder(s) of the Company, and entitled to vote, do hereby appoint: ..........................................................................................
of ............................................................................................................................................................................................... or failing him/her,
of ............................................................................................................................................................................................... or failing him/her,
the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting,
as my/our proxy to represent me/us at the Annual General Meeting to be held at 09:00 (South African time) on Tuesday, 30 April 2013, in
the boardroom, 1 Copper Road, Phalaborwa, for the purposes of considering and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without modification,
the ordinary and special resolutions to be proposed thereat and at each adjournment or postponement thereof, and to vote for
and/or against such resolutions and/or abstain from voting in respect of the shares in the issued share capital of the Company
registered in my/our name, as follows:
ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS
For
Against Abstain
1. Ordinary resolution number 1: 	The adoption of the annual financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2012
2. Ordinary resolution number 2: Re-election of PK Ward as a director
3. Ordinary resolution number 3: Re-election of MR Abrahams as a director
4. Ordinary resolution number 4: Re-election of C Kinnell as a director
5. Ordinary resolution number 5: Re-election of CN Zungu as a director
6. Ordinary resolution number 6:	To elect PK Ward as a member of the Board Audit and
Risk Committee
7. Ordinary resolution number 7:	To elect MR Abrahams as a member of the Board Audit and
Risk Committee
8. Ordinary resolution number 8:	To elect NA Hlubi as a member of the Board Audit and
Risk Committee
9. Ordinary resolution number 9:	Re-appointment of the independent auditors,
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.
10. Ordinary resolution number 10:	Approval of remuneration policy through a non-binding
advisory vote

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS

1. Special resolution number 1:	To approve the remuneration payable to non-executive
directors
2. Special resolution number 2:	To approve the granting of financial assistance by the
Company to or in connection with its subsidiaries and other
related and inter-related companies and corporations and to
directors, prescribed officers and other persons participating in
share or other employee incentive schemes
3. Special resolution number 3: Approval of a new Memorandum of Incorporation

The ordinary resolutions require 50 per cent plus one majority of the voting rights. Special resolutions require 75 per cent
plus 1 majority of the voting rights.
Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate space provided above how you wish your vote to be cast. If no indication is given,
the proxy will be entitled to vote or abstain as he/she deems fit.
Signed at .................................................................................................. on .................................................................................................. 2013
Full name(s) (in block letters) .........................................................................................................................................................................
Signature(s) ..............................................................................................................................................................................................................
Assisted by (guardian) ............................................................................ Date .......................................................................................................
If signing in a representative capacity, see note overleaf.
Please read the notes on the reverse side hereof.
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NOTES TO

PROXY FORM

1.	Only shareholders who are registered in the register or sub-register of the Company under their own name may complete a proxy
or alternatively attend the Annual General Meeting. Beneﬁcial owners who are not the registered holders and who wish to attend
such meeting in person, may do so by requesting the registered holder, being their Central Security Depository Participant
(“CSDP”), broker or nominee, to issue them with a Letter of Representation in terms of the custody agreements entered into with
the registered holder. Letters of Representation must be lodged with the Company’s registrars by no later than 09:00 on Monday,
29 April 2013.
2.	Beneﬁcial owners who are not the registered holders and who do not wish to attend the Annual General Meeting in person must
provide the registered holder, being the CSDP, broker or nominee, with their voting instructions. The voting instructions must
reach the registered holder in sufficient time to allow the registered holder to advise the Company or the Company’s registrar of
voting instructions by no later than 09:00 on Monday, 29 April 2013.
3.	A shareholder may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two alternative proxies of his/her/its choice in the space/s
provided, with or without deleting “the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting “, but any such deletion or insertion must
be initialled by the shareholder. Any insertion or deletion not complying with the foregoing will be declared not to have been
validly effected. The person whose name stands ﬁrst on this proxy form and who is present at the Annual General Meeting will
be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow. In the event that no names are indicated, the proxy shall
be exercised by the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting.
4.	A shareholder’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated by the insertion of an “X” or the relevant number of votes
exercisable by that shareholder in the appropriate box provided. An “X” in the appropriate box indicates the maximum number
of votes exercisable by that shareholder. Failure to comply with the above will be deemed to authorise the proxy to vote
or to abstain from voting at the Annual General Meeting as he/she/it deems fit in respect of the entire shareholder’s votes
exercisable thereat. A shareholder or his/her proxy is not obliged to use all the votes exercisable by the shareholder or by
his/her/its proxy, but the total of the votes cast and in respect of which abstention is recorded, may not exceed the maximum
number of votes exercisable by the shareholder or by his/her proxy.
5.	The proxy shall (unless this sentence is struck out and countersigned) have the authority to vote, as he/she deems fit, on any
other resolution which may validly be proposed at the Annual General Meeting, including in respect of any proposed amendment
to the above ordinary and special resolutions. If the aforegoing sentence is struck out, the proxy shall be deemed to be instructed
to vote against any such proposed additional resolution and/or against any proposed amendment to an existing resolution as
formulated in the notice in which this proxy form is attached.
6.	To be effective, completed proxy forms must be lodged with the Company at its registered address or at the Company’s South
African transfer secretaries at the address stipulated below, not less than 24 hours before the time appointed for the holding of the
Annual General Meeting, in accordance with the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation. As the Annual General Meeting is to
be held at 09:00 on Tuesday, 30 April 2013, proxy forms must be lodged on or before 09:00 on Monday, 29 April 2013.
7.	The completion and lodging of this proxy form will not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the Annual General
Meeting and speaking and voting in person thereat instead of any proxy appointed in terms hereof.
8.	The Chairman of the Annual General Meeting may reject or accept any proxy form which is completed and/or received, other
than in compliance with these notes.
9.	Any alteration to this proxy form, other than a deletion of alternatives, must be initialled by the signatory.
10.	Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing this proxy form in a representative or other legal capacity
must be attached to this proxy form, unless previously recorded by the Company or the registrars or waived by the Chairman of
the Annual General Meeting.
11. Where there are joint holders of shares:
11.1 any one holder may sign this proxy form; and
11.2	the vote of the senior shareholder (for which purpose seniority will be determined by the order in which the names of the
shareholders appear in the Company’s register) who tenders a vote (whether in person or by proxy) will be accepted to the
exclusion of the vote(s) of the other joint shareholders.
12.	A minor must be assisted by his/her parent or legal guardian, unless the relevant documents establishing his/her legal capacity
are produced or have been registered by the transfer secretaries.
13.	Except where this note 13 is struck out, a proxy may not delegate his/her authority to act on behalf of the shareholder, to
another person.
Office of the South African transfer secretaries:
Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Limited
(Registration number 2004/003647/07)
Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001
PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107
Fax number: +27 11 688 7738

ABBREVIATIONS
AI

All Injury

AIDS

Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome

AIFR

All Injury Frequency Rate

BAP

Bio-diversity Action Plan

BARC

Board Audit and Risk Committee

BBBEE

Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment

CCMA

Council for Conciliation, Mediation

KING III

King Report on Corporate Governance
of South Africa 2009

Kt

Kilo tonnes

LED

Local Economic Development

LHD

Load Haul Dump

LME

London Metal Exchange

LOM

Life of Mine

and Arbitration

LTI

Lost Time Injury

Cu

Copper

LTIFR

Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate

DMR

Department of Mineral Resources

MHSA

Mine Health and Safety Act

DMS

Dense Medium Separation

MQA

Mining Qualification Authority

EBITDA

Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation

Mt

Million tonnes

MTC

Medical Treatment Cases

and Amortisation
ED

Enterprise Development

FAC

First Aid Case

Fe

Iron

Foundation

Palabora Foundation

HCT

HIV Counselling and Testing

HDSA

Historically Disadvantaged South Africans

HIRA

Hazard Identification and Risk Assessment

HSEQ

Health, Safety, Environmental and Quality

IAS

International Accounting Standards

IDC

Industrial Development Corporation

IFRS

International Financial Reporting Standards

IFRIC

International Financial Reporting
Interpretation Committee

IMBS

Iron Mineral Beneficiation Services

HIV

Human Immunodeficiency Virus

Municipality Ba-Phalaborwa Municipality
NUM

National Union of Mine Workers

PALABORA

Palabora Mining Company Limited

PROTEC

Programme for Technological Careers

PP&V

Palabora Phosphate and Vermiculite

Rm

Rand Million

RNC

Remuneration and Nomination Committee

ROM

Run of Mine

SENS

Securities Exchange News Service

SETC

Social, Ethics and Technical Committee

SO2

Sulphur Dioxide

SSAP

Site Safety Acceleration Process

VO

Vermiculite Operations

VOD

Vermiculite Operations Dump

VODT

Vermiculite Operations Dump Tailings

www.palabora.com

